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Unless the context otherwise requires, we use the terms “Etsy,” the “Company,” “we,” “us” and “our” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K , (“Annual Report”), to refer to Etsy, Inc. and, where appropriate, our
consolidated subsidiaries.
See “ Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Key Operating and Financial Metrics ” for the definitions of the following terms used in this Annual Report:
“active buyer,” “active seller,” “Adjusted EBITDA,” “GMS,” “international GMS,” “mobile visits” and “mobile GMS.”

NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the federal securities laws. Forward-looking statements include information related to our financial performance
and possible or assumed future results of operations and expenses, our outlook, our mission, business strategies and plans, business environment, market size, cost-savings initiatives, new management team
transition and plans, product capabilities, timing of new product releases, and potential future growth. Forward-looking statements include all statements that are not historical facts. In some cases, forwardlooking statements can be identified by terms such as “anticipates,” “believes,” “could,” “estimates,” “expects,” “intends,” “may,” “plans,” “potential,” “predicts,” “projects,” “seeks,” “should,” “will,” “would”
or similar expressions and the negatives of those terms.
Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of performance and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be
materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. Those risks include those described in the section titled “Risk Factors” and
elsewhere in this Annual Report. Given these risks and uncertainties, you should read this Annual Report in its entirety and not place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements in this Annual Report.
In addition, statements that “we believe” and similar statements reflect our beliefs and opinions on the relevant subject. These statements are based upon information available to us as of the date of this Annual
Report and, although we believe such information forms a reasonable basis for such statements, such information may be limited or incomplete, and our statements should not be read to indicate that we have
conducted an exhaustive inquiry into, or review of, all potentially available relevant information. These statements are inherently uncertain and investors are cautioned not to unduly rely upon these statements.
Moreover, we operate in a competitive and rapidly changing environment. New risks and uncertainties emerge from time to time and it is not possible for us to predict all risks and uncertainties that could have
an impact on the forward-looking statements made in this report. In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the future events and trends discussed in this report may not occur and actual results could
differ materially and adversely from those anticipated or implied in the forward-looking statements.
Forward-looking statements represent our beliefs and assumptions only as of the date of this Annual Report. We disclaim any obligation to update forward-looking statements.
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PART I.
Item 1. Business.

Overview
Etsy is the global marketplace for unique and creative goods. We connect creative entrepreneurs with thoughtful consumers looking for items made by real people. Our mission is to “Keep Commerce Human.”
Etsy was founded in June 2005 in Brooklyn, New York.
Our sellers are the heart and soul of Etsy, and our technology platform allows our sellers to turn their creative passions into economic opportunity. We have a seller-aligned business model: we make money
when our sellers make money. We offer a wide range of Seller Services and tools that are specifically designed to help creative entrepreneurs start, manage and scale their businesses.
Buyers tell us that they come to Etsy because Etsy sellers offer items that they can’t find anywhere else. Our goal is to encourage existing and potential buyers to visit the Etsy marketplace on “special”
purchase occasions throughout the year. These special purchase occasions include shopping that reflects an individual's unique style; gifting that demonstrates thought and care; and celebrations that express
creativity and fun. They happen throughout the year when a buyer is decorating a home, dressing for an event, celebrating a special moment or buying a gift for someone special.

As of December 31, 2017 , our marketplace connected 1.9 million active Etsy sellers to 33.4 million active Etsy buyers. Etsy buyers and sellers are located all over the world, and our six core geographic
markets are the United States, United Kingdom, Canada, Australia, France, and Germany. We will continue to invest in these markets, as this is where we have our strongest concentration of both buyers and
sellers, and continue to evaluate geographies in which to make strategic investments. There are currently more than 50 million items for sale across more than 50 retail categories on Etsy.com. In 2017 , our
marketplace generated $3.3 billion of Gross Merchandise Sales, (“GMS”), of which approximately 51% came from purchases made on mobile devices. In 2017 , the top six retail categories based on GMS
were: clothing and accessories, home and living, jewelry, craft supplies, art and collectibles, and paper and party supplies. We are a global company and 33% of our 2017 GMS was generated when the Etsy
seller or Etsy buyer, or both, were located outside of the United States.
Our revenue is diversified, generated from a mix of marketplace activities and the services and tools we provide to Etsy sellers to help them start, manage, and scale their businesses. Marketplace revenue is
comprised of the 3.5% transaction fee that an Etsy seller pays for each completed transaction and the $0.20 listing fee she pays for each item she lists (for up to four months) on Etsy.com. Seller Services
revenue is comprised of the fees our sellers pay Etsy for our four paid services: Etsy Payments (formerly called Direct Checkout), our payment processing service; Promoted Listings, our on-site advertising
service that allows sellers to pay for prominent placement of their listings in search results; Shipping Labels, which allows sellers in the United States and Canada to purchase discounted shipping labels; and
Pattern by Etsy, a service that allows sellers to build custom websites. We generate additional revenue through our commercial partnerships.
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Our Opportunity
We believe that the nature of commerce is continuing to evolve: more people are choosing to purchase goods online and many consumers are looking for unique items as an alternative to mass produced goods.
According to eMarketer, a market research company, worldwide retail ecommerce sales are expected to be $2.3 trillion in 2017, up from $1.9 trillion in 2016. Further, eMarketer estimates that worldwide retail
ecommerce will generate double-digit growth each year through 2021, and that worldwide retail ecommerce sales will reach $4.5 trillion by the end of 2021. (Source: eMarketer—Worldwide Retail Ecommerce
Sales: eMarketer's Estimates for 2016-2021.) Within this retail ecommerce market, we believe that the market opportunity for “special” purchase occasions is significant. Special purchase occasions occur
frequently throughout the year and span a wide variety of specific events and retail categories, including Etsy’s top six retail categories:

2017 Estimated Annual Spend in Top Etsy Retail Categories and Core Geographies

We estimate that the online market size in these six retail categories, within our six core geographic markets (United States, United Kingdom, Canada, Australia, France, and Germany), represents a $155 billion
dollar market opportunity and a $1.3 trillion market opportunity when offline is included.
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Our Platform
Etsy leverages technology to connect people around the world through commerce. Our platform includes our marketplace, our Seller Services and tools, our passionate and engaged sellers and buyers, and our
technology. Our commitment to transparency and integrity underpins our platform and establishes trust within our marketplace and our community.

Key Components of Our Platform

Our Marketplace
Our marketplace, Etsy.com, is where thoughtful buyers come to discover a broad selection of unique goods that are hard to find elsewhere. In a world of increasing automation and commoditization, Etsy
celebrates creativity and human interaction.
We believe our marketplace is characterized by several unique qualities, including:
•

Unique Products: Our marketplace boasts a large assortment of handmade, vintage, and craft supply products from all of the world. There are currently more than 50 million items listed across more than
50 retail categories. We intend to continue to invest in our search and discovery capabilities to help buyers efficiently find the unique items they are seeking and to create a more immersive and engaging
discovery experience on Etsy.com.

•

Global Reach: Etsy’s six core geographic markets are the United States, United Kingdom, Canada, Australia, France, and Germany, and there are people using our platform to buy and sell in nearly every
country in the world. Our platform makes it easy for Etsy buyers and Etsy sellers to interact across borders even if they do not speak the same language and wish to transact in different currencies. We use
innovative machine translation technology to translate listings, reviews, promoted listings, and conversations between Etsy buyers and Etsy sellers. Our payments platform makes it easy for Etsy sellers to
offer Etsy buyers a wide range of payment options. In 2017 , 35% of Etsy sellers were located outside the United States, and 33% of our GMS was generated between an Etsy seller, Etsy buyer, or both,
located outside of the United States.

•

Organic Traffic Base: We’ve built a loyal, global base of buyers on the platform without significant investment in acquisition marketing until 2013, eight years after being founded. Unlike many other
ecommerce companies, the vast majority of visits to Etsy.com came through organic channels. In fact, approximately, 88% of visits in 2017 were from organic sources, including a large portion from
buyers visiting Etsy.com directly as well as from non-paid channels such as search, social, email, and push notifications.

•

Connection Between Buyers and Sellers: We believe that human connection is central to buyer engagement. Etsy buyers and Etsy sellers use the Conversations tool on our platform to communicate directly
about their orders; to request custom goods or personalization of goods; or simply to have a conversation about the product. The ability to have items custom-made or personalized means that buyers can
find special items that they can’t find anywhere else. We also encourage engagement between Etsy buyers and Etsy sellers in a variety of other ways, such as through sharing reviews on social media or
connecting offline through the Etsy Local feature on our mobile app.

•

Connected Experience Across all Devices: We want to engage Etsy buyers wherever they are and to provide an enjoyable and accessible shopping experience no matter how they come to Etsy. Our
Etsy.com website and iOS and Android mobile apps include search and discovery, curation, personalization and social shopping features. We offer a connected experience through each channel, desktop,
mobile web, and mobile app, to help ensure that no matter what device our buyers use they will have the best possible experience. To optimize our mobile experience, we use deep linking to automatically
transition Etsy buyers from mobile web to the mobile app when they tap specific banners within our mobile web experience. Buyers can sign-up and sign-in to Etsy through Facebook and Google and our
payment options include credit cards, debit cards,
3
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PayPal, Google Wallet, Apple Pay and others. Our mobile apps have been downloaded approximately 50 million times as of December 31, 2017 .
•

Buyer Intent; People Come to Etsy to Browse and be Inspired: Our platform is designed to provide a personalized search experience to Etsy buyers, adjusting in real time based on transaction data and
previous browsing history. A large portion of our buyers come to Etsy not in search of a specific item, but to browse and be inspired. We are continuing to build more sophisticated algorithms that allow us
to deliver more personalized results to our buyers, utilizing browse and transaction data to surface items they didn't know they wanted. In 2017 , we launched a number of products to enhance search,
including context specific search ranking and guided search. All of this helps bring fun to the discovery and shopping experience. We believe we have several opportunities to further enhance our search
and discovery capabilities and plan to leverage our machine learning technology to deliver an even more personalized shopping experience.

Our Seller Services and Tools
Seller Services and tools help Etsy sellers start, manage, and scale their businesses. In addition to driving incremental revenue streams to Etsy, our Seller Services play a key role in reducing friction in sales
conversions and in driving velocity and growth in our marketplace, which supports healthy GMS growth.

Use of Seller Services in 2017

Our four paid Seller Services are: Etsy Payments, Promoted Listings, Shipping Labels and Pattern. We launched our first Seller Service in late 2011 and in 2017 Seller Services revenue grew 28.7% , and
represented 58.6% of our total revenue, up from 55.0% in 2016 . In 2017 , 54.3% of active sellers used at least one of our four paid Seller Services versus 51.7% in 2016 :
•

Etsy Payments (formerly called Direct Checkout). Etsy Payments enables sellers to accept various forms of payment such as credit cards, debit cards, PayPal, Google Wallet, Apple Pay and Etsy Gift
Cards. Once an Etsy buyer makes payment, the Etsy seller receives the funds in her own bank account and in her local currency. As of December 31, 2017 , Etsy Payments was available in 36 countries and
12 currencies. As of May 2017, nearly all sellers in countries where Etsy Payments is available were required to use the service. Pricing is calculated at 3-4% of total transaction value plus an additional flat
fee ranging from $0.20 - $0.51, charged in local currency. Etsy Payments is our largest Seller Services revenue stream and during 2017 , 49.9% of active sellers used Etsy Payments up from 45.5% in 2016
, and 85% of total GMS flowed through Etsy Payments in 2017, up from 78% in 2016 .

•

Promoted Listings. Promoted Listings enable Etsy sellers to pay a cost-per-click based fee to feature and promote their goods in our marketplace in search results generated by Etsy buyers. This service
allows Etsy sellers to target Etsy buyers who are specifically searching for goods similar to those she offers for sale. Promoted Listings is our second largest Seller Services revenue stream and during 2017
, 15.0% of active sellers used Promoted Listings down from 15.9% in 2016 . In 2017 , we enhanced Promoted Listings with new ad inventory on all devices (desktop, mobile app and mobile web). With
this additional inventory and enhanced algorithms we saw higher click-through rates, which led to accelerated year-over-year revenue growth for this service.

•

Shipping Labels. This service allows sellers in the United States and Canada to purchase discounted United States Postal Service, FedEx and Canada Post shipping labels through our platform. The ability
to print the shipping labels at home reduces the cost and time it takes Etsy sellers to ship items to Etsy buyers, reduces the chance for administrative error through features such as auto population of
shipping addresses, and automatically provides tracking information and shipping notifications to buyers. Shipping Labels is our third largest Seller Services revenue stream and during 2017 , 28.1% of
active sellers in the United States and Canada used Shipping Labels up from 26.3% in 2016 .
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•

Pattern. With Pattern, Etsy sellers can create their own custom websites with unique domain names within minutes. Pattern imports listings and content from Etsy shops, syncs inventory and orders, and
utilizes our Etsy Payments and Shipping Label services. In 2017 , we began allowing sellers to sell items or services on their Pattern website that don't follow the handmade and vintage guidelines within
our Etsy.com marketplace. Sellers may use Pattern for free for the first 30 days, then they are charged $15/month, plus transaction and payment processing fees, and Shipping Label fees, if they choose to
use this service. Pattern is our smallest Seller Services revenue stream and, during 2017 , 2.5% of active sellers used Pattern, consistent with 2016 .

We believe we can grow Seller Services revenue three ways: expand the utility of existing Seller Services, expand the geographic reach of existing Seller Services, and launch new Seller Services offerings. In
addition to our paid Seller Services, we provide a wide range of tools and educational resources to give Etsy sellers the support they need to manage the administrative side of their businesses. According to our
bi-annual seller survey, most recently conducted in 2016, for every hour that an Etsy seller spends making her products, she spends almost another hour doing business-related tasks, including inventory
management, marketing, shipping, customer service and accounting. Our tools and educational resources help manage these administrative burdens.
•

Seller Tools. We offer a variety of free tools to Etsy sellers, including marketing tools such as our Google Shopping tool, sales and promotions tool, and social media tool, which help sellers with their
marketing needs and allow them to stand out on and off the Etsy platform. Through a partnership with Intuit, sellers in the United States and the United Kingdom can simplify their accounting and
bookkeeping. Our Shop Manager dashboard, which we launched in 2017, serves as a centralized hub for Etsy sellers to track orders, manage inventory, view metrics and statistics and have conversations
with their customers across all of their Etsy shops.

•

Education. We provide extensive educational resources to teach Etsy sellers how to start, manage and scale their businesses on our platform, including blog posts, video tutorials, the Etsy Seller Handbook
(available on Etsy.com), Etsy.com online forums and insights from Etsy.com support teams. In addition to our resources, Etsy sellers connect through self-organized Etsy Teams to build personal
relationships with other Etsy sellers, collaborate, educate and support each other as they build their independent creative businesses. Currently, over 15,000 Etsy Teams have formed around the world.

Etsy’s focus on supporting our sellers in starting, managing and scaling their businesses strengthens our marketplace and positions it for continued growth. When our sellers succeed, Etsy succeeds.

How an Etsy Seller Spends Her Time

2016 seller survey
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Our Passionate and Engaged Sellers and Buyers
Etsy Sellers
We serve creative entrepreneurs around the world who choose to pursue their passions, offering them a global base of millions of buyers and a cohesive suite of services and tools. Etsy sellers range from
hobbyists to professional merchants, and have a broad range of personal and professional goals. Our 2016 seller survey found that 60% of Etsy sellers are multi-channel sellers and on average Etsy is their
primary source of sales.
According to the 2016 seller survey:
•

87% identify as women;

•

73% consider their Etsy shop to be a business;

•

97% run their shops from their homes;

•

81% aspire to grow their sales in the future; and

•

62% started their Etsy shop as a way to supplement income.

In addition to our 2016 seller survey, we conducted a separate survey of our top decile sellers in 2017. Key findings included that 95% of our top decile sellers intended to remain with Etsy for the next 12
months.
According to a McKinsey Global Institute study, 20-30% of the working-age population, or up to 162 million people, currently engage in independent work in the U.S. and E.U.-15. The study notes that if all
individuals pursued their preferred working style, the number of independent workers could grow to up to 268 million. (Source: McKinsey Global Institute - Independent work: Choice, Necessity, and the Gig
Economy). We believe that our base of Etsy sellers reflects these changing dynamics. Our 2016 seller survey found that 33% of Etsy sellers were pursuing their creative business as their sole occupation, up
from 30% in our 2014 seller survey.

Etsy Sellers
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Etsy Buyers
In a 2016 survey of Etsy.com buyers, 91% of buyers agreed that Etsy offers products they cannot find anywhere else. Etsy buyers can enjoy a personalized shopping experience and build relationships through
direct interactions with Etsy sellers. Etsy buyers can also purchase customized items and craft supplies from Etsy sellers. By shopping on Etsy.com, Etsy buyers are supporting creative entrepreneurs in their
local communities and around the world.
•

Repeat purchases demonstrate the loyalty of Etsy buyers. In 2017 , approximately 39.6% of our active buyers made purchases on two or more days in the previous 12 months.

Active Buyers by Purchase Type

Unlike many other ecommerce companies, the vast majority of visits come to Etsy from organic channels. In 2017 , 88% of visits came to Etsy.com from an organic source, including a large portion from
buyers visiting Etsy.com directly as well as from non-paid channels such as search, social, email, and push notifications. A visit represents activity from a unique browser or mobile app. A visit ends after 30
minutes of inactivity.

Visits Contribution by Source Type
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Etsy Seller & Buyer Retention
Our active sellers and active buyers remain so for multiple years. For example, 31.8% of active sellers and 38.7% of active buyers as of December 31, 2014 continued to be active sellers and active buyers
through their fourth year on the platform and 31.5% of active sellers and 41.1% of active buyers as of December 31, 2013 continued to be active sellers and active buyers through their fourth year on the
platform. In addition, as of December 31, 2017 , 17.7% of active sellers have been selling on Etsy for more than four years. Likewise, as of December 31, 2017 , 21.8% of active buyers have been Etsy buyers
for more than four years.

Cohorts of 2014, 2013, 2012 and 2011 Active Sellers and Active Buyers

See “ Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Key Factors Affecting Our Performance — Growth and Retention of Active Sellers and Active Buyers ” for
more information.
Our Technology
The Etsy marketplace enables the millions of Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers to smoothly transact across borders, languages and devices. We believe our experienced engineering team is at the forefront of the
software engineering practice of continuous deployment. We update the code that runs the Etsy website as often as every 20 minutes, and as many as 70 times per day. To enhance the performance of our
platform, we collect and analyze a large volume of data. For example, we currently capture more than one billion user-generated events every day to produce personalized recommendations, improve our search
experience and test features on our site.
In 2017 , we increased the velocity of experiments focused on Etsy.com, and the rate at which we are going from idea, to experiment, to test, to launch has significantly increased compared with prior years.
Our machine learning and machine translation technologies play an important role in making it easy for Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers to connect across our platform even if they don’t speak the same language.
We translate listings within our marketplace into 10 languages, significantly increasing the inventory available to non-English speaking Etsy buyers and giving Etsy sellers access to a truly global audience. We
also translate conversations and reviews and are applying machine translation to translate Promoted Listings. We are also leveraging our machine learning technology to advance our search capabilities and
enable shoppers to more easily browse, filter for and buy that perfect item.
8
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In December 2017, we announced our Google Cloud partnership, an initiative that will transition our marketplace and infrastructure to the Google Cloud Platform, enabling our technology team to focus on
strategic initiatives, enhance site performance, and improve engineering efficiency. Google's infrastructure will also enable us to better prioritize technologies like machine learning to personalize the user
experience on Etsy. We expect the transition to Google Cloud Platform to be complete within the next two years.
We strive to offer our sellers and buyers an engaging experience, regardless of the device they choose to use to engage with us. Our mobile website and our “Buy on Etsy” mobile app for Etsy buyers, which we
developed to keep Etsy buyers engaged wherever they are, include search, discovery, curation, personalization and social shopping features, optimized for the mobile experience. Additionally, our “Sell on
Etsy” mobile app helps the Etsy seller operate her shop and manage orders.
For the year ended December 31, 2017 approximately 66% of our visits and approximately 51% of our GMS were generated on a mobile device. This is up compared with 2016 , during which 64% of our visits
and 48% of our GMS were generated on a mobile device. We are focused on increasing conversion rates in general; however, we are particularly focused on mobile web, which accounted for 46% of our
overall visits in 2017 up from 45% in 2016 , and continued to be the largest driver of both overall visits growth and mobile GMS growth. Mobile web conversion rate is about half the conversion rate on
desktop and the conversion rate on mobile Buy on Etsy app is about 1.2x the desktop conversion rate. Therefore, if mobile web visits continue to grow as a percentage of overall visits, it could be a headwind to
future conversion rate gains.
Commitment to Integrity and Transparency
Members of our community rely on us to maintain a trusted marketplace. Our policies are designed to encourage transparency and clearly outline the rights and responsibilities of Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers
participating on our platform. Most fundamentally, we require that goods listed in our marketplace be handmade, vintage or craft supplies. In 2017, we updated and clarified our policies on Etsy.com to, among
other things, make it easier for Etsy sellers and buyers to understand how we define handmade.
Transparency within our community helps to support our trustworthiness. For example, we publish an annual report that details progress toward our ideals and shares our hopes for the years to come. We also
annually report statistics regarding shops that do not meet our guidelines or which list items that are alleged to infringe third party rights. In 2017, we closed 4,494 Etsy.com shops that were subject to repeat
notices of intellectual property infringement and closed 316,801 Etsy.com accounts for non-IP policy violations.
We strive to give the Etsy buyer comfort that she is purchasing goods from a shop that adheres to certain principles. Etsy buyers have a high degree of insight into Etsy sellers’ business practices. Our policies
ask Etsy sellers to be transparent about themselves, their businesses and the goods they sell. We also have dedicated teams and sophisticated tools to help enforce our policies. For example, our Integrity team
uses a combination of machine learning, automated systems and community-generated flags to review items and shops that may violate our policies. Our Trust and Safety team helps to prevent and detect fraud
through human review and automated tools and algorithms. We also recognize that sometimes transactions don’t go as planned. When that happens, our online Case System provides a way for Etsy sellers and
Etsy buyers to communicate with each other to resolve disputes. In 2017, 0.3% of orders resulted in a case.
We also establish trust by emphasizing the person behind every transaction. We deepen connections between Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers through our direct communication tools, seller stories on our website
and apps and in-person events, highlighting personal relationships as a key part of the Etsy experience. For example, Etsy sellers are encouraged to share their stories to reach Etsy buyers on our platform and
on social media. The trustworthiness of our marketplace and the connections among people in our community are cornerstones of our business.
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Our Strategy
Our strategy is focused on growing our Etsy.com marketplace in our six core geographies and owning special purchase occasions – style, gifting and celebrations – throughout the year. We believe that buyers
shop for special occasions many times throughout the year, so our goal is to have them think of Etsy more often and return to our marketplace more frequently. We aim to empower our passionate community
of 1.9 million sellers to compete and win against mass retailers for special shopping occasions.
In May 2017, we appointed Josh Silverman as our Chief Executive Officer and Rachel Glaser as our Chief Financial Officer, and in July 2017, we appointed Mike Fisher as our Chief Technology Officer.
Since joining us, our new management team has sought to sharpen our focus on key initiatives and realign our internal resources to pursue the highest growth opportunities in order to deliver value to our
stakeholders. As part of this realignment, we identified and began implementing the following four key initiatives to help us execute on our new strategy:
•

Improving trust and reliability: Since our sellers have relatively unknown brands and unbranded items, we aim to ensure that the Etsy brand is recognized and valued for its trust and reliability throughout
the buying experience. Our goal is to bolster trust in the Etsy brand, Etsy sellers, the items available in our marketplace and in the overall Etsy experience. In 2017 , we improved buyer confidence with the
launch of several new products including a Best Seller badge, a structured return policy for sellers, and Multishop Checkout, among others.

•

Enhancing search and discovery: With over 50 million items listed on Etsy.com that don’t map to a catalog or a stock keeping unit (“SKU”), our challenge is delivering world-class search and discovery
technology that surfaces the right product to the right buyer at the right time in order to drive conversion and buyer satisfaction. By utilizing artificial intelligence and machine learning we can help buyers
more easily browse, filter and find the item they desire. Throughout 2017 , we continued to make more enhancements to improve the search and discovery experience in our marketplace. We launched
Context Specific Search Ranking (“CSR”), which leverages transactional and user data to create a more personalized search experience and Guided Search which helps buyers narrow search results through
suggested search reformulations. Also, we launched scarcity badges to alert buyers when items are only available in limited quantities. Scarcity badges reinforce the specialness of our marketplace, and we
believe there is significant room for continued optimization with these kinds of buyer nudges.

•

Building world-class marketing capabilities: We need outstanding marketing capabilities to amplify the voice and relevance of our sellers, and to get buyers to come back to Etsy.com more often. We
believe we can do a better job of integrating our performance marketing efforts with the efforts of our sellers to potentially unlock additional marketing synergies. In 2017 , approximately 88% of our visits
came to us through organic channels such as direct, search engine optimization, email, and push notifications, and we see an opportunity to optimize these free traffic sources. For example, we have been in
the process of migrating our e-mail system to a new customer relationship management (“CRM”), system to allow us to send more personalized and targeted emails to buyers. We believe these efforts will
allow Etsy to stay top of mind with buyers and encourage them to come back more frequently. Additionally, we continue to invest in marketing to drive higher return-on-investment (“ROI”) from our paid
marketing efforts. Our largest paid marketing channel is digital acquisition marketing in which we invest primarily in Google product listing ads and search engine marketing.

•

Providing best-in-class Seller Services and tools : Finally, we seek to provide sellers with best-in-class paid Seller Services and free tools. These resources address the numerous administrative tasks that
our sellers face while running their businesses and provide educational materials to help them capitalize on growth and efficiency opportunities. Throughout 2017 , we introduced several new tools to help
sellers run sales and promotions, offer free shipping, share their items on social media and assess the health and potential of their businesses. Leveraging our new sales and promotion tool, which allows
sellers to create sales and run promotions for items in their shop, we held our first-ever site-wide sales over Labor Day and Cyber Monday, which gave buyers a reason to think of Etsy during additional
shopping occasions.
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Our Mission, Values, and Impact Strategy
Mission
Etsy’s mission to “Keep Commerce Human” is rooted in our belief that, although automation and commoditization are parts of modern life, human creativity cannot be automated and human connection cannot
be commoditized. This is what makes Etsy and our marketplace distinct from mass retailers. Our mission guides our daily decisions, sets the path for our long-term success and reinforces our commitments to a
positive social, economic and environmental impact.
Values
Etsy's values help ensure that our actions align with our mission and define our expectations, behaviors and accountability towards one another, our community and our stakeholders. We are conducting a
review process to ensure that our values continue to meet these ideals. Our current values are:
We are a mindful, transparent and humane business. We believe that business interests and social and environmental responsibility are interwoven and aligned and that the power of business should be used to
strengthen communities and empower people. To demonstrate our commitment, we monitor our efforts to minimize the harm and maximize the benefit that we have on people and the planet and then publish an
annual Progress Report to publicly report our results.
We plan and build for the long term. We want to build a company that lasts, and we plan to measure our success in years and decades. Etsy sellers in particular depend on us and on our platform to grow their
businesses, so we will strive to make decisions that are best for the long-term health of our ecosystem. Our ecosystem consists of Etsy and the people and communities around the world who benefit from our
platform.
We value craftsmanship in all we make. Craftsmanship is the marriage of skill and passion. We are an engineering-driven company, and we think of our code as craft: we are makers of the products and services
that members of our community use, and we approach the work we do with the same care and inspiration as do Etsy sellers.
We believe fun should be part of everything we do. Our mission includes fostering a world in which personal fulfillment and purpose is a key element of success. We believe that this way of working is
connected and joyful.
We keep it real, always. We have the courage and the will to do business in ways that are unconventional and impactful. When we believe that we are not being true to our values or our mission, we are not
afraid to change course.
Impact Strategy
Etsy’s impact strategy focuses on leveraging Etsy’s core business to generate value for our community and stakeholders through positive economic, social and environmental efforts.We believe that aligning
our impact strategy with our core business will lead to positive outcomes. We aim to create more economic opportunity for sellers, greater diversity in our workforce and build long-term resilience by reducing
our carbon footprint. We believe that consumers are demanding more of the businesses they support and that the companies best positioned to succeed will build win-win solutions that are good for people, the
planet and profit.The alignment of our mission, values, and impact strategy alongside our business strategy is critical to growing sustainably and positioning us for continued success.
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For 2018, we have set key performance indicators (“KPIs”) in order to measure our impact progress.

Our Team
We pride ourselves on our action-oriented, values-based and purpose-driven work culture. Etsy’s employees work hard to bring innovative ideas and energy every day to strengthen the experience for sellers
and buyers on Etsy.com. As of December 31, 2017 , we had 744 employees worldwide, with 452 employees located in our headquarters in Brooklyn, New York. Of those employees, we had 237 in
engineering, 97 in product, 161 in member operations, 102 in marketing and 147 in facilities, IT and other corporate teams.
We focus on maximizing our employees’ engagement, and their professional and personal well-being.
We believe employee engagement comes from fulfilling work focused on serving the needs of our sellers and buyers and from ample personal and professional growth opportunities. We invest heavily in
employee development by offering coaching, skills workshops and training. We also offer our employees paid time off to volunteer so that they can support the causes and organizations they are passionate
about. In 2016, we introduced a 26-week gender-blind parental leave policy that is available to all Etsy employees globally. Through this policy we aim to support and enable parents to play equal roles in
building successful companies and nurturing their families.
Etsy engineering is widely known for its thought-leading approaches to software development as well as its unique engineering culture. Our engineering team coined the phrase “Code as Craft” to describe our
love for building software and our melding of engineering discipline and individual craftsmanship. We believe our engineers have the skills, practices and experience needed to embrace the change the future
inevitably brings.
We believe that a diverse workforce makes us a better company, and we strive to create opportunities for underrepresented groups to join, thrive and advance at Etsy. As part of our impact strategy, we have
implemented new recruiting guidelines that are intended improve diversity at all levels of our company. As of December 31, 2017 , 55% of employees identified as women. As of December 31, 2017 , 60% of
managers and 38% of product, engineering and technical operations employees identified as women. We are committed to improving the diversity within our workforce, and we publish an annual report that
details our progress toward this goal.
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Competition
We compete for Etsy sellers with both retailers and companies that sell software to small businesses. An Etsy seller can list her goods for sale with online retailers or sell her goods through local consignment
and vintage stores and other venues and marketplaces, including through commerce channels on social networks like Facebook and Instagram. She may also sell wholesale directly to traditional retailers,
including large national retailers, who discover her goods in our marketplace or otherwise. We also compete with companies that sell software and services to small businesses, enabling an Etsy seller to sell
from her own website or otherwise run her business independently of our platform. We are able to compete for Etsy sellers based on our brand awareness, the global scale of our marketplace and the breadth of
our online presence, the number and engagement of Etsy buyers, our Seller Services, our seller education resources and tools, our policies and fees, our mobile apps, the strength of our community and our
values.
We also compete with retailers for the attention of the Etsy buyer. An Etsy buyer has the choice of shopping with any online or offline retailer, whether large marketplaces or national retail chains or local
consignment and vintage stores or other venues or marketplaces. We are able to compete for Etsy buyers based on the unique goods that Etsy sellers list in our marketplace, our brand awareness, the person-toperson commerce experience, our reputation as a trusted marketplace, our mobile apps, ease of payment and the availability and reliability of our platform.

Intellectual Property
Protection of our technology and intellectual property is an important component of our success. We rely on intellectual property laws, primarily including trade secret, copyright and trademark laws and to a
lesser extent patent laws, in the United States and abroad, and we use confidentiality procedures, defensive licensing, non-disclosure agreements, invention assignment agreements and other contractual rights to
protect Etsy and our intellectual property.
While we have obtained or applied for patent protection for some of our intellectual property, we generally do not rely on patents as a principal means of protecting intellectual property. We file patents and
register domain names, trademarks, copyrights and service marks in the United States and abroad. We also rely upon unregistered copyrights and common law protection for certain trademarks.

Government Regulation
As with any company operating on the internet, we are subject to a growing number of local, national and international laws and regulations. These laws are often complex, sometimes contradict other laws, and
are frequently changing. Laws may be interpreted and enforced in different ways in various locations around the world, posing a significant challenge to our global business. For example, U.S. federal and state
laws, E.U. directives and other national laws govern the processing of payments, consumer protection and the privacy of consumer information; other laws define and regulate unfair and deceptive trade
practices. Still other laws dictate when and how sales or other taxes must be collected. Laws of defamation apply online and vary by country. The growing regulation of e-commerce worldwide could impose
additional compliance burdens and costs on us or on Etsy sellers and could subject us to significant liability for any failure to comply. Additionally, because we operate internationally, we need to comply with
various laws associated with doing business outside of the United States, including anti-money laundering, sanctions, anti-corruption and export control laws.
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Available Information
We are subject to the informational requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, (“the Exchange Act”), and file or furnish reports, proxy statements and other information with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, (the “SEC”). Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to these reports are available free of
charge on our website at investors.etsy.com as soon as reasonably practicable after we have filed or furnished them to the SEC. The information on our website is not incorporated into this Annual Report and
investors should not rely on such information in deciding whether to invest in our common stock. Copies of our SEC reports and other documents are also available, without charge, by sending a letter to
Investor Relations, Etsy, Inc., 117 Adams Street, Brooklyn, NY 11201, by sending an email to ir@etsy.com or by calling (347) 382-7582.
Additionally, our SEC reports may be read and copied at the SEC Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC 20549. Information on the operation of the Public Reference Room may be
obtained by calling (800) SEC-0330. Our SEC reports are also available on the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov free of charge as soon as reasonably practicable after we have filed or furnished them to the SEC.
For a summary of our financial information by geographic location, see “ Note 14—Segment and Geographic Information ” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. For information regarding our
product development expenditures in the last three fiscal years, see “ Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Results of Operations .” For information
regarding classes of products or services that accounted for 10% or more of consolidated revenue in the last three fiscal years, see “ Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations — Results of Operations .”
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Item 1A. Risk Factors .
Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should consider carefully the risks and uncertainties described below, our consolidated financial statements and related notes, and the other
information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. If any of these risks actually occur, our business, financial performance and growth could be adversely affected. As a result, the price of our common stock
could decline and you could lose part or all of your investment.
Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
We have a history of losses and we may not achieve or maintain profitability in the future.
We generated net income of $81.8 million and incurred net losses of $29.9 million and $54.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2017 , 2016 and 2015 , respectively. As of December 31, 2017 , we had
an accumulated deficit of $96.3 million . A significant portion of our net income in the year ended December 31, 2017 was due to an income tax benefit from the impact of the U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of
2017 and a foreign currency gain on our intercompany debt. We may not have the benefit of such gains and may not be profitable in future periods. In addition, our costs may increase as we continue to invest
in the development of our platform, including our Seller Services and tools and technological enhancements, and potentially increase our marketing efforts, expand our operations and hire additional employees.
These efforts may be more costly than we expect and our revenue may not increase sufficiently to offset these additional expenses. In addition, our revenue may decline for a number of reasons, including those
described elsewhere in these Risk Factors.
Further, our revenue growth rate may continue to decelerate in the future for a number of reasons, including the deceleration of our GMS growth rate. For further information about the rate of revenue and GMS
growth, see “ Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Results of Operations — Revenue .” You should not rely on growth rates of prior quarterly or annual
periods as an indication of our future performance.
Our quarterly operating results may fluctuate, which could cause our stock price to decline.
Our quarterly operating results, as well as our key metrics, may fluctuate for a variety of reasons, many of which are beyond our control, including:
•

fluctuations in revenue generated from Etsy sellers on our platform, including as a result of the seasonality of market transactions, and Etsy sellers’ use of Seller Services;

•

our ability to convert visits to Etsy.com into sales for our sellers;

•

the amount and timing of our operating expenses;

•

our success in attracting and retaining Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers;

•

our success in executing on our strategy and the impact of any changes in our strategy;

•

the timing and success of product launches, including new services and features we may introduce;

•

the success of our marketing efforts;

•

economic and market conditions, such as currency fluctuations and global events;

•

disruptions or defects in our marketplace, such as privacy or data security breaches or other incidents that impact the reliability of our platform;

•

the impact of competitive developments and our response to those developments;

•

our ability to manage our existing business and future growth;

•

our ability to recruit and retain employees;
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•

the impact and success of the actions that we implemented during the second quarter of 2017 to increase efficiency, streamline our cost structure and improve our focus on key strategic growth
opportunities; and

•

the impact of our revised global corporate structure that was implemented on January 1, 2015.

Fluctuations in our quarterly operating results and key metrics may cause those results to fall below our financial guidance or other projections, or the expectations of analysts or investors, which could cause
the price of our common stock to decline. Fluctuations in our results could also cause a number of other problems. For example, analysts or investors might change their models for valuing our common stock,
we could experience short-term liquidity issues, our ability to retain or attract key personnel may diminish and other unanticipated issues may arise.
In addition, we believe that our quarterly operating results and key metrics may vary in the future and that period-to-period comparisons of our operating results may not be meaningful. For example, our overall
historical growth rate may have overshadowed the effect of seasonal variations on our historical operating results. These seasonal effects may become more pronounced over time, which could also cause our
operating results and key metrics to fluctuate. You should not rely on the results of one quarter as an indication of future performance.
If we are unable to successfully execute on our business strategy or if our strategy proves to be ineffective, our business, financial performance and growth could be adversely affected.
In 2017, we introduced a new business strategy. Our ability to execute our strategy is dependent on a number of factors, including our ability to maintain the increased pace of product experiments coupled with
the success of such initiatives and introduce offerings that meet the changing needs of our sellers and buyers, and the ability of our employees to perform at a high-level. In addition, the headcount reductions
and the voluntary attrition we experienced in 2017 may make it more difficult for us to effectively implement our strategy. If we are unable to execute our strategy, if our strategy does not drive the growth that
we anticipate, or if our market opportunity is not as large as we have estimated, it could adversely affect our business, financial performance and growth.
Our business, financial performance and growth depends on our ability to attract and retain an active and engaged community of Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers.
Our financial performance has been and will continue to be significantly determined by our success in attracting and retaining active sellers and active buyers. For example, our revenue is driven by the number
of active sellers and seller engagement, as well as the number of active buyers and buyer engagement. We must continue to encourage Etsy sellers to list items for sale and use our Seller Services. We must also
encourage buyers to return to Etsy and purchase items in our marketplace more frequently.
We believe that many new Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers find Etsy.com by word of mouth and other non-paid referrals from existing Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers. If existing Etsy sellers are dissatisfied with their
experience on our platform, they may stop listing items in our marketplace and using our Seller Services and may stop referring others to us. Likewise, if existing Etsy buyers do not find our platform appealing,
whether because of a negative experience, lack of buyer-friendly features, declining interest in the nature of the goods offered by Etsy sellers or other factors, they may make fewer purchases and they may stop
referring others to us. Under any of these circumstances, we may have difficulty attracting new Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers without incurring additional marketing expense.
Even if we are able to attract new Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers to replace the ones that we lose, they may not maintain the same level of activity, and the revenue generated from new Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers
may not be as high as the revenue generated from the ones who leave our marketplace. If we are unable to retain existing Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers and attract new Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers who contribute
to an active community, our business, financial performance and growth would be harmed.
Additionally, the demand for the goods listed in our marketplace is dependent on consumer preferences which can change quickly and may differ across generations and cultures. If demand for the goods that
Etsy sellers offer declines, we may not be able to attract and retain Etsy buyers and our business would be harmed. Trends in socially-conscious consumerism and buying unique rather than mass produced
goods could also shift or slow which would make it more difficult to attract new Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers. Our growth would also be harmed if the shift to ecommerce does not continue.
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Our ability to recruit and retain employees is important to our success.
Our ability to attract, retain and motivate employees, including our management team, is important to our success. We strive to attract, retain and motivate employees, from our office administrators to our
management team, who share our dedication to our community and our mission to “Keep Commerce Human.” We cannot guarantee we will continue to attract and retain the employees we need to maintain our
competitive position.
Some of the challenges we face in attracting and retaining employees include:
•

negative perceptions based on recent headcount reductions or changes in senior management;

•

perceived uncertainties as to our commitment to our mission, values and culture;

•

negative perceptions based on our history of decelerating GMS growth and ability to accelerate in the future;

•

engagement levels among existing employees and their work-life balance;

•

the ability to attract and retain qualified employees who support our mission and share our values;

•

promoting existing employees into leadership positions to help sustain and grow our culture;

•

hiring employees in multiple locations globally; and

•

responding to competitive pressures and changing business conditions in ways that do not divert us from our values.

In general, our employees, including our management team, work for us on an at-will basis. The unexpected loss of or failure to retain one or more of our key employees, such as our Chief Executive Officer,
Chief Financial Officer or Chief Technology Officer, or unsuccessful succession planning in the future, could adversely affect our business. Other companies, including our competitors, may be successful in
recruiting and hiring our employees, and it may be difficult for us to find suitable replacements on a timely basis or on competitive terms.
In the second quarter of 2017, we experienced a number of changes to our senior management team and effected headcount reductions globally. These changes may have impacted employee morale and led,
and may continue to lead, to higher rates of voluntary attrition compared to prior years. If we are unable to retain and attract qualified employees, particularly in critical areas of operations such as engineering,
we may not achieve our strategic goals and our business and operations could be harmed.
Filling engineering, product management and other technical positions in the New York City area is particularly challenging. Qualified individuals are limited and in high demand, and we may incur significant
costs to attract, develop and motivate them. Even if we were to offer higher compensation and other benefits, people with suitable technical skills may choose not to join us or to continue to work for us. In
addition, job candidates and existing employees often consider the value of the stock awards they receive in connection with their employment. If the perceived value of our stock awards declines, it may
adversely affect our ability to recruit and retain highly skilled employees.
The trustworthiness of our marketplace and the connections within our community are important to our success. If we are unable to maintain them, our ability to attract and retain Etsy sellers and
Etsy buyers could suffer.
We have built a trusted marketplace that embodies our values-based culture and continue to focus on ensuring that we deliver trust and reliability throughout the buyer experience on Etsy.com. Our reputation
depends upon our Etsy sellers, their unique offerings and their adherence to our policies.
The trustworthiness of our marketplace and the connections among the members of our community are the cornerstones of our business. Many things could undermine these cornerstones, such as:
•

complaints or negative publicity about us, our platform or our policies and guidelines, even if factually incorrect or based on isolated incidents;
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•

an inability to gain the trust of prospective buyers;

•

disruptions or defects in our marketplace, such as the increased pace of product experimentation, privacy or data security breaches, site outages, payment disruptions or other incidents that impact the
reliability of our platform;

•

lack of awareness of our policies;

•

changes to our policies that members of our community perceive as inconsistent with our values or that are not clearly articulated;

•

a failure to enforce our policies effectively, fairly and transparently, including, for example, by allowing the widespread listing of prohibited items in our marketplace;

•

a failure to respond to feedback from our community; or

•

a failure to operate our business in a way that is consistent with our values and mission.

If we are unable to maintain a trustworthy marketplace and encourage connections among members of our community, then our ability to attract and retain Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers could be impaired and
our reputation and business could be adversely affected.
If we are not able to keep pace with technological changes and enhance our current offerings and develop new offerings to respond to the changing needs of Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers, our
business, financial performance and growth may be harmed.
Our industry is characterized by rapidly changing technology, new service and product introductions and changing customer demands and we are not able to predict the effect of these changes on our business.
The technologies that we currently use to support our platform may become inadequate or obsolete and the cost of incorporating new technologies into our products and services may be substantial. We strive to
respond to evolving customer needs and regularly launch new products, features and services and, since May 2017, have significantly increased the pace of product experiments. Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers,
however, may not be satisfied with our enhancements or new offerings or may perceive that these offerings do not respond to their needs. Additionally, as we experiment with new offerings or changes to our
platform, Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers may find these changes to be disruptive and may perceive them negatively. In addition, developing new services and features is complex, and the timetable for public
launch is difficult to predict and may vary from our historical experience. As a result, the introduction of new offerings may occur after anticipated release dates or they may be introduced as pilot programs,
which may not be continued for various reasons. In addition, new offerings may not be successful due to defects or errors, negative publicity or our failure to market them effectively.
New offerings may not drive increases in revenue, may require substantial investment and planning and may bring us more directly into competition with companies that are better established or have greater
resources than we do.
If we do not continue to cost-effectively develop new offerings that satisfy Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers, then our competitive position and growth prospects may be harmed. In addition, new offerings may have
lower margins than existing offerings and our revenue from the new offerings may not be enough to offset the cost of developing them, which could adversely affect our business, financial performance and
growth.
Our marketing efforts to help grow our business may not be effective.
Maintaining and promoting awareness of our marketplace and Seller Services and tools is important to our ability to attract and retain Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers. One of our key initiatives is to build worldclass marketing capabilities to amplify the voice and relevance of our sellers, and to get buyers to purchase more often. Generating a meaningful return on our investments in marketing initiatives may be
difficult.
The marketing efforts we implement may not succeed for a variety of reasons, including our inability to execute and implement our plans. External factors beyond our control may also impact the success of our
marketing initiatives. Our marketing efforts currently include search engine optimization, search engine marketing, affiliate marketing and display advertising, as well as, social media, mobile push notifications
and email. We obtain a significant number of visits via search engines such as Google, Bing and Yahoo!. Search engines frequently change the algorithms that determine the ranking and display of results of a
user’s
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search and may make other changes to the way results are displayed, which can negatively affect the placement of links to our marketplace and, therefore, reduce the number of visits to our marketplace. The
growing use of online ad-blocking software, including on mobile devices, may also impact the success of our marketing efforts because we may reach a smaller audience and fail to bring more Etsy buyers to
our platform. In addition, ongoing privacy regulatory changes may impact the scope and effectiveness of marketing and advertising services generally, including those used on our platform.
We also obtain a significant number of visits through email. If we are unable to successfully deliver emails to Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers, or if Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers do not open our emails, whether by
choice, because those emails are marked as low priority or spam, or for other reasons, our business could be adversely affected. We are in the midst of a migration to a new customer relationship management,
(“CRM”), system that we believe will enable more personalized, dynamic and timely email communications and push notifications. If the CRM migration fails to achieve the expected results our business could
be adversely affected. Social networking websites, such as Facebook and Pinterest, are another important source of visits to our marketplace. As ecommerce and social networking evolve, we must continue to
evolve our marketing tactics accordingly and, if we are unable to do so, our business could be adversely affected.
We have experienced a number of changes to our senior management team. If we are unable to effectively transition and integrate our new executive officers and implement our business strategy,
our business and financial performance could be adversely impacted.
Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer joined Etsy in May 2017 and, in July 2017, we hired a new Chief Technology Officer. In light of these and other changes, several members of our
senior management team are relatively new to Etsy. The execution of our business strategy and our financial performance will depend in significant part on our senior management team and key team leaders. If
there is any failure or delay in transitioning or integrating our new management team, if they are unable to execute our business strategy and four key initiatives, or if our business strategy and four key
initiatives prove to be ineffective, then our business and financial performance could be adversely impacted.
If the mobile solutions available to Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers are not effective, the use of our marketplace could decline.
Purchases made on mobile devices by consumers, including Etsy buyers, have increased significantly in recent years. The smaller screen size and reduced functionality associated with some mobile devices
may make the use of our platform more difficult or less appealing. Etsy sellers are also increasingly using mobile devices to operate their businesses on our platform. If we are not able to deliver a rewarding
experience on mobile devices, Etsy sellers’ ability to manage and scale their businesses may be harmed and, consequently, our business may suffer. Further, although we strive to provide engaging mobile
experiences for both Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers who visit our mobile website using a browser on their mobile device, we depend on Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers using our mobile apps for the optimal mobile
experience. Visits to our marketplace through a mobile website may not convert into purchases as often as visits made through our mobile app or through desktop, which could result in less revenue for us.
Additionally, conversion rates may slow or stall, which could also have a negative impact on GMS and revenue.
As new mobile devices and mobile platforms are released, we may encounter problems in developing or supporting apps for them. In addition, supporting new devices and mobile device operating systems may
require substantial time and resources.
The success of our mobile apps could also be harmed by factors outside our control, such as:
•

actions taken by providers of mobile operating systems or mobile app download stores;

•

unfavorable treatment received by our mobile apps, especially as compared to competing apps, such as the placement of our mobile apps in a mobile app download store;

•

increased costs to distribute or use our mobile apps; or

•

changes in mobile operating systems, such as iOS and Android, that degrade the functionality of our mobile website or mobile apps or that give preferential treatment to competitive products.

If Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers encounter difficulty accessing or using our platform on their mobile devices, or if they choose not to use our platform on their mobile devices, our business, financial
performance, and growth may be adversely affected.
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Expanding our community outside of the United States is part of our strategy and the growth of our business could be harmed if our expansion efforts do not succeed.
Our vision is both global and local and we are focused on growing our business outside of the United States. Although we have a significant number of Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers outside of the United States,
we have limited experience developing local markets outside the United States and may not execute our strategy successfully. Operating outside of the United States also requires significant management
attention, including managing operations over a broad geographic area with varying cultural norms and customs, and adapting our platform to local markets.
Despite our execution efforts, the goods that Etsy sellers list on Etsy.com may not appeal to non-U.S. consumers in the same way as they do to consumers in the United States. In addition, non-U.S. buyers are
not as familiar with the Etsy brand as buyers in the United States and may not perceive us as relevant or trustworthy. Also, visits to Etsy.com from Etsy buyers outside the United States may not convert into
sales as often as visits from within the United States, including due to the impact of the strong U.S. dollar relative to other currencies and the fact that a most of the goods listed on our platform are denominated
in U.S. dollars.
Our ability to grow our international operations may also be adversely affected by any circumstances that reduce or hinder cross-border trade. For example, the shipping of goods cross-border is typically more
expensive and slower than domestic shipping and often involves complex customs and duty inspections and the dependency of national postal carrier systems.
Our success outside the United States depends upon our ability to attract Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers from the same countries in order to enable the growth of local markets. If we are not able to expand outside
of the United States successfully, our growth prospects could be harmed. An inability to develop Etsy's community globally or to otherwise grow our business outside of the United States on a cost-effective
basis could adversely affect our GMS, revenue and operating results.
Competition is also likely to intensify outside of the United States, both where we operate now and where we plan to expand our operations. Local companies based outside the United States may have a
substantial competitive advantage because of their greater understanding of, and focus on, their local markets. Some of our competitors may also be able to develop and grow internationally more quickly than
we will.
Continued expansion outside of the United States may also require significant financial investment. These investments are expected to include seller and buyer acquisition marketing, enhancing our machine
translation and machine learning to help sellers and buyers connect even if they do not speak the same language, forming relationships with third-party service providers, supporting operations in multiple
countries and potentially acquiring companies based outside the United States and integrating those companies with our operations. Our investment outside of the United States may be more costly than we
expect and our revenue may not increase sufficiently to offset these additional expenses.
Further expansion outside of the United States will subject us to risks associated with operations abroad.
Doing business outside of the United States subjects us to increased risks and burdens such as:
•

complying with different (and sometimes conflicting) laws and regulatory standards (particularly including those related to the use and disclosure of personal information, online payments, intellectual
property, consumer protection, online platform liability and taxation of goods and services);

•

fluctuations of foreign exchange rates;

•

potentially heightened risk of fraudulent transactions;

•

limitations on the repatriation of funds;

•

exposure to liabilities under anti-corruption, anti-money laundering and export control laws, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, the U.K. Bribery Act of 2010, trade
controls and sanctions administered by the U.S. Office of Foreign Assets Control, and similar laws and regulations in other jurisdictions;

•

varying levels of internet, e-commerce and mobile technology adoption and infrastructure;

•

our ability to enforce contracts and intellectual property rights in jurisdictions outside the United States; and

•

barriers to international trade, such as tariffs, customs or other taxes.
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Etsy sellers face similar risks in conducting their businesses across borders. Even if we are successful in managing the risks of conducting our business across borders, if Etsy sellers are not, our business could
be adversely affected.
If we invest substantial time and resources to expand our operations outside of the United States and cannot manage these risks effectively, the costs of doing business in those markets may be prohibitive or our
expenses may increase disproportionately to the revenue generated in those markets.
Our payments system depends on third-party providers and is subject to evolving laws and regulations.
Etsy buyers primarily pay for purchases using Etsy Payments or PayPal. In the United States and other countries where Etsy Payments is available, Etsy Payments enables our sellers to accept various forms of
payments such as credit cards, debit cards, PayPal, Google Wallet, Apple Pay and Etsy Gift Cards. Etsy Payments is our largest Seller Services revenue stream, and nearly all sellers in the 36 countries where
Etsy Payments is available are required to use the service.
We rely on third-party service providers to perform underlying compliance, credit card processing and payment disbursing, currency exchange, identity verification and fraud analysis services. If these service
providers do not perform adequately or if our relationships with these service providers were to terminate, Etsy sellers’ ability to receive orders or payment could be adversely affected and our business could be
harmed. For example, third-party service providers may experience service outages from time to time that impact Etsy. In July 2016, a third-party payment processor experienced a technical issue that caused
payment processing delays and complications for purchases through Etsy Payments, which required Etsy to develop a short-term manual solution. If a third-party payment processor has significant outages in
the future and we do not have alternative payment processors in place or are unable to provide our own solution, our business could be harmed. In addition, if our third-party providers increase the fees they
charge us, our operating expenses could increase. If we respond by increasing the fees we charge to Etsy sellers, some Etsy sellers may stop listing new items for sale or even close their accounts altogether.
The laws and regulations related to payments are complex, evolving and subject to change and vary across different jurisdictions in the United States and globally. As a result, we are required to spend
significant time and effort to comply with those laws and regulations. Any failure or claim of our failure to comply, or any failure by our third-party service providers to comply, could cost us substantial
resources, could result in liabilities or could force us to stop offering Etsy Payments. Additionally, changes in payment regulation may occur that could render our payments system less profitable. For example,
any significant change in credit or debit card interchange rates in the United States or other markets, including as a result of changes in interchange fee limitations, may negatively impact Etsy Payments.
As we expand the availability of Etsy Payments or offer new payment methods to Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers in the future, we may become subject to additional regulations and compliance requirements.
Further, through our agreements with our third-party payment processors, we are indirectly subject to payment card association operating rules and certification requirements, including the Payment Card
Industry Data Security Standard, which are subject to change. Failure to comply with these rules and certification requirements could impact our ability to meet our contractual obligations with our third-party
payment processors and could result in potential fines. We are also subject to rules governing electronic funds transfers. Any change in these rules and requirements could make it difficult or impossible for us
to comply. In addition, similar to a potential increase in costs from third-party providers described above, any increased costs associated with compliance with payment card association rules could lead to
increased fees for Etsy or Etsy sellers, which may negatively impact Etsy Payments usage and our marketplace.
If sensitive information about members of our community is misused or disclosed, or if we or our third-party providers are subject to cyber attacks, members of our community may curtail use of
our platform, we may be exposed to liability and our reputation could suffer.
Like all online services, our platform is vulnerable to power outages, telecommunications failures and catastrophic events, as well as computer viruses, break-ins, phishing attacks, denial-of-service attacks and
other cyber attacks. Any of these incidents could lead to interruptions or shutdowns of our platform, loss of data or unauthorized disclosure of our members' personal or financial information. Cyber attacks
could also result in the theft of our intellectual property. As we gain greater public visibility, we may face a higher risk of being targeted by cyber attacks. Although we rely on a variety of security measures,
including security testing, encryption and authentication technology licensed from third parties, we cannot assure you that such measures will provide absolute security, particularly given the increasingly
sophisticated tools and methods used by hackers and cyber terrorists. In addition, we may, and have in the past, experienced security breaches as a result of non-technical issues, including intentional,
inadvertent, or social engineering breaches occurring through our employees or employees of our third-party service providers.
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We are also reliant on the security practices of our third party service providers, which may be outside of our direct control. Additionally, some of our third party service providers, such as identity verification
and payment processing providers, regularly have access to some confidential and sensitive member data. If these third parties fail to adhere to adequate security practices, or experience a breach of their
networks, our members' data may be improperly accessed, used or disclosed.
Cyber attacks aimed at disrupting our and our third-party service providers’ services have occurred regularly in the past, and we expect they will continue to occur in the future. If we or our third-party service
providers experience security breaches that result in marketplace performance or availability problems or the loss or unauthorized disclosure of sensitive information, or if we fail to respond appropriately to
any security breaches that we may experience, people may become unwilling to provide us the information necessary to set up an account with us. Existing Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers may stop listing new
items for sale, decrease their purchases or close their accounts altogether. We could also face potential liability, regulatory investigation, costly remediation efforts and litigation, which may not be adequately
covered by insurance. Any of these results could harm our growth prospects, our business and our reputation for maintaining a trusted marketplace.
Our business could be negatively affected as a result of actions of activist stockholders.
The actions of activist stockholders could adversely affect our business. Specifically, responding to common actions of an activist stockholder, such as requests for special meetings, potential nominations of
candidates for election to our Board of Directors, requests to pursue a strategic combination or other transaction or other special requests, could disrupt our operations, be costly and time-consuming or divert
the attention of our management and employees. In addition, perceived uncertainties as to our future direction in relation to the actions of an activist stockholder may result in the loss of potential business
opportunities or the perception that we are unstable as a company, which may make it more difficult to attract and retain qualified employees. Actions of an activist stockholder may also cause fluctuations in
our stock price based on speculative market perceptions or other factors that do not necessarily reflect the underlying fundamentals and prospects of our business.
Adherence to our values and our focus on our mission and long-term sustainability may negatively influence our short- or medium-term financial performance.
Our values are integral to everything we do. Accordingly, we intend to focus on the long-term sustainability of our business and work toward our mission to “Keep Commerce Human.” We may take actions
that we believe will benefit our business and, therefore, our stockholders over a longer period of time, even if those actions do not maximize short- or medium-term financial performance. However, these
longer-term benefits may not materialize within the time frame we expect or at all. For example:
•

we may choose to prohibit the sale of items in our marketplace that are inconsistent with our policies even though we could benefit financially from the sale of those items; or

•

we may choose to revise our policies in ways that we believe will be beneficial to our community in the long term even though the changes may be perceived unfavorably, such as updates to the way we
define “handmade.”

Until recently, we were a Certified B Corporation. The term “Certified B Corporation” does not refer to a particular form of legal entity, but instead refers to companies that are certified by B Lab, an
independent nonprofit organization, as meeting rigorous standards of social and environmental performance, accountability and transparency. In 2017, we relinquished our Certified B Corporation status when
we chose not to convert from a C Corporation to a public benefit corporation under Delaware law, one of B Lab’s requirements for continued certification. If this change in status creates a perception that we
are more focused on financial performance and are no longer as committed to the values shared by Certified B Corporations, our reputation could be harmed. Similarly, our reputation could be harmed if we
take actions that are perceived to be misaligned with our values.
Our business could be adversely affected by economic downturns, natural disasters, public health crises, political crises or other unexpected events.
Macroeconomic conditions may adversely affect our business. If general economic conditions deteriorate in the United States or other markets where we operate, consumer discretionary spending may decline
and demand for the goods and services available in our platform may be reduced. This would cause sales in our marketplace and Seller Services revenue to decline and adversely impact our business.
Conversely, if recent trends supporting self-employment and the desire for supplemental income were to reverse, the number of Etsy sellers offering their goods in our marketplace could decline and the number
of goods listed in our marketplace could decline. In addition, currency exchange rates may impact our business. For example, currency exchange rates may dampen demand from buyers outside the United
States for goods denominated in U.S. dollars, which could impact GMS. For the year ended December 31, 2017 , approximately 85% of our GMS was denominated in U.S. dollars.
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Natural disasters and other adverse weather and climate conditions, public health crises, political crises, such as terrorist attacks, war and other political instability or other unexpected events, could disrupt our
operations, internet or mobile networks, or the operations of one or more of our third-party service providers. For example, when Hurricane Sandy struck New York in October 2012, our headquarters in
Brooklyn was closed for five days. In addition, hurricanes and other natural disasters are likely to impact buyer behavior for discretionary goods and sellers’ ability to run their businesses on our marketplace.
These events may also impact consumer perceptions of well-being and security, which may adversely impact consumer discretionary spending. If any of these events occurs, our business could be adversely
affected.
We face intense competition and may not be able to compete effectively.
Our industry is highly competitive and we expect competition to increase in the future. To be successful, we need to attract and retain Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers. As a result, we face competition from a wide
range of online and offline competitors.
We compete for Etsy sellers with both retailers and companies that sell software and services to small businesses. In addition to listing her goods for sale on Etsy, an Etsy seller can list her goods with other
online retailers, such as Amazon, eBay or Alibaba, or sell her goods through local consignment and vintage stores and other venues or marketplaces, including through commerce channels on social networks
like Facebook and Instagram. She may also sell wholesale directly to traditional retailers, including large national retailers, who discover her goods in our marketplace or otherwise. We also compete with
companies that sell software and services to small businesses, enabling an Etsy seller to sell from her own website or otherwise run her business independently of our platform, such as Square, Bigcommerce
and Shopify.
We compete to attract, engage and retain Etsy sellers based on many factors, including:
•

our brand awareness;

•

the extent to which our Seller Services can ease the administrative tasks that an Etsy seller might encounter in running her business, wherever she chooses to pursue commerce;

•

the global scale of our marketplace and the breadth of our online presence;

•

the number and engagement of Etsy buyers;

•

our seller education resources and tools;

•

our policies and fees;

•

the ability to scale her business, including through Pattern or with a production partner;

•

our mobile apps;

•

the strength of our community; and

•

our values.

In addition, we compete with retailers for the attention of the Etsy buyer. An Etsy buyer has the choice of shopping with any online or offline retailer, whether large marketplaces, such as Amazon, eBay or
Alibaba, or national retail chains, such as West Elm or Target, or local consignment and vintage stores or other venues or marketplaces. Many of these competitors offer low-cost or free shipping, fast shipping
times, favorable return policies and other features that may be difficult or impossible for Etsy sellers to match.
We compete to attract, engage and retain Etsy buyers based on many factors, including:
•

the breadth of unique goods that Etsy sellers list in our marketplace;

•

the ease of finding the special item a buyer is looking for;

•

our brand awareness;

•

the person-to-person commerce experience;
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our reputation for trustworthiness;

•

our mobile apps;

•

ease of payment; and

•

the availability and reliability of our platform.

Many of our competitors and potential competitors have longer operating histories, greater resources, better name recognition or more customers than we do.
They may invest more to develop and promote their services than we do, and they may offer lower fees to sellers than we do. Further, our competitors could obtain preferential rates or shipping services,
causing Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers to pay higher shipping costs or find alternative delivery services. Additionally, we believe that it is relatively easy for new businesses to create online commerce offerings or
tools or services that enable entrepreneurship.
Local companies or more established companies based in markets where we operate outside of the United States may also have a better understanding of local customs, providing them a competitive advantage.
For example, in certain markets outside the United States, we compete with smaller, but similar, local online marketplaces with a focus on unique goods that are attempting to attract sellers and buyers in those
markets.
If we are unable to compete successfully, or if competing successfully requires us to expend significant resources in response to our competitors’ actions, our business could be adversely affected.
We rely on Etsy sellers to provide a fulfilling experience to Etsy buyers.
A small portion of Etsy buyers complain to us about their experience with our platform. For example, Etsy buyers may report that they have not received the items that they purchased, that the items received
were not as represented by an Etsy seller or that an Etsy seller has not been responsive to their questions.
Negative publicity and sentiment generated as a result of these types of complaints could reduce our ability to attract and retain Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers or damage our reputation. A perception that our
levels of responsiveness and support for Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers are inadequate could have similar results. In some situations, we may choose to reimburse Etsy buyers for their purchases to help avoid
harm to our reputation, but we may not be able to recover the funds we expend for those reimbursements.
Anything that prevents the timely processing of orders or delivery of goods to Etsy buyers could harm Etsy sellers. Service interruptions and delivery delays may be caused by events that are beyond the control
of Etsy sellers, such as interruptions in order or payment processing, transportation disruptions, natural disasters, inclement weather, terrorism, public health crises or political unrest. Disruptions in the
operations of a substantial number of Etsy sellers could also result in negative experiences for a substantial number of Etsy buyers, which could harm our reputation and adversely affect our business.
Our reputation may be harmed if members of our community use illegal or unethical business practices.
Our emphasis on our values makes our reputation particularly sensitive to allegations of illegal or unethical business practices by Etsy sellers or other members of our community. Our policies promote legal
and ethical business practices, such as encouraging Etsy sellers to work only with manufacturers who do not use child or involuntary labor, who do not discriminate and who promote sustainability and humane
working conditions. However, we do not control Etsy sellers or other members of our community or their business practices and cannot ensure that they comply with our policies. If members of our community
engage in illegal or unethical business practices or are perceived to do so, we may receive negative publicity and our reputation may be harmed.
Failure to deal effectively with fraud could harm our business.
Although we have measures in place to detect and reduce the occurrence of fraudulent activity in our marketplace, those measures may not always be effective.
For example, Etsy sellers occasionally receive orders placed with fraudulent or stolen credit card data. Under current credit card practices, we could be held liable for orders placed through Etsy Payments with
fraudulent credit card data even if the associated financial institution approved the credit card transaction. Although we attempt to detect or challenge fraudulent
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transactions, we may not be able to do so effectively. As a result, our business could be adversely affected. We could also incur significant fines or lose our ability to give the option of paying with credit cards
if we fail to follow payment card industry data security standards or payment card association rules or fail to limit fraudulent transactions conducted in our marketplace.
Negative publicity and sentiment resulting from fraudulent or deceptive conduct by members of our community or the perception that our levels of responsiveness and support for Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers
are inadequate could reduce our ability to attract and retain Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers and damage our reputation.
Our business depends on continued and unimpeded access to the internet and mobile networks.
Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers rely on access to the internet or mobile networks to access our marketplace. Internet service providers may choose to disrupt or degrade access to our platform or increase the cost of
such access. Mobile network operators or operating system providers could block or place onerous restrictions on the ability to download and use our mobile apps.
Internet service providers or mobile network operators could also attempt to charge us for providing access to our platform. In 2015, rules approved by the Federal Communications Commission (“FCC”) went
into effect that prohibited internet service providers from charging content providers higher rates in order to deliver their content over certain “fast traffic” lanes; however, in December 2017, the FCC voted to
repeal those rules. This repeal may make it more difficult or costly for many small businesses such as our community of sellers, as well as our buyers, to access our platform and may result in increased costs
for us, which could significantly harm our business, and the millions of microbusinesses that utilize our platform. We, along with other companies and public interest groups, intend to challenge this repeal in
the courts, but these efforts may not be successful and may be costly. Outside of the United States, government regulation of the internet, including data localization requirements, limitation on marketplace
scope or ownership, intellectual property intermediary liability rules, regulation of online speech, limits on network neutrality and rules related to security, privacy or national security may impede Etsy and our
users. As a result, we could face regulatory challenges or discriminatory or anti-competitive practices that could impede both our and Etsy sellers’ growth prospects, increase our costs and harm our business.
Our business depends on network and mobile infrastructure provided by third parties and on our ability to maintain and scale the technology underlying our platform.
The reliability of our platform is important to our reputation and our ability to attract and retain Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers. As the number of Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers, volume of traffic, number of
transactions and the amount of information shared on our platform grow, our need for additional network capacity and computing power will also grow. The operation of the technology underlying our platform
is expensive and complex, and we could experience operational failures. If we fail to accurately predict the rate or timing of the growth of our platform, we may be required to incur significant additional costs
to maintain reliability. The investments we make in our platform are designed to grow our business and to improve our operating results in the long term, but these investments could also delay our ability to
achieve profitability or reduce profitability in the near term.
We also depend on the development and maintenance of the internet, cloud and mobile infrastructure, and increasingly rely on the availability, features, cost and reliability of third-party service providers and
platforms. For example, this includes maintenance of reliable internet and mobile networks with the necessary speed, data capacity and security, as well as timely development of complementary products.
Third-party providers host much of our technology infrastructure and are likely to host more in the future. Any disruption in their services, or any failure of our providers to handle the demands of our
marketplace could significantly harm our business. We exercise little control over these providers, which increases our vulnerability to their financial conditions and to problems with the services they provide,
such as security concerns. Our efforts to update our infrastructure may not be successful or may take longer than anticipated. If we experience failures in our technology infrastructure or do not expand our
technology infrastructure successfully, then our ability to attract and retain Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers could be adversely affected, which could harm our growth prospects and our business.
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We will rely on Google Cloud for a substantial portion of our computing, storage, data processing, networking, and other services. Any disruption of or interference with our use of the Google
Cloud operation would adversely affect our business, financial performance and growth.
Google Cloud Platform provides a distributed computing infrastructure as a service platform for business operations, and we are in the process of migrating our data centers to Google Cloud, increasing our
reliance on cloud infrastructure. As we implement the transition to the cloud, there may be an increased risk of downtime for our website and site delays, and we may also need to divert engineering resources
away from other important business operations, which could significantly harm our business and growth. Additionally, if the costs to migrate to Google Cloud are greater than we expect or take significantly
more time than we anticipate, our business could be harmed,
Any transition of the cloud services currently provided by Google Cloud to another cloud provider would be difficult to implement and will cause us to incur significant time and expense. Any significant
disruption of, or interference with, our use of Google Cloud would negatively impact our operations and our business would be seriously harmed. In addition, if hosting costs increase over time and if we
require more computing or storage capacity, our costs could increase disproportionately. If we are unable to grow our revenues faster than the cost of utilizing the services of Google or similar providers, our
business and financial condition could be adversely affected.
Our business is subject to a large number of U.S. and non-U.S. laws, many of which are evolving.
We are subject to a variety of laws and regulations in the United States and around the world, including those relating to traditional businesses, such as employment laws and taxation, and laws and regulations
focused on internet service providers and online commerce, such as online payments, privacy, anti-spam, data security and protection, online platform liability, intellectual property and consumer protection. In
light of our international operations, we need to comply with various laws associated with doing business outside of the United States, including anti-money laundering, sanctions, anti-corruption and export
control laws. In some cases, non-U.S. privacy, data security, consumer protection, e-commerce and other laws and regulations are more detailed than those in the United States and, in some countries, are
actively enforced.
These laws and regulations are continuously evolving, and compliance is costly and can require changes to our business practices and significant management time and effort.
Additionally, it is not always clear how existing laws apply to the internet as many of these laws do not address the unique issues raised by internet service providers or online commerce. For example, laws
relating to online privacy are evolving differently in different jurisdictions. Federal, state and non-U.S. governmental authorities, as well as courts interpreting the laws, continue to evaluate and assess the
privacy requirements relating to the use of third-party “cookies,” “web beacons” and other methods of online tracking. The United States, the European Union and other governments have enacted or are
considering legislation that could (i) significantly restrict the ability of companies and individuals to collect and store user information, such as by regulating the level of consumer notice and consent required
before a company can employ cookies or other electronic tracking tools and (ii) require internet service providers to disclose user information to regulatory authorities.
Some providers of consumer devices and web browsers have implemented, or have announced plans to implement, ways to block tracking technologies which, if widely adopted, could also result in online
tracking methods becoming significantly less effective. Any reduction in our ability to make effective use of such technologies could harm our ability to personalize the experience of Etsy buyers, increase our
costs and limit our ability to attract and retain Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers on cost-effective terms. As a result, our business could be adversely affected.
Existing and future laws and regulations enacted by federal, state or non-U.S. governments could impede the growth of internet service providers or online commerce. It is also possible that governments of one
or more countries may seek to censor content available on our platform or may even attempt to block access to our platform. If we are restricted from operating in one or more countries, our ability to attract and
retain Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers may be adversely affected and we may not be able to grow our business as we anticipate.
We strive to comply with all applicable laws, but they may conflict with each other, and by complying with the laws or regulations of one jurisdiction, we may find that we are violating the laws or regulations
of another jurisdiction. Despite our efforts, we may not have fully complied in the past and may not in the future. If we become liable under laws or regulations applicable to us, we could be required to pay
significant fines and penalties, our reputation may be harmed and we may be forced to change the way we operate. That could require us to incur significant expenses or to discontinue certain services, which
could negatively affect our business.
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Additionally, if third parties with whom we work violate applicable laws or our policies, those violations could result in other liabilities for us and could harm our business. Furthermore, the circumstances in
which we may be held liable for the acts, omissions or responsibilities of our sellers is uncertain, complex and evolving. For example, certain laws have recently been enacted seeking to hold marketplaces like
ours responsible for certain compliance obligations for which sellers have traditionally been responsible. If an increasing number of such laws are passed, the resulting compliance costs could negatively impact
our business.
Regulation in the areas of privacy and protection of user data could harm our business.
In addition to the actual and potential changes in law described elsewhere in these Risk Factors, compliance with privacy and data security regulations, particularly outside the United States, is likely to require
changes to the ways we collect, use and share personal information and necessitate specific product changes for our non-U.S. activities. For example, the E.U. has undertaken a major overhaul to its privacy law
that could significantly affect our business. In May of 2018, the E.U. General Data Protection Regulation, (“GDPR”), will go into effect, effectively extending the scope of E.U. data protection law to all nonE.U. companies processing data of E.U. residents. The GDPR is intended to harmonize the data protection regulations throughout the entire E.U. The regulation contains numerous requirements and changes
from existing E.U. law, including more robust obligations on data processors, greater rights for data subjects (requiring potentially significant changes to both our technology and operations), and heavier
documentation requirements for data protection compliance programs. Specifically, the GDPR will introduce numerous privacy-related changes for companies operating in the E.U., including greater control
over personal data by data subjects (e.g., the “right to be forgotten”), increased data portability for E.U. consumers, data breach notification requirements, and increased fines. In particular, under the GDPR,
fines of up to 20 million Euros or up to 4% of the annual global revenue of the noncompliant company, whichever is greater, could be imposed for violations of certain of the GDPR’s requirements. The GDPR
requirements apply not only to third-party transactions, but also to transfers of information between us and our subsidiaries, including user and employee information.
The evolving data protection landscape in the E.U. could result in possible significant operational costs for internal compliance and risk to our business. Non-compliance could result in proceedings against us
by data protection authorities, other public authorities or individuals. We may also experience difficulty retaining or obtaining new European sellers or new sellers selling into Europe due to the legal
requirements, compliance cost, potential risk exposure, and uncertainty for them in respect of their own compliance obligations with respect to GDPR.
In addition, the laws relating to the transfer of personal data outside of the E.U. continue to evolve and remain uncertain. Although we are taking steps to comply and mitigate the potential impact to us, the
efficacy and longevity of these steps are uncertain. We may find it necessary to establish systems to maintain personal data originating from the E.U. in the European Economic Area, which may involve
substantial expense and distraction from other aspects of our business. In the meantime, there could be uncertainty as to how to comply with E.U. privacy law. Further, despite our ongoing efforts to bring
practices into compliance before the effective date of the GDPR, we may not be successful either due to various factors within our control (such as limited internal resource allocation) or outside our control
(such as a lack of vendor cooperation). It’s also possible that local data protection authorities may have different interpretations of the GDPR, leading to potential inconsistencies amongst various E.U. states.
We may be subject to claims that items listed in our marketplace are counterfeit, infringing or illegal.
Although we do not create or take possession of the items listed in our marketplace by Etsy sellers, we frequently receive communications alleging that items listed in our marketplace infringe third-party
copyrights, trademarks, patents or other intellectual property rights. We have intellectual property complaint and take-down procedures in place to address these communications, and we believe such
procedures are important to promote confidence in our marketplace. We follow these procedures to review complaints and relevant facts to determine the appropriate action, which may include removal of the
item from our marketplace and, in certain cases, closing the shops of Etsy sellers who repeatedly violate our policies.
Our procedures may not effectively reduce or eliminate our liability. In particular, we may be subject to civil or criminal liability for activities carried out by Etsy sellers on our platform, especially outside the
United States where laws may offer less protection for intermediaries and platforms than the United States. Under current U.S. copyright law and the Communications Decency Act, we may benefit from
statutory safe harbor provisions that protect us from copyright liability for content posted on our platform by Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers. However, trademark and patent laws do not include similar statutory
provisions, and liability for these forms of intellectual property is often determined by court decisions. These safe harbors and court rulings may change unfavorably. In that event, we may be held secondarily
liable for the intellectual property infringement of Etsy sellers.
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Regardless of the validity of any claims made against us, we may incur significant costs and efforts to defend against or settle them. If a governmental authority determines that we have aided and abetted the
infringement or sale of counterfeit goods or if legal changes result in us potentially being liable for actions by Etsy sellers on our platform, we could face regulatory, civil or criminal penalties. Successful
claims by third-party rights owners could require us to pay substantial damages or refrain from permitting any further listing of the relevant items. These types of claims could force us to modify our business
practices, which could lower our revenue, increase our costs or make our platform less user-friendly. Moreover, public perception that counterfeit or other unauthorized items are common in our marketplace,
even if factually incorrect, could result in negative publicity and damage to our reputation.
Our software is highly complex and may contain undetected errors.
The software underlying our platform is highly interconnected and complex and may contain undetected errors or vulnerabilities, some of which may only be discovered after the code has been released. We
rely heavily on a software engineering practice known as “continuous deployment,” meaning that we typically release software code many times per day. This practice may result in the more frequent
introduction of errors or vulnerabilities into the software underlying our platform, which can impact the user experience on Etsy.com. Additionally, due to the interconnected nature of the software underlying
our platform, updates to certain parts of our code, including changes to Etsy or third party APIs on which Etsy relies, could have an unintended impact on other sections of our code, which may result in errors
or vulnerabilities to our platform. Any errors or vulnerabilities discovered in our code after release could result in damage to our reputation, loss of our community members, loss of revenue or liability for
damages, any of which could adversely affect our growth prospects and our business.
We may be subject to intellectual property claims, which are extremely costly to defend, could require us to pay significant damages and could limit our ability to use certain technologies in the
future.
Companies in the internet and technology industries are frequently subject to litigation based on allegations of infringement or other violations of intellectual property rights. We periodically receive
communications that claim we have infringed, misappropriated or misused others’ intellectual property rights. To the extent we gain greater public recognition, we may face a higher risk of being the subject of
intellectual property claims. Third-parties may have intellectual property rights that cover significant aspects of our technologies or business methods and prevent us from expanding our offerings. Third parties
may also allege a company is secondarily liable for intellectual property infringement, or that it is a joint infringer with another party. Any intellectual property claim against us, with or without merit, could be
time consuming and expensive to settle or litigate and could divert the attention of our management. Litigation regarding intellectual property rights is inherently uncertain due to the complex issues involved,
and we may not be successful in defending ourselves in such matters. In addition, some of our competitors have extensive portfolios of issued patents. Many potential litigants, including some of our
competitors and patent holding companies, have the ability to dedicate substantial resources to enforcing their intellectual property rights. Any claims successfully brought against us could subject us to
significant liability for damages and we may be required to stop using technology or other intellectual property alleged to be in violation of a third party’s rights in one or more jurisdictions where Etsy does
business. We also might be required to seek a license for third-party intellectual property. Even if a license is available, we could be required to pay significant royalties or submit to unreasonable terms, which
would increase our operating expenses. We may also be required to develop alternative non-infringing technology, which could require significant time and expense. If we cannot license or develop technology
for any allegedly infringing aspect of our business, we would be forced to limit our service and may be unable to compete effectively. Any of these results could harm our business.
We may be involved in litigation matters that are expensive and time consuming.
In addition to intellectual property claims, we may become involved in other litigation matters, including class action lawsuits. For example, as described further in “ Note 15—Commitments and Contingencies
— Legal Proceedings ” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, three purported securities class action lawsuits have been filed naming Etsy and certain of our officers and/or directors as defendants.
Under certain circumstances, we have contractual and other legal obligations to indemnify and to incur legal expenses on behalf of current and former directors, officers and underwriters, in connection with the
litigation described in this Annual Report and in connection with any future lawsuits. Any lawsuit to which we are a party, with or without merit, may result in an unfavorable judgment. We also may decide to
settle lawsuits on unfavorable terms. Any such negative outcome could result in payments of substantial damages or fines, damage to our reputation or adverse changes to our offerings or business practices.
Any of these results could adversely affect our business. In addition, defending claims is costly and can impose a significant burden on our management.
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We may be unable to protect our intellectual property adequately.
Our intellectual property is an essential asset of our business. To establish and protect our intellectual property rights, we rely on a combination of trade secret, copyright, trademark and, to a lesser extent,
patent laws, as well as confidentiality procedures and contractual provisions. The efforts we have taken to protect our intellectual property may not be sufficient or effective. We generally do not elect to register
our copyrights, relying instead on the laws protecting unregistered intellectual property, which may not be sufficient. We rely on both registered and unregistered trademarks, which may not always be
comprehensive in scope. In addition, our copyrights and trademarks, whether or not registered, and patents may be held invalid or unenforceable if challenged, and may be of limited territorial reach. While we
have obtained or applied for patent protection with respect to some of our intellectual property, we generally do not rely on patents as a principal means of protecting intellectual property. To the extent we do
seek patent protection, any U.S. or other patents issued to us may not be sufficiently broad to protect our proprietary technologies.
In addition, we may not be effective in policing unauthorized use of our intellectual property and authorized uses may not have the intended effect. Even if we do detect violations, we may need to engage in
litigation to enforce our intellectual property rights. Any enforcement efforts we undertake, including litigation, could be time-consuming and expensive and could divert our management’s attention. In
addition, our efforts may be met with defenses and counterclaims challenging the validity and enforceability of our intellectual property rights or may result in a court determining that our intellectual property
rights are unenforceable. The legal framework surrounding protection of intellectual property changes frequently throughout the world, and these changes may impact our ability to protect our intellectual
property and defend against third party claims. If we are unable to cost-effectively protect our intellectual property rights, then our business could be harmed.
We are subject to the terms of open source licenses because our platform incorporates open source software.
The software powering our marketplace incorporates software covered by open source licenses. In addition, we regularly contribute source code to open source software projects and release internal software
projects under open source licenses, and we anticipate doing so in the future. The terms of many open source licenses relied upon by Etsy and the internet and technology industries have been interpreted by
only a few court decisions and there is a risk that the licenses could be construed in a manner that imposes unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our ability to operate our marketplace. Under certain open
source licenses, if certain conditions were met, we could be required to publicly release aspects of the source code of our software or to make our software available under open source licenses. To avoid the
public release of the affected portions of our source code, we could be required to expend substantial time and resources to re-engineer some or all of our software. In addition, use of open source software can
lead to greater risks than use of third-party commercial software because open source licensors generally do not provide warranties or controls on the origin of the software. Use of open source software may
also present additional security risks because the public availability of such software may make it easier for hackers and other third parties to determine how to compromise our platform. Additionally, because
any software source code we contribute to open source projects is publicly available, while we may benefit from the contributions of others, our ability to protect our intellectual property rights in such software
source code may be limited or lost entirely, and we will be unable to prevent our competitors or others from using such contributed software source code. Any of these risks could be difficult to eliminate or
manage and, if not addressed, could adversely affect our business, financial performance and growth.
Our business and our Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers may be subject to sales and other taxes.
The application of indirect taxes, such as sales and use tax, value-added tax, provincial taxes, goods and services tax, business tax and gross receipt tax, to businesses like ours and to Etsy sellers and Etsy
buyers is a complex and evolving issue. Significant judgment is required to evaluate applicable tax obligations and as a result amounts recorded are estimates and are subject to adjustments. In many cases, the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain because it is not clear how new and existing statutes might apply to our business or to Etsy sellers’ businesses. If Etsy is found to be deficient in how it has addressed its
tax obligations, our business could be adversely impacted.
One or more states, the federal government or other countries are seeking to impose additional reporting, record-keeping or indirect tax collection obligations on businesses like ours that facilitate online
commerce. If these new requirements become applicable, our business could be harmed. For example, taxing authorities in certain U.S. states and in other countries have identified e-commerce platforms as a
means to calculate, collect and remit indirect taxes for transactions taking place over the internet, and are considering related legislation. New legislation could adversely affect our business if the requirement of
tax to be charged on items sold on Etsy causes our marketplace to be less attractive to current and prospective Etsy buyers. Additionally, new legislation could require us or Etsy sellers to incur substantial costs
in order to comply, including costs associated with tax calculation, collection, remittance and audit requirements, which could make selling in our marketplace less attractive.
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We may experience fluctuations in our tax obligations and effective tax rate.
We are subject to taxation in the United States and in numerous other jurisdictions. We record tax expense based on current tax payments and our estimates of future tax payments, which may include reserves
for estimates of probable settlements of tax audits. At any one time, multiple tax years could be subject to audit by various taxing jurisdictions. As a result, we could be subject to higher than anticipated tax
liabilities as well as ongoing variability in our quarterly tax rates as audits close and exposures are re-evaluated. Further, our effective tax rate in a given financial statement period may be adversely impacted by
changes in tax laws, changes in the mix of revenue among different jurisdictions, changes to accounting rules and changes to our ownership or capital structure. Fluctuations in our tax obligations and effective
tax rate could adversely affect our business.
The U.S. government recently enacted comprehensive tax legislation that includes significant changes to the taxation of business entities. These changes include, among others, (1) a permanent reduction to the
corporate income tax rate, (2) a partial limitation on the deductibility of business interest expense, (3) a shift of the U.S. taxation of multinational corporations from a tax on worldwide income to a quasiterritorial system (along with certain rules designed to prevent erosion of the U.S. income tax base) and (4) a one-time tax on accumulated offshore earnings held in cash and illiquid assets, with the latter taxed
at a lower rate. Notwithstanding the reduction in the corporate income tax rate, the overall impact of this tax reform is uncertain, and our business and financial condition could be adversely affected.
In January 2015, we implemented a revised corporate structure to more closely align our structure with our global operations and future expansion plans outside of the United States. Our new corporate
structure changed how we use our intellectual property and implemented certain intercompany arrangements. We believe this may result in a reduction in our overall effective tax rate over the long term and
other operational efficiencies; however, the tax laws of the jurisdictions in which we operate are subject to interpretation, and their application may depend on our ability to operate our business in a manner
consistent with our corporate structure. Moreover, these tax laws are subject to change. Tax authorities may disagree with our position as to the tax treatment of our transfer of intangible assets or determine that
the manner in which we operate our business does not achieve the intended tax consequences. If our new corporate structure does not achieve our expectations for any of these or other reasons, we may be
subject to a higher overall effective tax rate and our business may be adversely affected.
The growth of our business may strain our management team and our operational and financial infrastructure.
We have experienced rapid growth in our business, in the number of Etsy sellers and the number of countries in which we have Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers, and we plan to continue to grow in the future, both
in the United States and abroad. The growth of our business places significant demands on our management team and pressure to expand our operational and financial infrastructure. For example, we may need
to continue to develop and improve our operational, financial and management controls and enhance our reporting systems and procedures. If we do not manage our growth effectively, the increases in our
operating expenses could outpace any increases in our revenue and our business could be harmed.
We may expand our business through acquisitions of other businesses, which may divert management’s attention and/or prove to be unsuccessful.
We have acquired a number of other businesses in the past and may acquire additional businesses or technologies in the future. Acquisitions may divert management’s time and focus from operating our
business. Acquisitions also may require us to spend a substantial portion of our available cash, issue stock, incur debt or other liabilities, amortize expenses related to intangible assets or incur write-offs of
goodwill or other assets. In addition, integrating an acquired business or technology is risky. Completed and future acquisitions may result in unforeseen operational difficulties and expenditures associated
with:
•

integrating new businesses and technologies into our infrastructure;

•

consolidating operational and administrative functions;

•

coordinating outreach to our community;

•

maintaining morale and culture and retaining and integrating key employees;

•

maintaining or developing controls, procedures and policies (including effective internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures); and

•

assuming liabilities related to the activities of the acquired business before and after the acquisition, including liabilities for violations of laws and regulations, commercial disputes, cyber attacks, taxes and
other matters.
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Moreover, we may not benefit from our acquisitions as we expect, or in the time frame we expect. We also may issue additional equity securities in connection with an acquisition, which could cause dilution to
our stockholders. Finally, acquisitions could be viewed negatively by analysts, investors or the members of our community.
If our insurance coverage is insufficient or our insurers are unable to meet their obligations, our insurance may not mitigate the risks facing our business.
Our insurance policies cover a number of risks and potential liabilities, such as general liability, property coverage, errors and omissions liability, employment liability, business interruptions, data breaches,
crime, product liability and directors’ and officers’ liability. For certain types of business risk, we may not be able to, or may choose not to, acquire insurance. In addition, we may not obtain enough insurance
to adequately mitigate the risks we face or we may have to pay high premiums and/or deductibles for the coverage we do obtain. Additionally, if any of our insurers becomes insolvent, it would be unable to pay
any claims that we make.
Operating as a public company requires us to incur substantial costs and requires substantial management attention. In addition, our management team has limited experience managing a public
company.
As a public company, we incur substantial legal, accounting and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company. For example, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the
applicable requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, (“the Sarbanes-Oxley Act”), and the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and the rules and regulations of the Securities
and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). The rules and regulations of the Nasdaq Global Select Market (“Nasdaq”), also apply to us. As part of these requirements, we have established and maintained effective
disclosure and financial controls and made changes to our corporate governance practices. We expect that continued compliance with these requirements will increase our legal and financial compliance costs
and will make some activities more time-consuming. In addition, as a public company, we may be subject to stockholder activism, which can lead to additional substantial costs, distract management and
impact the manner in which we operate our business in ways we cannot currently anticipate.
Many on our management team and other personnel have little experience managing a public company and preparing public filings. In addition, our management and other personnel divert attention from other
business matters to devote substantial time to the reporting and other requirements of being a public company. In particular, we have incurred significant expense and devoted substantial management effort to
complying with the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. We may need to continue to invest in additional accounting, financial and legal resources to ensure that we continue to meet our
public company requirements.
If we are unable to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy of our financial reports.
As a public company, we are required to maintain internal control over financial reporting and to report any material weaknesses in such internal controls. Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires that
we evaluate and determine the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. It also requires our independent registered public accounting firm to attest to our evaluation of our internal controls
over financial reporting. Although our management has determined, and our independent registered public accounting firm has attested, that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of
December 31, 2017 , we cannot assure you that we or our independent registered public accounting firm will not identify a material weakness in our internal control in the future.
If we have a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting in the future, we may not detect errors on a timely basis. If we are not able to comply with the requirements of Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act, or if we identify a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting in the future, it could harm our operating results, cause us to fail to meet our SEC reporting obligations
or Nasdaq listing requirements, adversely affect our reputation, cause our stock price to decline or result in inaccurate financial reporting or material misstatements in our annual or interim financial statements.
Further, if there are material weaknesses or failures in our ability to meet any of the requirements related to the maintenance and reporting of our internal controls, such as Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports and that could cause the price of our common stock to decline. We could become subject to investigations by
Nasdaq, the SEC or other regulatory authorities, which could require additional management attention and which could adversely affect our business.
In addition, our internal control over financial reporting will not prevent or detect all errors and fraud. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute
assurance that misstatements due to error or fraud will not occur or that all control issues and instances of fraud will be detected.
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The terms of any future debt instruments may restrict our ability to pursue our business strategies.
We do not currently have a credit facility or other debt instrument in place. However, we may choose to enter into certain debt instruments in the future, which could require us to comply with various
covenants that limit our ability to take actions such as:
•

disposing of assets;

•

completing mergers or acquisitions;

•

incurring additional indebtedness;

•

encumbering our properties or assets;

•

paying dividends or making other distributions;

•

making specified investments; and

•

engaging in transactions with our affiliates.

These restrictions could limit our ability to pursue our business strategies. Moreover, if we were to default under any debt instrument, such default could limit our ability to obtain additional financing, which
may have an adverse effect on our cash flow and liquidity.
We may need additional capital, which may not be available to us on acceptable terms or at all.
We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments, together with cash generated from operations will be enough to meet our anticipated cash needs for at least the next 12
months. However, we may require additional cash resources due to changes in business conditions or other developments, such as acquisitions or investments we may decide to pursue. We may seek to borrow
funds under a credit facility or sell additional equity or debt securities. The sale of additional equity or convertible debt securities could result in dilution to our existing stockholders. Any debt financing that we
may secure in the future could result in additional operating and financial covenants that would limit or restrict our ability to take certain actions, such as incurring additional debt, making capital expenditures
or declaring dividends. It is also possible that financing may not be available to us in amounts or on terms acceptable to us, if at all.
Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock
The price of our common stock has been and will likely continue to be volatile and declines in the price of common stock could subject us to litigation.
The price of our common stock has been and is likely to continue to be volatile. For example, since January 1, 2016, our common stock's daily closing price on Nasdaq has ranged from a low of $6.36 to a high
of $21.76 through February 23, 2018 . The price of our common stock may fluctuate significantly for numerous reasons, many of which are beyond our control, such as:
•

variations in our operating results and other financial and operational metrics, including the key financial and operating metrics disclosed in this Annual Report, as well as how those results and metrics
compare to analyst and investor expectations;

•

forward-looking statements related to our financial guidance or projections, our failure to meet or exceed our financial guidance or projections or changes in our financial guidance or projections;

•

failure of analysts to initiate or maintain coverage of our company, changes in their estimates of our operating results or changes in recommendations by analysts that follow our common stock or a
negative view of our financial guidance or projections and our failure to meet or exceed the estimates of such analysts;

•

announcements of new services or enhancements, strategic alliances or significant agreements or other developments by us or our competitors;
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•

announcements by us or our competitors of mergers or acquisitions or rumors of such transactions involving us or our competitors;

•

the amount and timing of our operating expenses and the success of any cost-savings actions we take;

•

changes in our Board of Directors, management or other key personnel;

•

disruptions in our marketplace due to hardware, software or network problems, security breaches or other issues;

•

the strength of the global economy or the economy in the jurisdictions in which we operate, currency fluctuations, and market conditions in our industry and those affecting members of our community;

•

the trading activity of our largest stockholders;

•

the number of shares of our common stock that are available for public trading;

•

litigation or other claims against us;

•

stockholder activism;

•

the performance of the equity markets in general and in our industry;

•

the operating performance of other similar companies;

•

changes in legal requirements relating to our business; and

•

any other factors discussed in this Annual Report.

In addition, if the market for technology stocks or the stock market in general experiences a loss of investor confidence, the price of our common stock could decline for reasons unrelated to our business,
financial performance or growth. Stock prices of many internet and technology companies have historically been highly volatile. Some companies that have experienced volatility in the trading price of their
stock have been the subject of securities class action litigation. For example, as described further in “ Note 15—Commitments and Contingencies — Legal Proceedings ” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements, three purported securities class action lawsuits have been filed naming Etsy and certain of our officers and/or directors as defendants. We may experience more such litigation following future
periods of volatility or declines in our stock price. Any securities litigation, could result in substantial costs and divert our management’s attention and resources, which could adversely affect our business.
If analysts do not publish research about our business, or if they publish inaccurate or unfavorable research, our stock price and trading volume could decline.
The trading market for our common stock depends in part on the research and reports that analysts publish about our business. We do not have any control over these analysts. If one or more of the analysts who
cover us downgrade our common stock or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, the price of our common stock would likely decline. If few analysts cover us, demand for our common
stock could decrease and our common stock price and trading volume may decline. Similar results may occur if one or more of these analysts stop covering us in the future or fail to publish reports on us
regularly.
We do not intend to pay dividends on our capital stock, so any returns will be limited to increases in the value of our common stock.
We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently anticipate that we will retain future earnings for the operation and expansion of our business and do not anticipate
declaring any dividends in the foreseeable future. In addition, our ability to pay cash dividends on our capital stock may be restricted by the terms of future financings. As a result, stockholders will not receive
dividends or other distributions and may only receive a return on their investment if the trading price of our common stock increases.
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Future sales and issuances of our common stock or rights to purchase common stock could result in additional dilution to our stockholders and could cause the price of our common stock to decline.
We may issue additional common stock, convertible securities or other equity in the future. We also issue common stock to our employees, directors and other service providers pursuant to our equity incentive
plans. Such issuances could be dilutive to investors and could cause the price of our common stock to decline. New investors in such issuances could also receive rights senior to those of current stockholders.
The timing and amount of our share repurchases are subject to a number of uncertainties.
In November 2017, our Board of Directors approved a stock repurchase program authorizing us to repurchase up to $100 million of our common stock. The timing and actual number of shares repurchased will
depend on a number of factors, including our stock price, trading volume, regulatory requirements and general market conditions, along with our working capital requirements, general business conditions, legal
restrictions and other factors. The stock repurchase program may be suspended or discontinued at any time without prior notice. Repurchases pursuant to our stock repurchase program could affect the price of
our common stock and increase its volatility. The existence of our stock repurchase program could also cause the price of our common stock to be higher than it would be in the absence of such a program and
could potentially reduce the market liquidity for our common stock. There can be no assurance that any stock repurchases will enhance stockholder value because the market price of our common stock may
decline below the levels at which we repurchased such shares. In addition, there is no guarantee that our stock repurchase plan will be able to successfully mitigate the dilutive effect of recent and future
employee stock option exercises and restricted stock vesting. Further, any failure to repurchase shares after we have announced our intention to do so may negatively impact our reputation and investor
confidence in us and may negatively impact our stock price. Although our stock repurchase program is intended to enhance long-term stockholder value, short-term stock price fluctuations could reduce the
program’s effectiveness.
Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of our company more difficult, could limit attempts to make changes in our management and
could depress the price of our common stock.
Provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws may have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control of our company or limiting changes in our management. Among other things, these
provisions:
•

provide for a classified board of directors so that not all members of our Board of Directors are elected at one time;

•

permit our Board of Directors to establish the number of directors and fill any vacancies and newly created directorships;

•

provide that directors may only be removed for cause;

•

require super-majority voting to amend some provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws;

•

authorize the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock that our Board of Directors could use to implement a stockholder rights plan;

•

eliminate the ability of our stockholders to call special meetings of stockholders;

•

prohibit stockholder action by written consent, which means all stockholder actions must be taken at a meeting of our stockholders;

•

provide that our Board of Directors is expressly authorized to amend or repeal any provision of our bylaws;

•

restrict the forum for certain litigation against us to Delaware; and

•

require advance notice for nominations for election to our Board of Directors or for proposing matters that can be acted upon by stockholders at annual stockholder meetings.

These provisions may delay or prevent attempts by our stockholders to replace members of our management by making it more difficult for stockholders to replace members of our Board of Directors, which is
responsible for appointing the members of our management. In addition, Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law (“DGCL”) may delay or prevent a change in control of our company.
Section 203 of the DGCL imposes certain restrictions on mergers, business combinations and other
34

Table of Contents

transactions between us and holders of 15% or more of our common stock. Anti-takeover provisions could depress the price of our common stock by acting to delay or prevent a change in control of our
company.
Our certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware is the exclusive forum for substantially all disputes between us and our stockholders, which could limit
our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers or employees.
Our certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware is the exclusive forum for any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, any action asserting a breach
of fiduciary duty, any action asserting a claim against us arising pursuant to the DGCL, our certificate of incorporation or our bylaws or any action asserting a claim against us that is governed by the internal
affairs doctrine. This choice of forum provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other employees and
may discourage these types of lawsuits. Alternatively, if a court were to find the choice of forum provision contained in our certificate of incorporation to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may
incur additional costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions.
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
None.
Item 2. Properties.
Our headquarters are located in Brooklyn, New York where we occupy approximately 198,635 square feet under a lease that expires in 2026. We use these facilities for our principal administration, technology
and development and engineering activities. Our European headquarters are located in Dublin, Ireland.
We believe that our current facilities are suitable and adequate to meet our ongoing needs and that, if we require additional space, we will be able to obtain additional facilities.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings.
See “ Note 15—Commitments and Contingencies — Legal Proceedings ” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
Not applicable.
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PART II.
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.
Market for Etsy's Common Stock
Our common stock has been listed on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol “ETSY” since April 16, 2015. Prior to that date, there was no public trading market for our common stock. The
following table sets forth the high and low intra-day sales price per share of our common stock as reported by Nasdaq for the periods indicated:
2017

2016

High
First Quarter

Low

$

13.61

$

High
9.41

Low

$

9.40

$

6.04

Second Quarter

15.46

9.90

10.10

Third Quarter

17.90

13.58

15.70

7.60
9.08

Fourth Quarter

21.86

15.27

16.05

10.84

Holders of Record
As of the close of business on February 23, 2018 , there were approximately 193 stockholders of record of our common stock. The number of stockholders of record is based upon the actual number of holders
registered on this date and does not include holders of common stock in “street name” by brokers or other entities on behalf of stockholders.
Dividend Policy
We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our capital stock. We intend to retain all available funds and future earnings and do not anticipate paying cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Any future
decision to declare cash dividends will be made at the discretion of our Board of Directors, subject to applicable laws and will depend on a number of factors, including our financial condition, results of
operations, capital requirements, contractual restrictions, general business conditions and other factors that our Board of Directors thinks are relevant.
Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities
On September 19, 2016, we issued 685,749 shares of our common stock to the former stockholders of Blackbird Technologies, Inc. (“Blackbird”), a machine learning company, in connection with the
acquisition of Blackbird. This transaction was exempt from registration under the Securities Act pursuant to Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act and Regulation D.
On May 5, 2016, we issued and sold an aggregate of 80,011 shares of our common stock upon the net exercise of warrants to purchase 97,931 shares of our common stock. The shares of common stock were
issued pursuant to Section 3(a)(9) of the Securities Act.
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
The table below provides information with respect to repurchases of shares of our common stock during the three months ended December 31, 2017 :

Period
October 1 - 31, 2017(1)

Total Number of Shares Purchased
90,852

November 1 - 30, 2017(1)

221,272

December 1 - 31, 2017

366,058

Total

678,182

Average Price Paid per Share(2)
$

$

Total Number of Shares Purchased
as Part of Publicly Announced
Plans or Programs(3)(4)

16.85

—

17.01

220,173

17.91

366,058

17.47

586,231

Approximate Dollar Value of Shares
that May Yet be Purchased under the
Plans or Programs
(in thousands)(3)
$

89,699
$

(1) The total number of shares purchased includes 91,951 shares withheld to satisfy tax withholding obligations in connection with the vesting of employee restricted stock units.
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(2) Average price paid per share excludes broker commissions.
(3) On November 17, 2017, we announced that our Board of Directors had approved a stock repurchase program for the repurchase of up to $100 million of our common stock. The stock repurchase
program has no expiration date.
(4) These shares were purchased pursuant to a 10b5-1 trading plan.
Performance Graph
The following graph shows a comparison from April 16, 2015 (the date our common stock commenced trading on Nasdaq) through December 31, 2017 , of the cumulative total returns for our common stock,
the Nasdaq Composite Index and the Russell 2000 Index. The graph assumes $100 was invested at the market close on April 16, 2015 in the common stock of Etsy, Inc. Such returns are based on historical
results and are not intended to suggest future performance. The Nasdaq Composite Index and Russell 2000 Index assume reinvestment of any dividends.

This performance graph shall not be deemed “filed” with the SEC for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or incorporated by reference into any of our other filings under the Securities Act or the
Exchange Act.
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Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial and Other Data.
The following tables show selected consolidated financial data. The selected Consolidated Statements of Operations data for the years ended December 31, 2017 , 2016 , and 2015 , and the selected
Consolidated Balance Sheet data as of December 31, 2017 , and 2016 , are derived from our audited consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
The selected Consolidated Statement of Operations data for the year ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the selected Consolidated Balance Sheet data as of December 31, 2015 , 2014 and 2013 is derived
from our audited consolidated financial statements and related notes not included in this Annual Report.
The following tables also show certain unaudited operational and non-GAAP financial measures as well as a reconciliation between certain GAAP and non-GAAP measures. The selected consolidated financial
data and key metrics should be read together with “ Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ” and our consolidated financial statements and related notes
included elsewhere in this Annual Report. See “ Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Key Operating and Financial Metrics ” for the definitions of the
following terms: “active buyer,” “active seller,” “Adjusted EBITDA,” “GMS,” “international GMS,” “mobile visits” and “mobile GMS.”
Our historical results and key metrics are not necessarily indicative of future results.
Year Ended December 31,
2017 (1)

2016

2015

2014

2013

(in thousands except share and per share amounts)
Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:
Revenue:
Marketplace

$

Seller Services

179,492

$

158,204

$

132,648

$

108,732

$

78,544

258,453

200,857

136,608

82,502

3,286

5,906

4,243

4,357

3,661

441,231

364,967

273,499

195,591

125,022

Cost of revenue(2)

150,986

123,328

96,979

73,633

47,779

Gross profit

290,245

241,639

176,520

121,958

77,243

Other
Total revenue

42,817

Operating expenses:
Marketing(2)

109,085

82,248

66,771

39,655

17,850

Product development(2)

74,616

55,083

42,694

36,634

27,548

General and administrative(2)

91,486

86,180

68,939

51,920

31,112

3,162

551

—

—

—

278,349

224,062

178,404

128,209

76,510

Asset impairment charges
Total operating expenses
Income (loss) from operations
Other income (expense), net

11,896

17,577

(1,884)

(6,251)

733

20,369

(20,453)

(26,110)

(4,009)

(675)

Income (loss) before income taxes

32,265

(2,876)

(27,994)

(10,260)

58

Benefit (provision) for income taxes(3)

49,535

(27,025)

(26,069)

(4,983)

(854)

Net income (loss)

$

81,800

$

(29,901)

$

(54,063)

$

(15,243)

$

(796)

Net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders:
Basic

$

0.69

$

(0.26)

$

(0.59)

$

(0.38)

$

(0.02)

$

0.68

$

(0.26)

$

(0.59)

$

(0.38)

$

(0.02)

Diluted
Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic

118,538,687

113,562,738

91,122,291

40,246,663

32,667,242

Diluted

122,267,673

113,562,738

91,122,291

40,246,663

32,667,242

(1) Includes the impact of $13.9 million in restructuring and other exit costs recognized in the year ended December 31, 2017 . For a summary of restructuring and other exit costs see “ Note 3—
Restructuring and Other Exit Costs ” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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(2) Includes total stock-based compensation expense as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2017

2016

2015

2014

2013

(in thousands)
Cost of revenue

$

1,739

$

1,057

$

871

$

1,113

$

200

Marketing

1,933

971

560

216

79

Product development

8,274

5,079

2,860

1,461

785

General and administrative

14,613

Total stock-based compensation expense

$

8,794

26,559

$

6,550

15,901

$

7,260

10,841

$

2,770

10,050

$

3,834

(3) In the year ended December 31, 2017 , we recognized an income tax benefit associated with the enactment of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Act”). As a result of the Act, our deferred taxes at
December 31, 2017 have been revalued at the reduced 21% corporate income tax rate. The revaluation resulted in a non-recurring benefit for income taxes of approximately $31.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 2017 .
Year Ended December 31,
2017

2016

2015

2014

2013

(in thousands except percentages)
Other Operational and Non-GAAP Financial Data:
GMS

$

3,253,609

$

2,841,985

$

2,388,387

$

1,931,981

$

1,347,833

Adjusted EBITDA

$

80,009

$

57,124

$

31,007

$

23,081

$

16,947

Active sellers

1,933

1,748

1,563

1,353

1,074

Active buyers

33,364

28,566

24,046

19,810

14,032

Percent mobile visits

66%

64%

60%

54%

41%

Percent mobile GMS

51%

48%

43%

37%

30%

Percent international GMS

33%

30%

30%

31%

28%

Year Ended December 31,
2017

2016

2015

2014

2013

(in thousands)
Net income (loss)

$

81,800

$

(29,901)

$

(54,063)

$

(15,243)

$

(796)

Excluding:
Interest and other non-operating expense, net

8,736

5,502

1,202

549

(49,535)

27,025

26,069

4,983

854

Depreciation and amortization

27,197

22,525

18,550

17,223

12,380

Stock-based compensation expense(4)

19,953

13,168

8,981

5,920

3,834

3,904

2,733

1,860

4,130

—

(29,105)

14,951

21,775

3,049

—

3,162

551

—

—

—

13,897

—

—

—

—

Acquisition-related expenses

—

570

—

2,059

—

Net unrealized loss on warrant and other liabilities

—

—

3,133

411

419

(Benefit) provision for income taxes

Stock-based compensation expense—acquisitions
Foreign exchange (gain) loss
Asset impairment charges
Restructuring and other exit costs

Contribution to Good Work Institute (formerly Etsy.org)
Adjusted EBITDA

—
$

80,009

—
$

57,124

3,500
$

31,007

256

—
$

23,081

—
$

(4) $2.7 million of restructuring-related stock-based compensation expense has been excluded from the year ended December 31, 2017 and is included in the restructuring and other exit costs line.
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As of December 31,
2017

2016

2015

2014

2013

(in thousands)
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments

$

340,550

$

282,086

$

292,864

$

88,843

$

54,870

Net working capital

336,787

287,024

278,932

85,608

55,764

Total assets

605,583

581,193

553,061

246,203

104,900
2,760

Deferred revenue
Long-term liabilities
Convertible preferred stock
Total stockholders’ equity

6,262

5,648

4,712

3,452

106,212

152,428

142,441

57,450

1,466

—

—

—

80,212

80,212

396,894

344,757

330,498

67,088

4,003
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations .
You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with our consolidated financial statements and related notes and other financial information
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K . This discussion, particularly information with respect to our outlook, our plans and strategy for our business and our performance and future success,
includes forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those discussed below. Factors that could cause or contribute to these differences
include those discussed below and elsewhere in this Annual Report, particularly in the “Risk Factors” section.

Overview
Business
Etsy is the global marketplace for unique and creative goods. We connect creative entrepreneurs with thoughtful consumers looking for items made by real people. Our mission is to “Keep Commerce Human.”
Our sellers are the heart and soul of Etsy, and our technology platform allows our sellers to turn their creative passions into economic opportunity. We have a seller-aligned business model: we make money
when our sellers make money. We offer a wide range of Seller Services and tools that are specifically designed to help creative entrepreneurs start, manage and scale their businesses.
Buyers tell us that they come to Etsy because Etsy sellers offer items that they can’t find anywhere else. Our goal is to encourage existing and potential buyers to visit the Etsy marketplace on “special”
purchase occasions throughout the year. These special purchase occasions include: shopping that reflects an individual's unique style; gifting that demonstrates thought and care; and celebrations that express
creativity and fun.
Our revenue is diversified, generated from a mix of marketplace activities and the services and tools we provide to Etsy sellers to help them start, manage, and scale their businesses. Marketplace revenue is
comprised of a 3.5% transaction fee an Etsy seller pays for each completed transaction and a $0.20 listing fee that she pays for each item she lists (for up to four months) on Etsy.com. Seller Services revenue is
comprised of the fees an Etsy seller pays us for our four paid Seller Services: Etsy Payments (formerly called Direct Checkout), our payment processing service; Promoted Listings, our on-site advertising
service that allows sellers to pay for prominent placement of their listings in search results; Shipping Labels, which allows sellers in the United States and Canada to purchase discounted shipping labels; and
Pattern by Etsy, a service that allows sellers to build custom websites. We generate additional revenue through our commercial partnerships.
Our strategy is focused on growing our Etsy.com marketplace in our core geographies, and owning special purchase occasions – style, gifting and celebrations – throughout the year. We believe that buyers
shop for special occasions many times throughout the year, so our goal is to have them think of Etsy more often and return of our marketplace more frequently.
We aim to empower our passionate community of 1.9 million Etsy sellers to compete and win against mass retailers for special shopping occasions. We believe that we can achieve these goals by executing on
our four key initiatives:
•

Improving trust and reliability. We want to ensure that the Etsy brand delivers trust and reliability throughout the buying experience.

•

Enhancing search and discovery . Helping buyers better navigate the over 50 million items on Etsy.com is a key area of focus.

•

Building world-class marketing capabilities . We are focused on driving traffic to Etsy. com utilizing our own marketing efforts and the efforts of our sellers, primarily through digital acquisition
marketing, search engine optimization (“SEO”), social channels and email.

•

Providing best-in-class Seller Services and tools . We plan to continue to invest in free tools and paid Seller Services to help Etsy sellers start, manage and scale their businesses.
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Year Highlights
In the year ended December 31, 2017 , we recorded revenue of $441.2 million , driven by growth in both Marketplace and Seller Services revenue, net income of $81.8 million , and non-GAAP Adjusted
EBITDA of $80.0 million . See “— Non-GAAP Financial Measures ” for more information and for a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net income (loss) , the most directly comparable financial measure
calculated in accordance with GAAP.
As of December 31, 2017 , our marketplace connected 1.9 million active Etsy sellers and 33.4 million active Etsy buyers, in nearly every country in the world. In the year ended December 31, 2017 , Etsy
sellers generated GMS of $3.3 billion , of which approximately 51% came from purchases made on mobile devices. We are a global company and 33% of our GMS in the year ended December 31, 2017 came
from transactions where either an Etsy seller or an Etsy buyer was located outside of the United States.
During the year, we launched the following new features and tools focused on our four key initiatives:
•

Improving trust and reliability: We added a Best Seller badge, a new structured return policy for sellers and Multishop checkout.

•

Enhancing search and discovery: We launched Context Specific Search Ranking, which leverages transactional and user data to create a more personalized search experience, and Guided Search,
which helps buyers narrow search results through suggested search reformulations. We also launched scarcity badges to alert buyers when items are available only in limited quantities.

•

Building world-class marketing capabilities: We are in the process of migrating our email marketing system to a new customer relationship management (“CRM”), system to allow us to send more
personalized and targeted emails to buyers. Additionally, we continue to invest in digital acquisition marketing, in which we invest primarily in Google product listing ads and search engine marketing.

•

Providing best-in-class Seller Services and tools: We transitioned nearly all sellers in eligible countries to Etsy Payments, optimized Promoted Listings with additional inventory and improved
algorithms, and allowed sellers to list items on their Pattern site that are not listed in the Etsy marketplace. Additionally, we launched a tool that allows sellers to create sales and run promotions for
items in their shops, which allowed us to host our first-ever site-wide sales over Labor Day and Cyber week.

As part of the restructuring plan approved by our Board of Directors in the second quarter of 2017 (the “Actions”), we closed the A Little Market (“ALM”) platform, the ALM office in Paris, France and our
office in Melbourne, Australia in 2017. As a result of the Actions, we have identified approximately $20 million in 2017 expense reductions, which are expected to result in approximately $35 million in
annualized cost savings. These savings are being realized through a combination of headcount reductions, and reduced third-party expenses and programming costs. During the year ended December 31, 2017
we recognized restructuring and other exit costs of $13.9 million . Please refer to “ Note 3—Restructuring and Other Exit Costs ” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional detail about
the Actions.
In the fourth quarter of 2017, we made the decision to discontinue certain product offerings, including Etsy Studio, our craft supplies marketplace launched in April 2017, and Etsy Manufacturing, our offering
to connect Etsy sellers with production partners, which resulted in the recognition of a $3.2 million impairment charge to write the related capitalized web development and internal-use software assets down to
zero. This decision was based on our strategy to focus on the growth of the Etsy.com marketplace.
Additionally, in the fourth quarter of 2017, we began working on an initiative to migrate our data centers to the cloud, which we believe will help accelerate our search and machine learning capabilities and
enhance our infrastructure. We expect this initiative to last approximately two years. While this initiative is underway, we will be incurring implementation costs and costs associated with maintaining our
current data center infrastructure. Our current data center infrastructure is supported by capital expenditures, which are amortized over three years, whereas costs associated with the operation of the cloud
infrastructure will be expensed as incurred in cost of revenue on the Consolidated Statement of Operations. We expect to spend approximately $10 million to $15 million in 2018 on the migration while
reducing capital expenditures related to the maintenance of our existing data center infrastructure by $4 million to $5 million compared with 2017. Once we have fully migrated to the cloud, we expect our total
cash costs will decrease compared to our standalone data center infrastructure.
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Key Operating and Financial Metrics
We collect and analyze operating and financial data to evaluate the health of our ecosystem, allocate our resources (such as capital, people and technology investments) and assess the performance of our
business. The unaudited non-GAAP financial measure and key operating and financial metrics we use are:
Year Ended December 31,
2017

Year Ended December
31,

% Growth
Y/Y

2016

2015

% Growth
Y/Y

(in thousands except percentages)
GMS

$

3,253,609

$

2,841,985

14.5%

$

2,388,387

19.0%

Revenue

$

441,231

$

364,967

20.9%

$

273,499

33.4%

Marketplace revenue

$

179,492

$

158,204

13.5%

$

132,648

19.3%

Seller Services revenue

$

258,453

$

200,857

28.7%

$

136,608

47.0%

Net income (loss)

$

81,800

$

(29,901)

373.6%

$

(54,063)

44.7%

Adjusted EBITDA

$

80,009

$

57,124

40.1%

$

31,007

84.2%

Active sellers

1,933

1,748

10.6%

1,563

11.8%

Active buyers

33,364

28,566

16.8%

24,046

18.8%

Percent mobile visits

66%

64%

200 bps

60%

400 bps

Percent mobile GMS

51%

48%

300 bps

43%

500 bps

Percent international GMS

33%

30%

300 bps

30%

—

GMS
Gross merchandise sales (“GMS”) is the dollar value of items sold in our marketplace within the applicable period, excluding shipping fees and net of refunds associated with canceled transactions. GMS does
not represent revenue earned by Etsy. GMS is driven by transactions in our marketplace and is not directly impacted by Seller Services activity. However, because our revenue and cost of revenue depend
significantly on the dollar value of items sold in our marketplace, we believe that GMS is an indicator of the success of Etsy sellers, the satisfaction of Etsy buyers, the health of our ecosystem and the scale and
growth of our business.
Adjusted EBITDA
Adjusted EBITDA represents our net income (loss) adjusted to exclude: depreciation and amortization ; stock-based compensation expense ; provision (benefit) for income taxes ; foreign exchange (gain) loss ;
asset impairment charges ; acquisition-related expenses ; restructuring and other exit costs related to the Actions; contributions to Good Work Institute (formerly Etsy.org) ; interest and other non-operating
expense, net ; and net unrealized loss on warrant and other liabilities . See “ Non-GAAP Financial Measures ” for more information regarding our use of Adjusted EBITDA, including its limitations as a
financial measure, and for a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net income (loss) , the most directly comparable financial measure calculated in accordance with GAAP.
Active Sellers
An active seller is an Etsy seller who has incurred at least one charge from us in the last 12 months. Charges include transaction fees, listing fees and fees for Etsy Payments, Promoted Listings, Shipping
Labels, Pattern and Google Shopping. An Etsy seller is identified by a unique e-mail address; a single person can have multiple Etsy seller accounts. We succeed when Etsy sellers succeed, so we view the
number of active sellers as a key indicator of the awareness of our brand, the reach of our platform, the potential for growth in GMS and revenue and the health of our ecosystem.
Active Buyers
An active buyer is an Etsy buyer who has made at least one purchase in the last 12 months. An Etsy buyer is identified by a unique e-mail address; a single person can have multiple Etsy buyer accounts. We
generate revenue when Etsy buyers order items from Etsy sellers, so we view the number of active buyers as a key indicator of our potential for growth in GMS and revenue, the reach of our platform,
awareness of our brand, the engagement and loyalty of Etsy buyers and the health of our ecosystem.
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Mobile Visits
A visit represents activity from a unique browser or mobile app. A visit ends after 30 minutes of inactivity. A mobile visit is a visit that occurs on a mobile device, such as a tablet or a smartphone. Etsy sellers
are increasingly using mobile devices to manage their listings and track their business performance on our platform. In addition, Etsy buyers increasingly use mobile devices to search, browse and purchase
items on our platform. We view percent mobile visits as a key indicator of the level of engagement of Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers on our mobile website and mobile apps and of our ability to sustain GMS and
revenue.
Mobile GMS
Mobile GMS is GMS that results from a transaction completed on a mobile device, such as a tablet or a smartphone. Mobile GMS excludes ALM and Etsy Wholesale and orders initiated on mobile devices but
ultimately completed on a desktop. When calculating percent mobile GMS, we do not take into account refunds associated with canceled transactions. We believe that mobile GMS indicates our success in
converting mobile activity into mobile purchases and demonstrates our ability to grow GMS and revenue.
International GMS
International GMS is GMS from transactions where either the billing address for the Etsy seller or the shipping address for the Etsy buyer at the time of sale is outside of the United States. When calculating
percent international GMS, we do not take into account refunds associated with canceled transactions. We believe that international GMS shows the level of engagement of our community outside the United
States and demonstrates our ability to grow GMS and revenue.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures
Adjusted EBITDA
In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we provide Adjusted EBITDA, a non-GAAP financial measure that represents our net income (loss) adjusted to exclude: depreciation and amortization ; stock-based
compensation expense ; provision (benefit) for income taxes ; foreign exchange (gain) loss ; asset impairment charges ; acquisition-related expenses ; restructuring and other exit costs related to the Actions;
contributions to Good Work Institute (formerly Etsy.org) ; interest and other non-operating expense, net and net unrealized loss on warrant and other liabilities . Below is a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA
to net income (loss) , the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure.
We have included Adjusted EBITDA because it is a key measure used by our management and Board of Directors to evaluate our operating performance and trends, allocate internal resources, prepare and
approve our annual budget, develop short- and long-term operating plans, determine incentive compensation and assess the health of our business. As our Adjusted EBITDA increases, we are able to invest
more in our platform.
We believe that Adjusted EBITDA can provide a useful measure for period-to-period comparisons of our business as it removes the impact of certain non-cash items and certain variable charges.
Adjusted EBITDA has limitations as an analytical tool, and you should not consider it in isolation or as a substitute for analysis of our results as reported under GAAP. Some of these limitations are:
•

although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized may have to be replaced in the future, and Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect cash capital
expenditure requirements for such replacements or for new capital expenditure requirements;

•

Adjusted EBITDA does not consider the impact of stock-based compensation expense or changes in the fair value of warrants;

•

Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect tax payments that may represent a reduction in cash available to us;

•

Adjusted EBITDA does not consider the impact of foreign exchange (gain) loss ;

•

Adjusted EBITDA does not consider the impact of asset impairment charges ;

•

Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect acquisition-related expenses ;
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•

Adjusted EBITDA does not consider the impact of restructuring and other exit costs related to the Actions;

•

Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect the impact of our contributions to Good Work Institute (formerly Etsy.org) ;

•

Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect other non-operating expenses, net of other non-operating income, including net interest expense; and

•

other companies, including companies in our industry, may calculate Adjusted EBITDA differently, which reduces its usefulness as a comparative measure.

Because of these limitations, you should consider Adjusted EBITDA alongside other financial performance measures, including net income (loss) and our other GAAP results.
The following table reflects the reconciliation of net income (loss) to Adjusted EBITDA for each of the periods indicated:
Year Ended December 31,
2017

2016

2015

(in thousands)
Net income (loss)

$

81,800

$

(29,901)

$

(54,063)

Excluding:
Interest and other no n-operating expense, net(1)

8,736

5,502

1,202

(49,535)

27,025

26,069

Depreciation and amortization(1)

27,197

22,525

18,550

Stock-based compensation expense(2)

19,953

13,168

8,981

3,904

2,733

1,860

(29,105)

14,951

21,775

Provision (benefit) for income taxes

Stock-based compensation expense—acquisitions
Foreign exchange (gain) loss
Asset impairment charges

3,162

551

—

13,897

—

—

Acquisition-related expenses

—

570

—

Net unrealized loss on warrant and other liabilities

—

—

3,133

Restructuring and other exit costs(3)

Contribution to Good Work Institute (formerly Etsy.org)(4)
Adjusted EBITDA

—
$

80,009

—
$

57,124

3,500
$

31,007

(1) Included in interest and depreciation expense amounts above are interest and depreciation expense related to our new headquarters under build-to-suit accounting requirements, which commenced in May
2016. For the year s ended December 31, 2017 , 2016 and 2015 those amounts are as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2017

2016

2015

(in thousands)
Interest expense

$

9,000

Depreciation

$

5,337

3,276

$

—

2,186

—

(2) $2.7 million of restructuring-related stock-based compensation expense has been excluded from the year ended December 31, 2017 and is included in the restructuring and other exit costs line. See
footnote (3) below. Total stock-based compensation expense included in the Consolidated Statements of Operations is as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2017

2016

2015

(in thousands)
Cost of revenue

$

1,739

$

1,057

$

871

Marketing

1,933

971

560

Product development

8,274

5,079

2,860

General and administrative
Total stock-based compensation expense

14,613
$

45

26,559

8,794
$

15,901

6,550
$

10,841
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(3) Total restructuring and other exit costs included in the Consolidated Statements of Operations are as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2017

2016

2015

(in thousands)
Cost of revenue

$

738

$

—

$

—

Marketing

2,950

—

—

Product development

3,232

—

—

General and administrative

6,977

—

Total restructuring and other exit costs

$

13,897

$

—

—
$

—

(4) Etsy made a one-time contribution of 188,235 shares of common stock totaling $3.2 million and $0.3 million to Good Work Institute (formerly Etsy.org) during the first and second quarters of 2015,
respectively.
Consolidated Statement of Operations Line Items Excluding Restructuring and Other Exit Costs
In the second quarter of 2017, the Board of Directors approved plans to increase efficiency and streamline our cost structure and improve focus on key strategic growth opportunities (the “Actions”). In this
Annual Report, we discuss certain financial statement line items excluding restructuring and other exit costs, each non-GAAP financial measure that represents the income statement line item adjusted to
exclude restructuring and other exit costs incurred in the year ended December 31, 2017 .
We have included these financial statement line items excluding restructuring and other exit costs because the Actions were unusual and do not necessarily reflect the ongoing trends in these financial statement
line items. We believe that these non-GAAP measures can provide a useful measure for period-to-period comparisons of our business as they remove the impact of the Actions.
These non-GAAP measures have limitations as analytical tools, and you should not consider them in isolation or as a substitute for analysis of our results as reported under GAAP. Some of these limitations are:
•

many of these costs were or will be settled in cash;

•

there is no certainty that restructuring and other exit costs will not recur; and

•

other companies, including companies in our industry, may adjust for similar items in a different manner, or may not exclude such charges, which reduces its usefulness as a comparative measure.

Because of these limitations, you should consider these non-GAAP measures alongside other financial performance measures, including the GAAP financial statement line items.
Reconciliation of GAAP Consolidated Statement of Operations Line Items to Non-GAAP Line Items Excluding Restructuring and Other Exit Costs
The following table reflects the reconciliation of each affected GAAP line item of the consolidated statement of operations to the non-GAAP line item excluding restructuring and other exit costs for each of the
periods indicated:
Year Ended December 31, 2017
As Reported

Excluding Restructuring and Other Exit
Costs

Restructuring and Other Exit Costs
(in thousands)

Revenue

$

Cost of revenue
Gross profit

441,231

$

—

$

441,231

150,986

738

150,248

290,245

738

290,983

Operating expenses:
Marketing

109,085

2,950

106,135

Product development

74,616

3,232

71,384

General and administrative

91,486

6,977

84,509

Asset impairment charges

3,162

—

3,162

278,349

13,159

265,190

Total operating expenses
Income from operations

$

11,896

46

$

13,897

$

25,793
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Key Factors Affecting Our Performance
We believe that our performance and future success depend on a number of factors that present significant opportunities for us but also pose risks and challenges, including those discussed in the section titled “
Risk Factors .”
Growth and Retention of Active Sellers and Active Buyers
Our success depends in part on the growth and retention of our active sellers and active buyers. Our revenue is driven by the number of active sellers, seller engagement, the number of active buyers, buyer
engagement and our ability to maintain a trusted marketplace. As of December 31, 2017 , our marketplace had grown to 1.9 million active sellers and 33.4 million active buyers, up from 1.7 million active
sellers and 28.6 million active buyers as of December 31, 2016 . We believe two of our most significant opportunities to drive growth within our marketplace are to bring new buyers to Etsy and to encourage
existing buyers to return more frequently. Repeat purchases demonstrate the loyalty of Etsy buyers. In 2017 , approximately 39.6% of our active buyers made purchases on two or more days in the previous 12
months, down from 41.0% in 2016 . We aim to increase repeat purchases by building trust in the Etsy brand and removing friction from the buying experience to improve conversion rates on the platform.
To analyze our retention rates, we measure repeat activity by Active Sellers (sellers who have incurred at least one charge from us in the past 12 months) and Active Buyers (buyers who have made at least one
purchase through Etsy in the last 12 months).
47

Table of Contents

Cohort of 2014, 2013, 2012 and 2011 Active Sellers
We refer to active sellers as of December 31, 2014 as “2014 Active Sellers,” as of December 31, 2013 as “2013 Active Sellers,” as of December 31, 2012 as “2012 Active Sellers” and December 31, 2011 as
“2011 Active Sellers.” Of the 2014 Active Sellers, 31.8% remained active sellers through their fourth year on the platform, compared to 31.5% for 2013 Active Sellers, 32.3% for 2012 Active Sellers and 32.3%
for 2011 Active Sellers. The average annual GMS per 2014 Active Seller during their fourth year on the platform was over three times higher than their first year, compared to almost four times higher for 2013
Active Sellers, over four times higher for 2012 Active Sellers and over five times higher for 2011 Active Sellers.

Cohort of 2014, 2013, 2012 and 2011 Active Sellers

These cohort data demonstrate our success in retaining sellers over a multi-year period, with the sellers that remain on our platform maintaining consistent GMS growth.
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Cohort of 2014, 2013, 2012 and 2011 Active Buyers
We refer to active buyers as of December 31, 2014 as “2014 Active Buyers,” as of December 31, 2013 as “2013 Active Buyers,” as of December 31, 2012 as “2012 Active Buyers” and as of December 31,
2011 as “2011 Active Buyers.” Of total 2014 Active Buyers, 38.7% remained active buyers through their fourth year on the platform, compared to 41.1% for 2013 Active Buyers, 42.5% for 2012 Active Buyers
and 44.7% for 2011 Active Buyers. The average annual GMS per 2014 Active Buyer during their fourth year on the platform was 70% higher than their first year, compared to 81% for 2013 Active Buyers,
88% for 2012 Active Buyers and 89% for 2011 Active Buyers. We note that 2013 was the first year we started to significantly invest in our paid acquisition marketing efforts to grow our buyer base.

Cohort of 2014, 2013, 2012 and 2011 Active Buyers

These cohort data demonstrate our ability to consistently retain buyers over a multi-year period and reflects the loyalty of our buyer base. We have identified our ability to increase purchase frequency among
these long-term buyers as one of our significant opportunities for growth and we are focused on improving search and recommendations to better match our buyers with the 50 million items listed on Etsy.com,
driving buyer growth and retention.
Seller Services Growth
We have a seller-aligned business model: we make money when Etsy sellers make money. We aim to empower Etsy sellers to compete and win against mass retailers during special shopping occasions. To
achieve this, we continue to invest our resources in developing a cohesive platform of Seller Services and tools that help sellers start, manage and scale their businesses. As of December 31, 2017 , 54.3% of
active sellers used one or more of our Seller Services compared to 51.7% of active sellers as of December 31, 2016 . For December 31, 2017 , this included 49.9% of active sellers using Etsy Payments, 15.0%
of active sellers using Promoted Listings, 28.1% of active sellers in the United States and Canada using Shipping Labels and 2.5% of active
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sellers using Pattern. Additionally, in 2017 approximately 85% of GMS was processed through Etsy Payments compared to 78% in 2016 , primarily due to the transition of nearly all sellers in eligible countries
to Etsy Payments.
Investment in Marketing
We are focusing on initiatives to shape perceptions of our marketplace as the go-to shopping destination for special purchase occasions by investing primarily in digital acquisition and other marketing
initiatives, and in our team to support marketing activities. Within digital acquisition marketing, we align our investments in accordance with our lifetime value model, which is a prediction of the GMS
attributed to each buyer over a two-year time frame, and make conservative assumptions about how paid traffic will perform compared with organic traffic. We remain committed to achieving positive return on
investment at the aggregate company level on our marketing spend and maintaining a marketing payback period that continues to satisfy our lifetime value model. Over time, we believe this will help us attract
new buyers and also encourage existing buyers to make more frequent purchases. In 2017 , we spent $109.1 million on marketing expenses, or 24.7% of revenue, up 32.6% over 2016 . In 2016 , we spent $82.2
million on marketing expenses, or 22.5% of revenue, up 23.2% over 2015 .
Investment in Technology
Our engineering team has built a sophisticated platform that enables millions of Etsy sellers and Etsy buyers to smoothly transact across borders, languages and devices. We have made, and will continue to
make, significant investments in our platform to attract buyers and sellers to our marketplace and enhance their experience. In the fourth quarter of 2017, we began working on an initiative to migrate our data
centers to the cloud, which we believe will help accelerate our search and machine learning capabilities and enhance our infrastructure. While this initiative is underway, we will incur implementation costs in
addition to costs associated with maintaining our current infrastructure. We expect this initiative to last approximately two years. In September 2016, we acquired Blackbird Technologies, Inc., (“Blackbird”), a
machine learning company, and, during 2017, fully integrated it into our search team. During 2017 , we launched Context Specific Search Ranking, which leverages our internal data to create a more
personalized search experience, and Guided Search, which helps buyers narrow search results through suggested search reformulations. In 2017 , we spent $74.6 million on product development expenses, or
16.9% of revenue, up 35.5% over 2016 and in 2016 , we spent $55.1 million on product development expenses, or 15.1% of revenue, up 29.0% over 2015 . In addition, we capitalized website development and
internal-use software costs, including stock-based compensation, of $10.8 million and $12.6 million in 2017 and 2016 , respectively. We plan to continue to invest in innovation to address the needs of our
community and increase our efforts to recruit and hire employees to work on our engineering teams.
Investment in Connected Experience—Mobile and Desktop
We want to engage Etsy buyers wherever they are and to provide an enjoyable and connected shopping experience no matter what device they use to access our marketplace. We are a mobile-first company,
meaning mobile is integrated into everything that we do, and expanding our mobile capabilities is an important focus area. Our mobile website and our “Buy on Etsy” mobile app for Etsy buyers include search,
discovery, curation, personalization and social shopping features, optimized for a personal mobile experience. Mobile visits represented 66% of total visits in 2017 compared to 64% of total visits in 2016 . In
addition, mobile GMS was 51% of total GMS in 2017 , up from 48% of total GMS in 2016 . We are focused on continuing to narrow the gap between mobile visits and mobile GMS in 2017.
International Growth
Our growth will depend in part on international Etsy sellers and international Etsy buyers constituting an increasing portion of our community. Our vision is global and local. Etsy.com is available in 10
languages and supports buyers and sellers in nearly every country in the world. International GMS was 33% of total GMS in 2017 compared to 30% in 2016 . We expect international GMS to grow faster than
U.S. GMS in 2018 , assuming that currency remains stable compared to average levels in December 2017 , driven by our efforts to build local communities and foster local connections. In 2017 , 35.1% of Etsy
sellers were located outside the United States. Cross-border transactions is the largest component of international GMS and we remain committed to reducing barriers such as language and currency so that
sellers and buyers from different countries can easily connect and transact. We are also focused on building and deepening local Etsy communities around the world, each with its own ecosystem of Etsy sellers
and Etsy buyers. GMS generated between a non-U.S. buyer and a non-U.S. seller both in the same country grew approximately 45% in 2017 compared with 2016 , making it the fastest growing category of
international GMS. To meet our goals, we plan to continue to invest in local marketing and other locally-relevant tools and enhancements, such as local search boost, to encourage these connections around the
world.
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Components of Our Results of Operations
Revenue
Our revenue consists of Marketplace revenue, Seller Services revenue and Other revenue.
Marketplace revenue. Marketplace revenue is primarily comprised of the 3.5% transaction fee that an Etsy seller pays for each completed transaction, exclusive of shipping fees charged, and the listing fee of
$0.20 she pays for each item she lists (for up to four months) on Etsy.com.
Seller Services revenue. Seller Services revenue is comprised of the fees our sellers pay Etsy for our four paid services: Etsy Payments (formerly called Direct Checkout), Promoted Listings, Shipping Labels
and Pattern.
•

Revenue from Etsy Payments consists of fees an Etsy seller pays us to process credit, debit and Etsy Gift Card payments. Etsy Payments fees vary between 3-4% of the item’s total sale price plus a flat fee
per order, depending on the country in which her bank account is located. Etsy Payments fees are based on an item’s total sale price, including shipping.

•

Revenue from Promoted Listings consists of cost-per-click fees an Etsy seller pays us for prominent placement of her listings in search results generated by Etsy buyers in our marketplace.

•

Revenue from Shipping Labels consists of fees an Etsy seller pays us when she purchases shipping labels directly through our platform, net of the cost we incur in purchasing those shipping labels. We are
able to provide our sellers shipping labels from the United States Postal Service, FedEx and Canada Post at discounted pricing due to the volume of purchases through our platform.

•

Revenue from Pattern consists of monthly subscription and annual domain registration fees an Etsy seller pays to use our custom website services.

Other revenue. Other revenue includes the fees we receive from commercial partnerships.
Our revenue recognition policies are discussed under “— Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates .”
Cost of Revenue
Cost of revenue primarily consists of the cost of interchange and other fees for credit card processing services, credit card verification service fees, credit card chargebacks to support Etsy Payments revenue and
costs of refunds made to Etsy buyers that we are not able to collect from Etsy sellers. Cost of revenue also includes expenses associated with the operation and maintenance of our platform and data centers,
including depreciation and amortization, employee-related costs and hosting and bandwidth costs. Our cost of revenue as a percentage of revenue may change over time as our revenue mix changes; for
example, to the extent that Etsy Payments revenue increases as a percentage of revenue, there may be a dampening effect on our gross margin, as Etsy Payments is a lower margin product compared to our other
offerings.
Operating Expenses
Operating expenses consist of marketing, product development, general and administrative expenses and asset impairment charges. Direct and indirect employee-related expenses are the most significant
component of the product development and general and administrative expense categories. We include stock-based compensation expense in the applicable operating expense category based on the respective
equity award recipient’s function. We include restructuring and other exit costs related to the Actions in the applicable operating expense category of the impacted function.
Marketing . Marketing expenses largely consist of direct marketing and indirect employee-related expenses to support our marketing initiatives. Direct marketing includes digital marketing, brand marketing,
seller lifecycle and growth activities, public relations and communications and marketing partnerships. Digital marketing primarily consists of targeted promotional campaigns through electronic channels, such
as product listing ads, search engine marketing, affiliate programs and display advertising which are focused on buyer acquisition and brand marketing.
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Product development . Product development expenses consist primarily of employee-related expenses for our engineering, product management, product design and product research activities. Additional
expenses include consulting costs related to the development, quality assurance and testing of new technology and enhancement of our existing technology.
General and administrative . General and administrative expenses consist primarily of employee-related expenses for our general corporate functions. General and administrative expenses also include costs
associated with the use of facilities and equipment, including depreciation and amortization, office overhead and certain professional services expenses.
Asset impairment charges. Asset impairment charges consist primarily of non-cash charges related to our decisions to discontinue certain product offerings and the impairment of the related capitalized web
development and internal-use software costs.
Other Income (Expense), net
Other income (expense), net consists of interest expense, interest and other income, foreign exchange gain (loss) and net unrealized loss on warrant and other liabilities .
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Results of Operations
The following tables show our results of operations for the periods presented and express the relationship of certain line items as a percentage of revenue for those periods. The period-to-period comparison of
financial results is not necessarily indicative of future results.
Year Ended
December 31,
2017

2016

2015

(in thousands)
Revenue:
Marketplace

$

179,492

Seller Services

$

158,204

$

132,648

258,453

200,857

3,286

5,906

4,243

441,231

364,967

273,499

Cost of revenue

150,986

123,328

96,979

Gross profit

290,245

241,639

176,520

Other
Total revenue

136,608

Operating expenses:
Marketing

109,085

82,248

66,771

Product development

74,616

55,083

42,694

General and administrative

91,486

86,180

68,939

Asset impairment charges

3,162

551

—

278,349

224,062

178,404

Total operating expenses
Income (loss) from operations

11,896

17,577

(1,884)

Other income (expense), net

20,369

(20,453)

(26,110)

Income (loss) before income taxes

32,265

(2,876)

(27,994)

Benefit (provision) for income taxes

49,535

(27,025)

Net income (loss)

$

81,800

$

(29,901)

(26,069)
$

(54,063)

Year Ended
December 31,
2017

2016

2015

Revenue:
Marketplace

40.7%

43.3 %

48.5 %

Seller Services

58.6

55.0

49.9

0.7

1.6

1.6

100.0

100.0

100.0

Cost of revenue

34.2

33.8

35.5

Gross profit

65.8

66.2

64.5

Marketing

24.7

22.5

24.4

Product development

16.9

15.1

15.6

General and administrative

20.7

23.6

25.2

Asset impairment charges

0.7

0.2

—

63.1

61.4

65.2
(0.7)

Other
Total revenue

Operating expenses:

Total operating expenses
Income (loss) from operations

2.7

4.8

Other income (expense), net

4.6

(5.6)

(9.5)

Income (loss) before income taxes

7.3

(0.8)

(10.2)

Benefit (provision) for income taxes

11.2

(7.4)

Net income (loss)

18.5%

(8.2)%
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Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016
Revenue
Year Ended
December 31,
2017

Change
2016

$

%

(in thousands except percentages)
Revenue:
Marketplace

$

179,492

Percentage of total revenue
Seller Services

$

258,453

Percentage of total revenue
Other

$

3,286

$

441,231

$

21,288

13.5 %

200,857

$

57,596

28.7 %

$

(2,620)

(44.4)%

$

76,264

20.9 %

55.0%
$

0.7%
$

158,204
43.3%

58.6%

Percentage of total revenue
Total revenue

$

40.7%

5,906
1.6%

$

364,967

GMS increased $ 411.6 million , or 14.5% , to $ 3.3 billion in the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016 . On a currency-neutral basis (excluding the direct impact of
currency translation on GMS from goods that are not listed in U.S. dollars) GMS growth for the year ended December 31, 2017 would have been 14.3% , or approximately 20 basis points lower than the
reported 14.5% growth. Supporting this growth in GMS, active sellers increased 10.6% to 1.9 million and active buyers increased 16.8% to 33.4 million at December 31, 2017 compared to December 31, 2016 .
In the year ended December 31, 2017 , GMS from new buyers represented approximately 19% of overall GMS, a slight decrease compared to last year.
During the year ended December 31, 2017 , percent mobile visits increased as a percentage of total visits to approximately 66% , up from approximately 64% for the year ended December 31, 2016 and mobile
GMS increased as a percentage of total GMS to approximately 51% , up from approximately 48% for the year ended December 31, 2016 . We believe these increases were a result of increased mobile traffic
and, to a lesser extent, continued improvements in our mobile offerings for Etsy buyers. Mobile web accounted for approximately 46% of overall visits and continued to be the largest driver of both overall
visits growth and mobile GMS growth. Mobile GMS growth during the year ended December 31, 2017 was approximately 22% , with mobile web and mobile app GMS each continuing to grow faster than
desktop GMS during the year. Mobile GMS continued to grow faster than mobile visits and, as a result, the gap between mobile visits and mobile GMS narrowed slightly. Year-over-year, mobile conversion
rates continued to grow faster than desktop conversion rates. We anticipate conversion and visit growth across both mobile and desktop in 2018. We believe conversion growth will be primarily driven by
product enhancements focused on the buying experience.
For the year ended December 31, 2017 , international GMS increased as a percentage of total GMS to 33% , from 30% for the year ended December 31, 2016 . During the year ended December 31, 2017 , the
growth in percent international GMS was largely driven by continued GMS growth between U.S. buyers and international sellers, and buyers and sellers outside of the U.S., both in the same country and crossborder. GMS growth between international buyers and sellers in the same country remains the fastest growing category of international GMS, up approximately 45% year-over-year during the year ended
December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016 . International GMS was up approximately 23% in the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016 ,
growing faster than overall GMS. We expect international GMS to continue to grow faster than overall GMS, driven by global product enhancements and international marketplace activity between buyers and
sellers in the same country.
Revenue increased $ 76.3 million , or 20.9% , to $ 441.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016 , of which 58.6% consisted of Seller Services revenue and
40.7% consisted of Marketplace revenue.
Marketplace revenue increased $ 21.3 million , or 13.5% , to $ 179.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016 . As our GMS increased , our Marketplace
revenue increased , primarily due to growth in transaction fee revenue, up 14.1%, and, to a lesser extent, an increase in listing fee revenue, up 12.3%. Marketplace revenue increased at a slower rate than GMS
primarily due to the issuance of free listings for promotional activities focused on driving growth in our international markets in the second half of 2017, including listings granted for the transition of our ALM
sellers to the Etsy marketplace.
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Seller Services revenue increased $ 57.6 million , or 28.7% , to $ 258.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016 . The growth in Seller Services revenue
was primarily driven by an increase in revenue from Etsy Payments, up 31.6%, largely driven by overall GMS growth trends and increased seller adoption. The share of GMS processed through our Etsy
Payments platform was 85% , for the year ended December 31, 2017 , up from 78% in the year ended December 31, 2016 , primarily due to the transition of nearly all sellers in eligible countries to the
platform. Seller Services revenue also benefited from the growth in revenue from Promoted Listings, up 25.0%, and, to a lesser extent, Shipping Labels, up 16.7%, and Pattern, up 84.8%. The increase in
Promoted Listings revenue was due to higher click volume and overall product enhancements. The increase in Shipping Label revenue reflects a combination of an increase in label volume, up 12.4%, and an
increase in average margin per label, up 4.3%. The increase in Pattern revenue was primarily due to the incremental monthly paid subscription periods in 2017 , as the product launched in April 2016, with the
first paid subscriptions beginning in May 2016. Seller Services revenue continued to outpace growth in Marketplace revenue during 2017. As of December 31, 2017 , 54.3% of active sellers use one or more of
our Seller Services compared to 51.7% of active sellers as of December 31, 2016 . At December 31, 2017 , 49.9% of active sellers used Etsy Payments, 15.0% of active sellers used Promoted Listings, 28.1% of
active sellers in the United States and Canada used Shipping Labels and 2.5% of active sellers used Pattern. In 2018, we expect Seller Services revenue to grow at a faster pace than Marketplace revenue, as we
add enhancements and features to our portfolio of services and increase our efforts to grow seller adoption.
Other revenue decreased $ 2.6 million , or 44.4% , to $ 3.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016 , mainly due to a decrease in revenue from accumulated
unused gift card funds received from our third-party service provider, down 73.4%. In the year ended December 31, 2016 , we recognized $1.7 million in revenue from accumulated unused gift cards, which
represented the three-year cumulative value of gift cards that the third-party service provider has concluded are not likely to be redeemed. In 2017, unused gift card revenue was recognized monthly as earned
and is not anticipated to be significant in future periods. In addition, processing fees from PayPal, a third-party payment processor, decreased 30.2% as a result of the transition of nearly all sellers in eligible
countries to Etsy Payments in 2017.
Cost of Revenue
Year Ended
December 31,
2017

Change
2016

$

%

(in thousands except percentages)
Cost of revenue

$

150,986

Percentage of total revenue

$

123,328

34.2%

$

27,658

22.4%

33.8%

Cost of revenue increased $ 27.7 million , or 22.4% , to $ 151.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016 , primarily as a result of additional costs to support
the increase in Etsy Payments revenue and, to a lesser extent, an increase in employee-related costs. Cost of revenue increased as a percentage of revenue primarily due to an increase in professional services
expenses related to customer service support. Restructuring and other exit costs of $0.7 million associated with the Actions were included in cost of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2017 .
Operating Expenses
There were a total of 744 employees on December 31, 2017 , compared with 1,043 on December 31, 2016 , reflecting headcount reductions associated with the Actions.
Marketing
Year Ended
December 31,
2017

Change
2016

$

%

(in thousands except percentages)
Marketing

$

109,085

Percentage of total revenue

24.7%

$

82,248

$

26,837

32.6%

22.5%

Marketing expenses increased $ 26.8 million , or 32.6% , to $ 109.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016 , primarily as a result of increased spend on
digital marketing related to buyer acquisition, and
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an increase in employee-related expenses in our marketing team, including $3.0 million of restructuring and other exit costs associated with the Actions. In 2017 , paid GMS attributable to our marketing efforts
grew 31% compared to 2016.
Product development
Year Ended
December 31,
2017

Change
2016

$

%

(in thousands except percentages)
Product development

$

74,616

Percentage of total revenue

$

55,083

16.9%

$

19,533

35.5%

15.1%

Product development expenses increased $ 19.5 million , or 35.5% , to $ 74.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016 , primarily as a result of an increase
in employee-related expenses in our product and engineering teams, up $10.3 million, including $3.2 million of restructuring and other exit costs associated with the Actions, and $6.2 million of additional
expenses resulting from the acquisition of Blackbird in September 2016.
General and administrative
Year Ended
December 31,
2017

Change
2016

$

%

(in thousands except percentages)
General and administrative

$

91,486

Percentage of total revenue

$

86,180

20.7%

$

5,306

6.2%

23.6%

General and administrative expenses increased $5.3 million , or 6.2% , to $ 91.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016 , primarily driven by an increase
in employee-related expenses, including $7.0 million of restructuring and other exit costs associated with the Actions. This increase was partially offset by decreases in professional services and office overhead
expenses.
Asset impairment charges
Year Ended
December 31,
2017

Change
2016

$

%

(in thousands except percentages)
Asset impairment charges

$

3,162

Percentage of total revenue

0.7%

$

551

$

2,611

473.9%

0.2%

Asset impairment charges increased $2.6 million , or 473.9% , to $3.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016 . In the fourth quarter of 2017, we made the
decision to discontinue certain product offerings, including Etsy Studio and Etsy Manufacturing,which resulted in the recognition of a $3.2 million impairment charge to write the related capitalized web
development and internal-use software assets down to zero. This decision was based on our strategy to focus on the growth of the Etsy.com marketplace. This compares to $0.6 million in the year ended
December 31, 2016 , related to the impairment of nonrecoverable intangible assets acquired in the ALM and Grand St. acquisitions for customer relationships and trademarks.
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Other Income (Expense), net
Year Ended
December 31,
2017

Change
2016

$

%

(in thousands except percentages)
Other income (expense), net

$

20,369

Percentage of total revenue

$

(20,453)

4.6%

$

40,822

199.6%

(5.6)%

Other income, net was $ 20.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2017 , primarily due to $29.1 million foreign currency gain, mainly the result of the significant change in U.S. dollar to Euro exchange
rates on intercompany debt and other non-functional currency balances, partially offset by $11.1 million of interest expense, largely associated with the build-to-suit lease accounting for our new corporate
headquarters. In the fourth quarter of 2017, we established a new legal entity based in Ireland with a U.S. dollar functional currency to help mitigate the currency rate risk on our intercompany debt.
Other expense, net was $20.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2016 , primarily as a result of $15.0 million of currency exchange loss, mainly the result of the significant change in U.S. dollar to Euro
exchange rates on intercompany debt and other non-functional currency balances, and $7.2 million of interest expense, largely associated with the build-to-suit lease accounting for our new corporate
headquarters.
Benefit (Provision) for Income Taxes
Year Ended
December 31,
2017

Change
2016

$

%

(in thousands except percentages)
Benefit (provision) for income taxes

$

49,535

Percentage of total revenue

$

(27,025)

11.2%

$

76,560

283.3%

(7.4)%

Our income tax benefit and provision for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 was $49.5 million and $27.0 million , respectively.
The primary driver of the income tax benefit for the year ended December 31, 2017 was the impact on deferred taxes from the reduction in the U.S. federal corporate tax rate beginning in 2018. On December
22, 2017 the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (the “Act”) was signed into law, which, among other items, reduced the corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21%. As a result, our deferred taxes and certain
unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2017 have been revalued at the reduced 21% rate. The revaluation resulted in a benefit for income taxes of approximately $31.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2017 .
The secondary driver of the income tax benefit for the year ended December 31, 2017 was the recognition of excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation as a result of the adoption of ASU 2016-09,
Stock Compensation: Improvements to Employee Share-based Payment Accounting in the first quarter of 2017. As a result of this updated guidance, we recorded $12.8 million of excess tax benefits, rather than
additional paid-in capital, for the year ended December 31, 2017 .
The primary driver of the income tax provision for the year ended December 31, 2016 was tax expense related to our updated corporate structure of $17.1 million.
For both periods, other drivers include the mix of income and losses in jurisdictions with a wide range of tax rates, the disallowance of the benefit of losses in certain foreign jurisdictions and the amount of nondeductible stock-based compensation expense.
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Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2016 and 2015
Revenue
Year Ended
December 31,
2016

Change
2015

$

%

(in thousands except percentages)
Revenue:
Marketplace

$

158,204

Percentage of total revenue
Seller Services

$

200,857

Percentage of total revenue
Other

$

5,906

$

364,967

$

25,556

19.3%

136,608

$

64,249

47.0%

$

1,663

39.2%

$

91,468

33.4%

49.9%
$

1.6%
$

132,648
48.5%

55.0%

Percentage of total revenue
Total revenue

$

43.3%

4,243
1.6%

$

273,499

GMS increased $453.6 million , or 19.0% , to $2.8 billion in the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to the year ended December 31, 2015 . On a currency-neutral basis (excluding the direct impact of
currency translation on GMS from goods that are not listed in U.S. dollars) GMS growth for the year ended December 31, 2016 would have been 20.0% , or approximately one percentage point higher than the
reported 19.0% growth. Supporting this growth, active sellers increased 11.8% to 1.7 million and active buyers increased 18.8% to 28.6 million for at December 31, 2016 compared to December 31, 2015 .
During the year ended December 31, 2016 , percent mobile visits increased as a percentage of total visits to approximately 64% , up from approximately 60% for the year ended December 31, 2015 and mobile
GMS increased as a percentage of total GMS to approximately 48% , up from 43% for the year ended December 31, 2015 . These increases were a result of increased mobile traffic and, to a lesser extent,
improvements in our mobile offerings for Etsy buyers. Mobile GMS continued to grow faster than mobile visits and, as a result, the gap between mobile visits and mobile GMS narrowed slightly. Year-overyear, mobile app and mobile web GMS and conversion rates each continued to grow faster than desktop GMS.
For the year ended December 31, 2016 , international GMS was 30% of total GMS, flat compared to the year ended December 31, 2015 . The percent international GMS was largely driven by GMS growth
between U.S. buyers and international sellers and GMS growth between buyers and sellers outside of the U.S., both in the same country and cross-border. GMS growth between international buyers and sellers
in the same country remains the fastest growing category of international GMS. GMS between international buyers and sellers in the same country grew approximately 47% year-over-year during the year
ended December 31, 2016 . We believe the growth in this GMS category demonstrates the progress we are making on our strategy to build and deepen local Etsy communities in our key international markets.
Revenue increased $91.5 million , or 33.4% , to $365.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to the year ended December 31, 2015 , of which 55.0% consisted of Seller Services revenue and
43.3% consisted of Marketplace revenue.
Marketplace revenue increased $25.6 million , or 19.3% , to $158.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to the year ended December 31, 2015 . This growth corresponded with a 19.0%
increase in GMS to a total of $2.8 billion for the year ended December 31, 2016 . As our GMS increased , our Marketplace revenue increased , primarily due to growth in transaction fee revenue and, to a lesser
extent, an increase in listing fee revenue.
Seller Services revenue increased $64.2 million , or 47.0% , to $200.9 million in the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to the year ended December 31, 2015 . The growth in Seller Services revenue was
primarily driven by an increase in revenue from Etsy Payments, which continued to benefit from the integration of PayPal through the anniversary of this integration at the end of the fourth quarter of 2016.
Seller Services revenue also benefited from the growth in revenue from Promoted Listings and Shipping Labels and, to a lesser extent, a modest contribution from Pattern. The increase in Promoted Listings
revenue was due to higher click volume and overall product enhancements. The increase in Shipping Label revenue reflects a combination of an increase in label volume and an increase in average margin per
label. Seller Services revenue continued to outpace growth in Marketplace revenue during 2016 . As of December 31, 2016 , 51.7% of active sellers use one or more of our Seller Services compared to 48.1%
of active sellers as of December 31, 2015 . At December 31, 2016 , 45.5% of active sellers used Etsy Payments, 15.9% of active sellers used Promoted Listings, 26.3% of active sellers in the United States
and Canada used Shipping Labels and 2.5% of active sellers used Pattern.
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Other revenue increased $1.7 million , or 39.2% , to $5.9 million in the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to the year ended December 31, 2015 , mainly due to the recognition of $1.7 million in revenue
from accumulated unused gift card funds received from our third-party service provider. This represents the three-year cumulative value of gift cards that the third-party service provider has concluded are not
likely to be redeemed. This increase was partially offset by a reduction of processing fees from PayPal, a third-party payment processor, as a result of its integration into Etsy Payments.
Cost of Revenue
Year Ended
December 31,
2016

Change
2015

$

%

(in thousands except percentages)
Cost of revenue

$

123,328

Percentage of total revenue

$

96,979

33.8%

$

26,349

27.2%

35.5%

Cost of revenue increased $26.3 million , or 27.2% , to $123.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to the year ended December 31, 2015 , primarily as a result of additional costs to support
the increase in Etsy Payments revenue, and, to a lesser extent, an increase in employee-related costs. Cost of revenue decreased as a percentage of revenue due to the leverage we achieved in costs related to our
technology infrastructure and employee-related costs.
Operating Expenses
There were a total of 1,043 employees on December 31, 2016 , compared with 819 on December 31, 2015 .
Marketing
Year Ended
December 31,
2016

Change
2015

$

%

(in thousands except percentages)
Marketing

$

82,248

Percentage of total revenue

$

66,771

22.5%

$

15,477

23.2%

24.4%

Marketing expenses increased $15.5 million , or 23.2% , to $82.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to the year ended December 31, 2015 , primarily as a result of increased spend on
brand marketing campaigns and affiliate marketing related to buyer acquisition, and an increase in employee-related expenses in our marketing team.
Product development
Year Ended
December 31,
2016

Change
2015

$

%

(in thousands except percentages)
Product development

$

55,083

Percentage of total revenue

15.1%

$

42,694

$

12,389

29.0%

15.6%

Product development expenses increased $12.4 million , or 29.0% , to $55.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to the year ended December 31, 2015 , primarily as a result of an increase in
employee-related expenses in our product and engineering teams, including additional expenses resulting from the acquisition of Blackbird in September 2016.
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General and administrative
Year Ended
December 31,
2016

Change
2015

$

%

(in thousands except percentages)
General and administrative

$

86,180

Percentage of total revenue

$

68,939

23.6%

$

17,241

25.0%

25.2%

General and administrative expenses increased $17.2 million , or 25.0% , to $86.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to the year ended December 31, 2015 , primarily driven by an increase
in employee-related expenses, overhead related to our new office locations, including depreciation expense related to our new Brooklyn headquarters, and professional services mainly related to compliance
with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. This increase was partially offset by a one-time contribution of $3.5 million to Good Work Institute (formerly Etsy.org) during the first half of 2015. Removing the impact of this
contribution, general and administrative expenses would have increased 31.7% .
Asset impairment charges
Year Ended
December 31,
2016

Change
2015

$

%

(in thousands except percentages)
Asset impairment charges

$

551

Percentage of total revenue

$

—

0.2%

$

551

100.0%

—%

Asset impairment charges were $0.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2016 , related to the impairment of nonrecoverable intangible assets acquired in the ALM and Grand St. acquisitions for customer
relationships and trademarks. There were no asset impairment charges in the year ended December 31, 2015 .
Other Expense, net
Year Ended
December 31,
2016

Change
2015

$

%

(in thousands except percentages)
Other expense, net

$

(20,453)

Percentage of total revenue

(5.6)%

$

(26,110)

$

(5,657)

(21.7)%

(9.5)%

Other expense, net was $20.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2016 , primarily as a result of a currency exchange loss, mainly the result of the significant change in U.S. dollar to Euro exchange rates on
intercompany debt and other non-functional currency balances, and interest expense, largely associated with the build-to-suit lease accounting for our new corporate headquarters. Other expense, net was $26.1
million in the year ended December 31, 2015 mainly due to a foreign currency loss related to the intercompany debt and other non-functional currency balances, and a mark-to-market loss related to convertible
warrants.
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Provision for Income Taxes
Year Ended
December 31,
2016

Change
2015

$

%

(in thousands except percentages)
Provision for income taxes

$

(27,025)

Percentage of total revenue

(7.4)%

$

(26,069)

$

956

3.7%

(9.5)%

Our income tax provision for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 was $27.0 million and $26.1 million , respectively. For both periods, the primary driver of the income tax provision was tax expense
related to our updated corporate structure of $17.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 . Other drivers include the mix of income and losses in jurisdictions with a wide range of tax rates,
the disallowance of the benefit of losses in certain foreign jurisdictions and the amount of non-deductible stock-based compensation expense.
61

Table of Contents

Quarterly Results of Operations
The following tables show selected unaudited quarterly results of operations and other unaudited operational and non-GAAP financial data for the eight quarters ended December 31, 2017 and the percentage
that each line item in the following results of operations data represents of revenue. The results of operations data for each of these quarters have been prepared on the same basis as the audited annual
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and includes all adjustments, which include only normal recurring adjustments, necessary for the fair statement of our
results of operations for these periods. This data should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report. Our quarterly results of
operations and operational and non-GAAP financial data will vary in the future. These quarterly operating results are not necessarily indicative of our operating results for any future quarter or year.
Three Months Ended
Dec. 31,
2017

Sept. 30,
2017

June 30,
2017

Mar. 31,
2017

Dec. 31,
2016

Sept. 30,
2016

June 30,
2016

Mar. 31,
2016

(in thousands except share and per share amounts)
Revenue:
Marketplace
Seller Services
Other
Total revenue

$

Cost of revenue(1)
Gross profit

54,251 $
82,319
(302)

42,413
63,371
596

$

42,069
58,816
807

$

40,759
53,947
2,185

$

46,936
61,744
1,529

$

38,133
48,511
918

$

37,405
47,069
875

$

35,730
43,533
2,584

136,268
44,220

106,380
36,383

101,692
35,724

96,891
34,659

110,209
37,005

87,562
29,314

85,349
29,098

81,847
27,911

92,048

69,997

65,968

62,232

73,204

58,248

56,251

53,936

34,590
17,788
18,218
3,162

23,520
16,958
22,094
—

27,521
21,754
28,411
—

23,454
18,116
22,763
—

30,460
16,116
22,625
551

18,736
14,897
21,942
—

17,205
11,840
22,537
—

15,847
12,230
19,076
—

73,758

62,572

77,686

64,333

69,752

55,575

51,582

47,153

18,290
(24)

7,425
5,815

(11,718)
13,950

(2,101)
628

3,452
(20,048)

2,673
(709)

4,669
(7,719)

6,783
8,023

18,266
26,484

13,240
12,562

2,232
9,437

(1,473)
1,052

(16,596)
(4,787)

1,964
(4,363)

(3,050)
(4,261)

14,806
(13,614)

(21,383) $

(2,399) $

(7,311) $

1,192

Operating expenses:
Marketing(1)
Product development(1)
General and administrative(1)
Asset impairment charges
Total operating expenses
Income (loss) from operations
Other (expense) income, net
Income (loss) before income taxes
Benefit (provision) for income taxes(2)
Net income (loss)

$

25,802

$

11,669

$

(421) $

Net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders:
Basic
$
0.37 $

0.22

$

0.10

$

0.00

$

(0.19) $

(0.02) $

(0.06) $

0.01

0.21

$

0.10

$

0.00

$

(0.19) $

(0.02) $

(0.06) $

0.01

Diluted

$

$

Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

44,750

0.36

$

121,586,991

119,592,191

116,933,216

115,696,024

115,296,380

113,757,212

113,045,888

112,129,470

124,818,322

123,224,559

120,723,938

115,696,024

115,296,380

113,757,212

113,045,888

115,368,566

(1) Includes restructuring and other exit costs of $0.9 million, $1.8 million and $11.3 million recognized in the quarter ended December 31, 2017 , September 30, 2017 and June 30, 2017, respectively. For a
summary of restructuring and other exit costs see “ Note 3—Restructuring and Other Exit Costs ” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
(2) In the quarter ended December 31, 2017 , we recognized an income tax benefit associated with the enactment of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Act”). As a result of the Act, our deferred taxes at
December 31, 2017 have been revalued at the reduced 21% corporate income tax rate. The revaluation resulted in a non-recurring benefit for income taxes of approximately $31.1 million for the quarter
ended December 31, 2017 .
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Three Months Ended
Dec. 31,
2017

Sept. 30,
2017

June 30,
2017

Mar. 31,
2017

Dec. 31,
2016

Sept. 30,
2016

June 30,
2016

Mar. 31,
2016

Revenue:
Marketplace
Seller Services
Other
Total revenue

39.8 %
60.4
(0.2)

Cost of revenue
Gross profit

39.9%
59.6
0.6

41.4 %
57.8
0.8

42.1 %
55.7
2.3

42.6 %
56.0
1.4

43.5 %
55.4
1.0

43.8 %
55.1
1.0

43.7 %
53.2
3.2

100.0
32.5

100.0
34.2

100.0
35.1

100.0
35.8

100.0
33.6

100.0
33.5

100.0
34.1

100.0
34.1

67.5

65.8

64.9

64.2

66.4

66.5

65.9

65.9

25.4
13.1
13.4
2.3

22.1
15.9
20.8
—

27.1
21.4
27.9
—

24.2
18.7
23.5
—

27.6
14.6
20.5
0.5

21.4
17.0
25.1
—

20.2
13.9
26.4
—

19.4
14.9
23.3
—

54.1

58.8

76.4

66.4

63.3

63.5

60.4

57.6

13.4
—

7.0
5.5

(11.5)
13.7

(2.2)
0.6

3.1
(18.2)

3.1
(0.8)

5.5
(9.0)

8.3
9.8

13.4
19.4

12.4
11.8

2.2
9.3

(1.5)
1.1

(15.1)
(4.3)

2.2
(5.0)

(3.6)
(5.0)

18.1
(16.6)

32.8 %

24.3%

(0.4)%

(19.4)%

(2.7)%

(8.6)%

Operating expenses:
Marketing
Product development
General and administrative
Asset impairment charges
Total operating expenses
Income (loss) from operations
Other (expense) income, net
Income (loss) before income taxes
Benefit (provision) for income taxes
Net income (loss)

11.5 %

1.5 %

Three Months Ended
Dec. 31,
2017

Sept. 30,
2017

June 30,
2017

Mar. 31,
2017

Dec. 31,
2016

Sept. 30,
2016

June 30,
2016

Mar. 31,
2016

(in thousands except percentages)
Other financial and operations data(1):
GMS
Adjusted EBITDA
Active sellers
Active buyers
Percent mobile visits
Percent mobile GMS
Percent international GMS

$
$

1,019,452 $
34,822 $
1,933
33,364
67%
52%
33%

766,354 $
22,769 $
1,891
31,680
67%
52%
34%

748,762 $
12,696 $
1,834
30,584
65%
51%
32%

719,041 $
9,722 $
1,801
29,669
66%
51%
32%

865,207 $
15,277 $
1,748
28,566
65%
49%
30%

677,221 $
13,056 $
1,706
27,140
65%
49%
30%

669,704 $
14,040 $
1,654
26,104
64%
47%
31%

629,853
14,751
1,603
25,027
63%
47%
30%

(1) See “— Key Operating and Financial Metrics ” for the definitions of the following terms: “active buyer,” “active seller,” “Adjusted EBITDA,” “GMS,” “international GMS,” “mobile visits” and “mobile
GMS.”
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The following table reflects the reconciliation of net income (loss) to Adjusted EBITDA for each of the periods indicated:
Three Months Ended
Dec. 31,
2017
Net income (loss)
Excluding:

$

Interest and other non-operating
expense, net
(Benefit) provision for income taxes
Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation
expense(1)
Stock-based compensation expense—
acquisitions
Foreign exchange (gain) loss
Restructuring and other exit costs
Asset impairment charges
Acquisition-related expenses
Adjusted EBITDA
$

44,750

Sept. 30,
2017
$

25,802

June 30,
2017
$

Mar. 31,
2017

11,669

$

Dec. 31,
2016

(in thousands)
(421) $

Sept. 30,
2016

(21,383) $

June 30,
2016

(2,399) $

Mar. 31,
2016

(7,311) $

1,192

2,177
(26,484)
6,577

2,254
(12,562)
7,022

2,153
(9,437)
6,660

2,152
(1,052)
6,938

2,026
4,787
6,905

2,046
4,363
5,786

1,333
4,261
5,103

97
13,614
4,731

5,197

5,832

4,881

4,043

4,160

2,975

3,452

2,581

725
(2,153)
871
3,162
—

724
(8,069)
1,766
—
—

1,613
(16,103)
11,260
—
—

842
(2,780)
—
—
—

151
18,022
—
551
58

1,110
(1,337)
—
—
512

816
6,386
—
—
—

656
(8,120)
—
—
—

34,822

$

22,769

$

12,696

$

9,722

$

15,277

$

13,056

$

14,040

$

14,751

(1) $0.1 million , $1.0 million and $1.7 million of restructuring-related stock-based compensation expense has been excluded from the three months ended December 31, 2017 , September 30, 2017 and June
30, 2017, respectively, and is included in the restructuring and other exit costs line.

Seasonality
Etsy sellers experience increased sales and use more Seller Services during the fourth-quarter holiday shopping season. This has resulted in increased revenue for us during the fourth quarter of each fiscal year,
which can compare to lower revenue in the first quarter of the following fiscal year. For example, revenue in the first quarter of 2017 decreased when compared with revenue in the fourth quarter of 2016 . We
expect this seasonality to continue in future years. Our cost of revenue and marketing expenses also follow this trend, with the highest costs corresponding with the fourth quarter and lower costs in the first
quarter of each fiscal year. As our growth rates moderate, the impact of these seasonality trends on our results of operations may become more pronounced.
Our quarterly revenue increased sequentially quarter-to-quarter for all periods presented above, other than the first quarter of 2017 , corresponding to our GMS performance in the same periods. We cannot
assure you that this pattern of sequential revenue growth will continue. We believe that it is generally more meaningful to compare year-over-year results than sequential quarter-over-quarter results.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
The following tables show our cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, accounts receivable and net working capital as of the dates indicated:
As of December 31,
2017

2016
(in thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents

$

315,442

$

181,592

Short-term investments

25,108

Accounts receivable, net

33,677

26,426

336,787

287,024

Net working capital

100,494

As of December 31, 2017 , our cash and cash equivalents, a majority of which were held in cash deposits and money market funds, were held for future investments, working capital funding and general
corporate purposes.
We invest in short-term instruments, including fixed-income funds and AA-rated U.S. Government and agency securities aligned with our investment strategy. These investments are intended to allow us to
preserve our principal, maintain the ability to meet our liquidity needs, deliver positive yields and continue to provide us with direct fiduciary control. In accordance with our investment policy, all investments
have maturities no longer than 24 months, with the average maturity of these investments maintained at 12 months or less.
We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments, together with cash generated from operations will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash needs for at least the next 12
months. Our future capital requirements and the adequacy of available funds will depend on many factors, including those described in “ — Key Factors Affecting Our Performance ” above and in our “Risk
Factors” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Sources of Liquidity
On April 21, 2015, we completed our initial public offering, (“IPO”), in which we issued and sold 13,333,333 shares of common stock at a public offering price of $16.00 per share. We received net proceeds of
$194.4 million after deducting underwriting discounts of $13.9 million and other offering expenses of approximately $5.1 million . These expenses were recorded against the proceeds received from the IPO. In
addition, we incurred approximately $0.3 million in IPO-related expenses not deductible from IPO proceeds.
Credit Facility
We terminated the senior secured revolving credit facility pursuant to a Revolving Credit and Guaranty Agreement with several lenders (the “Credit Agreement”) effective as of November 21, 2017. As of the
date of termination, there were no borrowings outstanding under the Credit Agreement and we incurred no additional fees as a result of early termination. In May 2014 , we entered into a $35.0 million Credit
Agreement. In March 2015 , we amended the Credit Agreement to increase the credit facility to $50.0 million . In December 2015, we amended the Credit Agreement to clarify certain provisions relating to
permitted investments and to make other immaterial updates. As amended, the Credit Agreement would have expired in May 2019 . The amended Credit Agreement included a letter of credit sublimit of $10.0
million and a swingline loan sublimit of $15.0 million .

65

Table of Contents

Historical Cash Flows
Year Ended December 31,
2017

2016

2015

(in thousands)
Cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities

$

67,420

Investing activities

61,836

Financing activities

3,439

$

49,994
(135,430)
2,575

$

33,155
(23,283)
195,664

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities
Our cash flows from operations are largely dependent on the amount of revenue generated on our platform, as well as associated cost of revenue and other operating expenses. Our primary source of cash from
operating activities is cash collections from our customers. Net cash provided by operating activities in each period presented also has been influenced by changes in accounts receivable, prepaid expenses and
other current assets, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and other liabilities.
Net cash provided by operating activities was $67.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2017 , primarily driven by cash net income of $68.6 million as a result of increased revenue generated on our
platform, partially offset by changes in our operating assets and liabilities that used $1.2 million in cash.
Net cash provided by operating activities was $50.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2016 as a result of the cash net income of $52.7 million as a result of increased revenue generated on our platform,
partially offset by changes in our operating assets and liabilities that used $2.7 million in cash.
Net cash provided by operating activities was $33.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2015 , as a result of the cash net income of $19.7 million as a result of increased revenue generated on our platform,
partially offset by changes in our operating assets and liabilities that provided $13.5 million in cash.
Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Investing Activities
Our primary investing activities consist of sales and purchases of short-term marketable securities and capital expenditures, including purchases of property and equipment to support our overall business
growth and investments in capitalized website development and internal-use software.
Net cash provided by investing activities was $61.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2017 . This was primarily attributable to net sales of marketable securities of $75.0 million offset by $13.2 million in
capital expenditures, including $9.2 million for capitalized web development and internal-use software and $4.0 million for purchases of property and equipment.
Net cash used in investing activities was $135.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2016 . This was primarily attributable to net purchases of marketable securities of $79.8 million , capital expenditures of
$47.7 million , including $36.0 million for purchases of property and equipment and $11.7 million for capitalized website development and internal-use software and $7.9 million in cash paid to acquire
Blackbird.
Net cash used in investing activities was $23.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2015 . This was primarily attributable to capital expenditures of $20.8 million , including $11.1 million for purchases of
property and equipment and $9.7 million for internal-use software and website development and net purchases of marketable securities of $2.5 million .
Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities
Our primary financing activities include proceeds from exercise of stock options, repurchase of common stock under the share repurchase program announced in November 2017, financing of capitalized leases
for computer equipment, payments on our facility financing obligation related to the build-to-suit accounting treatment of our Brooklyn headquarters lease and shares withheld to satisfy tax withholding
obligations in connection with the vesting of employee restricted stock units.
Net cash provided by financing activities was $3.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2017 . This was primarily attributable to proceeds from the exercise of stock options of $33.8 million , offset by
repurchase of stock under the share repurchase program of $10.3 million , payments on capitalized lease obligations of $7.8 million , stock repurchases of vested
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RSUs withheld to satisfy tax obligations of $6.4 million and payments on our facility financing obligation of $5.9 million , related to our Brooklyn headquarters lease.
Net cash provided by financing activities was $2.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2016 . This was primarily attributable to proceeds from the exercise of stock options of $10.6 million , offset by
payments on capital lease obligations of $6.1 million , stock repurchases of vested RSUs withheld to satisfy tax obligations of $1.3 million and a deferred payment related to the acquisition of ALM of $0.6
million .
Net cash provided by financing activities was $195.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2015 . This was primarily attributable to proceeds from our initial public offering of $199.5 million and proceeds
from the exercise of stock options of $3.6 million , offset by payments related to our public offering of $4.1 million and payments on capitalized lease obligations of $3.3 million .

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined in Item 303(a)(4)(ii) of Regulation S-K, in 2017 , 2016 or 2015 .

Contractual Obligations
The following table summarizes our future fixed contractual obligations as of December 31, 2017 :
Less than 1
Year

Total

1–3
Years

3–5
Years

More than
5 Years

(in thousands)
Capital lease obligations

$

Operating lease obligations
Long-term obligations
Interest payments
Facility financing obligations
Purchase obligations
Total contractual obligations

9,913

$

5,798

4,115

$

—

$

—

24,980

3,907

7,478

5,427

8,168
—

405

172

233

—

1,258

899

359

—

—

87,542

9,381

18,973

20,874

38,314

77,329
$

$

201,427

14,320
$

34,477

30,009
$

61,167

33,000
$

59,301

—
$

46,482

Capital lease obligations consist of obligations under capital leases for computer and hosting equipment.
Operating lease obligations consist of obligations under non-cancelable operating leases for our headquarters in Brooklyn, New York and for our offices in San Francisco, Hudson (New York), London, and
Dublin.
Long-term obligations consist of commitments we assumed in connection with our 2014 acquisition of ALM.
Interest payments consist of interest due in connection with our capital leases.
Facility financing obligations consist of the portion of our obligations for our headquarters in Brooklyn, New York that is accounted for as a build-to-suit lease.
Purchase obligations consist of commitments related to the migration of our data centers to the cloud, the related ongoing service fees, and other support services. For those agreements with variable terms, we
do not estimate what the total obligation may be beyond any minimum quantities and/or pricing.
In addition, we have uncertain tax positions of $17.0 million and non-income tax related contingency reserves of $0.4 million , which are not reflected in the table as the ultimate resolution and timing are
uncertain.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates
Our management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. The
preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, expenses and related disclosures. We evaluate
our estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis. Our estimates are based on historical experience and various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Our actual results
could differ from these estimates.
We believe that the assumptions and estimates associated with revenue recognition, income taxes, website development costs and internal-use software, purchase price allocations for business combinations,
valuation of goodwill and intangible assets, leases, stock-based compensation, and restructuring and other exit costs have the greatest potential impact on our consolidated financial statements. Therefore, we
consider these to be our critical accounting policies and estimates. For further information on all of our significant accounting policies, see “ Note 1—Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies ” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
Revenue Recognition
Our revenue is diversified, generated from a mix of marketplace activities and the services and tools we provide to Etsy sellers to help them start, manage, and scale their businesses. We recognize revenue
when all of the following conditions are satisfied: (1) there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement; (2) the service has been provided to the Etsy seller; (3) the collection of fees is reasonably assured; and
(4) the amount of fees to be paid by the Etsy seller is fixed or determinable. We evaluate whether it is appropriate to recognize revenue on a gross or net basis based upon our evaluation of whether we are the
primary obligor in a transaction, have inventory risk and have latitude in establishing pricing and selecting suppliers, among other factors.
Marketplace revenue . Marketplace revenue is primarily comprised of the 3.5% transaction fee that an Etsy seller pays for each completed transaction, exclusive of shipping fees charged, and the listing fee of
$0.20 she pays for each item she lists on Etsy.com. Transaction fees are recognized when the corresponding transaction is made. Listing fees are recognized ratably over a four -month listing period, unless the
item is sold or the seller relists it, at which time any remaining listing fee is recognized.
Seller Services revenue . Seller Services revenue consists of fees an Etsy seller pays us for our four paid services: Etsy Payments, Promoted Listings, Shipping Labels and Pattern.
•

Revenue from Etsy Payments consists of fees an Etsy seller pays us to process credit, debit and Etsy Gift Card payments. Etsy Payments fees vary between 3 – 4% of the item’s total sale price plus a flat
fee per order, depending on the country in which her bank account is located. Etsy Payments fees are based on the item’s total sale price, including shipping. Revenue from Etsy Payments is recognized
when the corresponding transaction is consummated.

•

Revenue from Promoted Listings consists of cost-per-click fees an Etsy seller pays us for prominent placement of her listings in search results generated by Etsy buyers in our marketplace. Revenue is
recognized when the Promoted Listing is clicked.

•

Revenue from Shipping Labels consists of fees an Etsy seller pays us when she purchases shipping labels through our platform, net of the cost we incur in purchasing those shipping labels. We provide our
sellers shipping labels from the United States Postal Service, FedEx and Canada Post at discounted pricing due to the volume of purchases through its platform. We recognize Shipping Label revenue when
an Etsy seller purchases a shipping label. We recognize Shipping Label revenue on a net basis as we are not the primary obligor in the delivery of these services.

•

Revenue from Pattern consists of monthly subscription and annual domain registration fees, an optional add-on, an Etsy seller pays to use our custom website services. We recognize revenue from Pattern
ratably over the term of the subscription.

Other revenue . Other revenue includes the fees we receive from commercial partnerships, which are recognized as earned in accordance with our revenue recognition policy.
Website Development and Internal-use Software Costs
Costs incurred to develop our website and software for internal use are capitalized and amortized over the estimated useful life of the software, generally three years. In accordance with authoritative accounting
guidance, we begin to capitalize our costs to develop software when preliminary development efforts are successfully completed, management has authorized and
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committed project funding and it is probable that the project will be completed and the software will be used as intended. We also capitalize costs related to upgrades and enhancements when it is probable the
expenditures will result in additional functionality or will extend the useful life of existing functionality. Costs related to the design or maintenance of website development and internal-use software are
expensed as incurred. We periodically review these assets to determine whether the projects will be completed, placed in service, removed from service or replaced by other internally-developed or third-party
software. If an asset is not expected to provide any future use, the asset is retired and any unamortized cost is expensed.
If an asset will continue to be used, but the net book value is not expected to be fully recoverable, the asset is impaired to its fair value. When events or changes in circumstances require, we assess the
likelihood of recovering the cost of website development and internal-use software costs based on its expectations of future profitability, undiscounted cash flows and our plans with respect to operations to
determine if the asset is impaired and subject to write-off. Measurement of any impairment loss is based on the excess of the carrying value of the asset over the fair value.
Leases
We lease office space and certain computer equipment in multiple locations under non-cancelable lease agreements. The leases are reviewed for classification as operating, capital or build-to-suit leases. For
operating leases, rent is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease period. For capital leases, we record the leased asset with a corresponding liability. Payments are recorded as reductions to the liability
with an appropriate interest charge recorded based on their outstanding remaining liability.
We consider the nature of the renovations and our involvement during the construction period of newly-leased office space to determine if we are considered, for accounting purposes only, to be the owner of
the construction project during the construction period. If we determine that we are the owner of the construction project, we are required to capitalize the fair value of the building as well as the construction
costs incurred on our Consolidated Balance Sheet along with a corresponding financing liability (“build-to-suit accounting”). Upon occupancy for build-to-suit leases, we assess whether the circumstances
qualify for sales recognition under the sale-leaseback accounting guidance. If the lease meets the sale-leaseback criteria, we will remove the asset and related financial obligation from the balance sheet and treat
the building lease as an operating lease. If upon completion of construction, the project does not meet the “sale-leaseback” criteria, the leased property will be treated as a capital lease for financial reporting
purposes.
In May 2016, we took possession of our corporate headquarters in Brooklyn upon substantial completion of the construction phase of the build-out. Upon completion of the project, we performed a saleleaseback analysis pursuant to Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 840 —Leases , to determine the appropriateness of removing the previously capitalized assets from the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
We concluded that components of “continuing involvement” were evident as a result of this review, precluding the derecognition of the related assets from the Consolidated Balance Sheets. In conjunction with
the lease, we also recorded a facility financing obligation equal to the fair market value of the assets received from the landlord. At the end of the lease term, including exercise of any renewal options, the net
remaining facility financing obligation over the net carrying value of the fixed asset will be recognized as a non-cash gain on sale of the property. We do not report rent expense for the lease. Rather, rental
payments under the lease are recognized as a reduction of the financing obligation and interest expense, and the associated asset capitalized throughout the construction project is depreciated over its determined
useful life.
Income Taxes
We account for the income tax benefit (provision) based on income (loss) before income taxes using the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the
future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to
settle. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized as income or expense in the period that includes the enactment date. We assess the need for a valuation allowance on
a quarterly basis to reduce deferred tax assets to the amounts we expect to be realized.
We account for uncertainty in income taxes using a recognition threshold and a measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a
tax return. For benefits to be recognized, a tax position must be more likely than not to be sustained upon examination by the taxing authorities. The amount recognized is measured as the largest amount of
benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate audit settlement.
We recognize interest and penalties, if any, associated with tax matters as part of the income tax provision and include accrued interest and penalties with the related tax liability in our Consolidated Balance
Sheet.
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Business Combinations, Intangible Assets and Goodwill
We have completed a number of acquisitions of other businesses in the past and may acquire additional businesses or technologies in the future. The results of businesses acquired in a business combination are
included in our consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition. We allocate the purchase price, which is the sum of the consideration provided and may consist of cash, equity or a combination of
the two, in a business combination to the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquired business at their acquisition date fair values. The excess of the purchase price over the amount allocated to the
identifiable assets and liabilities, if any, is recorded as goodwill. Determining the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed requires management to use significant judgment and estimates, including
the selection of valuation methodologies, estimates of future revenues and cash flows, discount rates and selection of comparable companies.
When we issue stock-based or cash awards to an acquired company’s stockholders, we evaluate whether the awards are contingent consideration or compensation for post-combination services. The evaluation
includes, among other things, whether the vesting of the awards is contingent on the continued employment of the acquired company’s stockholder beyond the acquisition date. If continued employment is
required for vesting, the awards are treated as compensation for post-combination services and recognized as expense over the requisite service period.
We initially recognize intangible assets at fair value, and we amortize them on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. When circumstances indicate that the carrying value of these assets may not
be recoverable, we review our identifiable amortizable intangible assets for impairment.
Goodwill represents the excess of the aggregate fair value of the consideration transferred in a business combination over the fair value of the assets acquired, net of liabilities assumed. Goodwill is not
amortized but is tested for impairment annually in the fourth quarter or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the goodwill may be impaired.
We have the option to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether the existence of events or circumstances leads to a determination that it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit
is less than its carrying amount. If, after assessing the totality of events or circumstances, we determine it is not more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, then
additional impairment testing is not required. However, if we conclude otherwise, we are then required to perform a quantitative assessment for impairment.
The quantitative assessment involves comparing the estimated fair value of the reporting unit with its respective book value, including goodwill. If the estimated fair value exceeds book value, goodwill is
considered not to be impaired and no additional steps are necessary. If, however, the book value of the reporting unit exceeds the fair value, an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to the excess,
not to exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit.
Stock-Based Compensation
We account for our stock-based compensation awards in accordance with Acounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 718, Compensation—Stock Compensation . Stock options and restricted stock units
(“RSUs”) are awarded to employees and members of our Board of Directors and are measured at fair value at each grant date. Stock options generally vest over a four -year period with 25% of the shares
underlying the options vesting after the first year of service and ratably each month over the remaining 36 -month period, subject to continued service with us through each vesting date. RSUs generally vest
25% after the first year following the vesting commencement date, which is the first day of the fiscal quarter closest to the date of grant, and then vest ratably each quarter over the remaining 12 -quarter period
contingent on continued employment with us on each vesting date.
Stock-based compensation cost is measured on the grant date, based on the estimated fair value of the award using a Black-Scholes pricing model and recognized as an expense over the employee’s or director’s
requisite service period on a straight-line basis. The fair value of RSUs is determined based on the closing price of our common stock on Nasdaq on the grant date. In the first quarter of 2017, we made an
accounting policy election to recognize forfeitures as they occur upon adoption of guidance in ASU 2016-09, Compensation—Stock Compensation: Scope of Modification Accounting . In reporting periods
prior to 2017, we estimated forfeitures at the time of grant and revised in subsequent periods as necessary if actual forfeitures differed from estimates. We expect to continue to grant stock options and RSUs in
the future, and, to the extent that we do, our stock-based compensation expense recognized in future periods will likely increase.
We account for stock-based compensation arrangements related to the ALM acquisition in restricted shares, subject to a put option that allows the holder of the shares to put the shares back to us for cash, as
liability-classified stock awards. These awards are re-measured at each reporting period, with changes in fair value being charged to the statement of operations. Compensation expense is recognized using a
graded vesting methodology for each separately vesting tranche of the award as
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though the award were, in substance, multiple awards. Unless the put option is exercised, the restricted shares will be reclassified from a liability to an equity classified award upon the termination of the put
option. In 2017, all outstanding restricted shares subject to a put option became fully vested and we will no longer be required to remeasure these awards at fair value going forward.
Key Assumptions
Our Black-Scholes option-pricing model requires the input of subjective assumptions, including the fair value of the underlying common stock, the expected volatility of the price of our common stock, riskfree interest rates, the expected term of the option and the expected dividend yield of our common stock. These estimates involve inherent uncertainties and the application of management’s judgment. If factors
change and different assumptions are used, our stock-based compensation expense could be materially different in the future.
•

Fair Value of Our Common Stock . Prior to our initial public offering in April 2015, our Board of Directors considered numerous objective and subjective factors to determine the fair value of our
common stock at each meeting at which awards were approved. The factors included: contemporaneous third-party valuations of our common stock; the prices, rights, preferences and privileges of our
preferred stock relative to those of our common stock; the prices of preferred stock sold by us to third-party investors in arms-length transactions; the prices of common stock sold to third-party investors
by us and in secondary transactions or repurchased by us in arms-length transactions; the lack of marketability of our common stock; our operating and financial results; current business conditions and
projections; and the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event, such as an initial public offering or sale of our company, given then prevailing market conditions. Since our initial public offering, we have
used the market closing price for our common stock as reported on the Nasdaq to determine the fair value of our common stock.

•

Expected Volatility . As we do not have a sufficient trading history for our common stock, the expected stock price volatility for our common stock is estimated by taking the average historical price
volatility for industry peers based on daily price observations over a period equivalent to the expected term of the stock option grants. Industry peers, which we have selected, consist of several public
companies in the industry similar in size, stage of life cycle and financial leverage. We intend to continue to consistently apply this process using the same or similar public companies until a sufficient
amount of historical information regarding the volatility of our own common stock share price becomes available, or unless circumstances change such that the identified companies are no longer similar to
us, in which case more suitable companies whose share prices are publicly available would be used in the calculation.

•

Risk-free Interest Rate . The risk-free interest rate is based on the yields of U.S. Treasury securities with maturities similar to the expected term of the options for each option group.

•

Expected Term . The expected term represents the period that our stock-based awards are expected to be outstanding. As we do not have sufficient historical experience for determining the expected term
of the stock option awards granted, we base our expected term for awards issued to employees or members of our Board of Directors on the simplified method, which represents the average period from
vesting to the expiration of the stock option.

•

Expected Dividend Yield . We have never declared or paid any cash dividends to common stockholders and do not presently plan to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Consequently, we use an
expected dividend yield of zero.

In determining the fair value of stock options granted, the following weighted average assumptions were used in the Black-Scholes option-pricing model for awards granted in the periods indicated:
Year Ended
December 31,
Expected volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Expected term (in years)
Dividend rate

2017

2016

2015

41.7% - 44.2%

38.6% - 44.6%

40.4% - 45.0%

1.9% - 2.2%

1.1% - 2.1%

1.3% - 1.9%

5.5 - 6.3

5.5 - 6.3

5.5 - 6.1

—%

—%

—%

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
For information regarding our recently issued accounting pronouncements and recently adopted accounting pronouncements, please see “ Note 1—Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies ” in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
We have operations both within the United States and internationally and we are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our business, including the effects of interest rate changes and foreign currency
fluctuations. Information relating to quantitative and qualitative disclosures about these market risks is described below.
Interest Rate Sensitivity
As of December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016 , the majority of our cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments were held in cash deposits, money market funds, fixed-income funds and AA-rated
U.S. Government and agency securities. The fair value of our cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments would not be significantly affected by either an increase or decrease in interest rates due mainly
to the short-term nature of these instruments. The majority of our current interest expense is attributable to our facility financing obligation related to our build-to-suit lease and is not impacted by external
factors on interest rates. A 10% increase or decrease in our current interest rate would not have a significant impact on our interest expense.
Currency Risk
Approximately 85% of our GMS is denominated in U.S. dollars, and therefore, the resulting revenue is not subject to foreign currency risk. However, in the year ended December 31, 2017 , approximately 15%
of GMS was from goods that were not listed in U.S. dollars and, as a result, was impacted by currency exchange fluctuations. On a currency-neutral basis, GMS growth for the year ended December 31, 2017
would have been 14.3% , or approximately 20 basis points lower than the reported 14.5% growth. On a currency-neutral basis, GMS growth for the three months ended December 31, 2017 would have been
16.5% compared with the reported 17.8% growth. In addition, we believe weaker local currencies in certain international markets continued to dampen the demand for U.S. dollar-denominated goods during the
year ended December 31, 2017 , impacting both GMS growth and percent international GMS.
In the year ended December 31, 2016 , 88% of our GMS was denominated in U.S. dollars and approximately 12% of GMS was from goods that were not listed in U.S. dollars. On a currency-neutral basis, GMS
growth for the year ended December 31, 2016 would have been 20.0% , or approximately one percentage point higher than the reported 19.0% growth.
Our operating expenses are denominated in the currencies of the countries in which our operations are located, and may be subject to fluctuations due to changes in currency exchange rates, particularly changes
in the Euro and Pound Sterling. Fluctuations in currency exchange rates may cause us to recognize transaction gains and losses in our Consolidated Statement of Operations. A 10% increase or decrease in
current exchange rates could result in an increase or decrease to currency exchange (loss) gain of $21.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 . This compares to a currency exchange (loss) gain of
$41.2 million based on the same analysis performed for the year ended December 31, 2016 .
On January 1, 2015, we implemented a revised corporate structure to more closely align our structure with our global operations and future expansion plans outside of the United States, which resulted in a U.S.
dollar-denominated intercompany debt on a Euro-denominated ledger that was subject to continued currency exchange rate risk through the middle of the fourth quarter of 2017. In the fourth quarter of 2017,
we established a new legal entity based in Ireland with a U.S. dollar functional currency to help mitigate the currency rate risk on our intercompany debt.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.
The supplementary financial information required by this item is included in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of Etsy, Inc.
Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Etsy, Inc. and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive
income (loss), changes in convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2017, including the related notes (collectively referred
to as the “consolidated financial statements”). We also have audited the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017, based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 , and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2017 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our
opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework
(2013) issued by the COSO.
Change in Accounting Principles
As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the manner in which it accounts for tax effects of intra-entity asset transfers and share-based compensation in 2017.
Basis for Opinions
The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting, included in Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express opinions on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements and on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities
and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.
Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also
included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal
control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.
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Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records
that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could
have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk
that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
New York, New York
February 28, 2018
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2012.
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Etsy, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands except share and per share amounts)
As of December 31,
2017

2016

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

315,442

$

181,592

Short-term investments

25,108

100,494

Accounts receivable, net

33,677

26,426

Prepaid and other current assets

20,379

15,571

—

17,132

Deferred tax charge—current
Funds receivable and seller accounts
Total current assets
Restricted cash
Property and equipment, net
Goodwill
Intangible assets, net
Deferred tax charge—net of current portion
Other assets

44,658

29,817

439,264

371,032

5,341

5,341

117,617

126,407

38,541

35,657

4,100

7,507

—

34,264

720

Total assets

985

$

605,583

$

581,193

$

13,622

$

10,978

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses

28,743

Capital lease obligations—current

24,179

5,798

6,829

44,658

29,817

Deferred revenue

6,262

5,648

Other current liabilities

3,394

6,557

102,477

84,008

Funds payable and amounts due to sellers

Total current liabilities
Capital lease obligations—net of current portion

4,115

5,296

Deferred tax liabilities

23,786

65,068

Facility financing obligation

60,049

57,360

Other liabilities

18,262

24,704

208,689

236,436

122

116

Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
Common stock ($0.001 par value, 1,400,000,000 shares authorized as of December 31, 2017 and 2016; 121,769,238 and 115,973,039 shares
issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively)
Preferred stock ($0.001 par value, 25,000,000 shares authorized as of December 31, 2017 and 2016)

—

—

Additional paid-in capital

499,441

442,510

Accumulated deficit

(96,290)

(116,341)

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income

(6,379)

Total stockholders’ equity

18,472

396,894

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Etsy, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In thousands except share and per share amounts)
Year Ended
December 31,
2017
Revenue

$

2016

441,231

$

2015

364,967

$

273,499

Cost of revenue

150,986

123,328

96,979

Gross profit

290,245

241,639

176,520

Operating expenses:
Marketing

109,085

82,248

66,771

Product development

74,616

55,083

42,694

General and administrative

91,486

86,180

68,939

Asset impairment charges

3,162

551

—

278,349

224,062

178,404

11,896

17,577

(1,884)

(11,130)

(7,204)

(1,526)

2,394

1,702

—

—

Total operating expenses
Income (loss) from operations
Other income (expense):
Interest expense and amortization of deferred financing costs
Interest and other income
Net unrealized loss on warrant and other liabilities
Foreign exchange gain (loss)

324
(3,133)

29,105

(14,951)

(21,775)

20,369

(20,453)

(26,110)

Income (loss) before income taxes

32,265

(2,876)

(27,994)

Benefit (provision) for income taxes

49,535

(27,025)

Total other income (expense)

Net income (loss)

(26,069)

$

81,800

$

(29,901)

$

(54,063)

Basic

$

0.69

$

(0.26)

$

(0.59)

Diluted

$

0.68

$

(0.26)

$

(0.59)

Net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders:

Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic

118,538,687

113,562,738

91,122,291

Diluted

122,267,673

113,562,738

91,122,291

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Etsy, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
(In thousands)
Year Ended
December 31,
2017
Net income (loss)

$

2016
81,800

$

2015

(29,901)

$

(54,063)

Other comprehensive (loss) income:
Cumulative translation adjustment

(24,898)

Unrealized gains (losses) on marketable securities, net of tax

7,675

47

Total other comprehensive (loss) income

(24,851)

Comprehensive income (loss)

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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56,949

14,746

(8)

(7)

7,667
$

(22,234)

14,739
$

(39,324)
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Etsy, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity
(In thousands except share amounts)
Series A and A-1
Convertible
Preferred
Stock
Shares

Amount

Series B
Convertible
Preferred
Stock
Shares

Series C
Convertible
Preferred
Stock

Amount

Shares

Series D and D-1
Convertible
Preferred
Stock

Amount

Shares

Amount

Series E
Convertible
Preferred
Stock
Shares

Series 1
Convertible
Preferred
Stock

Amount

Shares

Series F
Convertible
Preferred
Stock

Amount

Shares

Common
Stock

Amount

Amount

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

44,180,939

$ 44

$ 103,355

Shares

Accumulated
Deficit

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
(Loss)
Income

Total

Balance as of
December 31,
2014

2,363,786

$808

1,128,425

$865

1,222,282

$3,361

4,215,610

$27,870

396,727

$6,201

203,399

$1,322

11,594,203

$39,785

Stock-based
compensation

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

9,444

—

—

9,444

Exercise of
vested options

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

1,315,735

2

3,624

—

—

3,626

Exercise of
warrants, net
of shares
withheld

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

96,869

—

—

—

—

—

Common stock
issued through
public offering

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

13,333,333

14

194,347

—

—

194,361

Contribution of
stock to Good
Work Institute
(formerly
Etsy.org)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

188,235

—

3,200

—

—

3,200

Stock-based
compensation
—acquisitions

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

1,122

—

—

1,122

Conversion of
liabilityclassified
restricted
shares upon
vesting

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

1,755

—

—

1,755

53,448,243

53

80,159

—

—

80,212

—

5,070

Conversion of
preferred stock
upon public
offering
(2,363,786)

(808)

(1,128,425)

(865)

(1,222,282)

(3,361)

(4,215,610)

(27,870)

(396,727)

(6,201)

(203,399)

(1,322)

(11,594,203)

(39,785)

—

—

$(32,377)

$(3,934)

$ 67,088

Conversion of
liabilityclassified
warrants upon
public offering

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

5,070

—

Excess tax
benefit from
the exercise of
options

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

3,944

—

—

3,944

Other
comprehensive
inco me

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

14,739

14,739

Net loss
—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(54,063)

—

Balance as of
December 31,
2015

(54,063)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

112,563,354

113

406,020

(86,440)

10,805

330,498

Stock-based
compensation

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

13,960

—

—

13,960

Exercise of
vested options

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

2,535,620

3

10,565

—

—

10,568

Vesting of
restricted stock
units, net of
shares
withheld

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

144,651

—

(1,258)

—

—

(1,258)

Exercise of
warrants, net
of shares
withheld

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

80,011

—

—

—

—

—

Retirement of
restricted
shares

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(36,346)

—

—

—

—

—

Issuance of
common stock
at acquisition
date

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

685,749

—

6,966

—

—

6,966

Stock-based
compensation
—acquisitions

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

1,080

—

—

1,080

Conversion of
liabilityclassified
restricted
shares upon
vesting

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

1,942

—

—

1,942

Excess tax
benefit from
the exercise of
options

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

3,235

—

—

3,235

Other
comprehensive
income

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

7,667

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(29,901)

—

Balance as of
December 31,
2016

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

115,973,039

116

442,510

(116,341)

18,472

344,757

Stock-based
compensation

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

23,462

—

—

23,462

Exercise of
vested options

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

5,760,263

6

33,832

—

—

33,838

Vesting of
restricted stock
units, net of
shares
withheld

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

622,167

1

(6,418)

—

—

(6,417)

Stock
repurchase

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(586,231)

(1)

—

(10,301)

Stock-based
compensation
—acquisitions

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

3,132

—

—

3,132

Conversion of
liabilityclassified
restricted
shares upon
vesting

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

2,838

—

—

2,838

Cumulative
effect
adjustment

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

85

—

(51,364)

Other
comprehensive
loss

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

81,800

—

$ —

—

$ —

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

121,769,238

$122

$ 499,441

7,667

Net loss

—

(10,300)

(51,449)

(24,851)

(29,901)

(24,851)

Net income
Balance as of
December 31,
2017

$

$

$

$

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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$(96,290)

—

$(6,379)

81,800

$ 396,894
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Etsy, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)
Year Ended
December 31,
2017

2016

2015

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income (loss)

$

81,800

$

(29,901)

$

(54,063)

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
Stock-based compensation expense
Stock-based compensation expense—acquisitions
Contribution of stock to Good Work Institute (formerly Etsy.org)
Depreciation and amortization expense
Bad debt expense
Foreign exchange (gain) loss
Amortization of debt issuance costs

22,655

13,168

8,981

3,904

2,733

1,860

—

—

3,200

27,197

22,525

18,550

2,497

1,770

1,780

(29,105)

14,951

21,775

463

184

167

3,117

5,337

—

426

914

—

—

—

3,133

Loss on disposal of assets

520

1,143

1,319

Asset impairment charges

3,162

551

Non-cash interest expense
Interest on marketable securities
Net unrealized loss on warrant and other liabilities

Deferred income taxes

(47,972)

Amortization of deferred tax charge

—

—

2,194

(4,146)

17,132

17,132

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable
Funds receivable and seller accounts
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Other assets

(8,826)

(8,192)

(6,739)

(13,477)

(10,910)

(9,025)

(4,429)

(6,186)

(266)

(28)

Accounts payable
Accrued and other current liabilities
Funds payable and amounts due to sellers
Deferred revenue
Other liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities

438

225

2,837

(3,585)

6,728

3,207

11,193

12,395

13,477

10,910

9,025

434

964

1,279

5,561

2,661

67,420

49,994

(155)
33,155

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired

—

Purchases of property and equipment

(7,880)

(3,948)

Development of internal-use software

—

(35,981)

(11,116)

(9,208)

(11,769)

(9,719)

Purchases of marketable securities

(62,348)

(160,504)

(26,040)

Sales of marketable securities

137,340

80,704

23,592

61,836

(135,430)

(23,283)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from public offering

—

Repurchase of stock for tax on RSU vesting

—

(6,417)

Repurchase of stock

199,467

(1,258)

(10,301)

—

—

—

Proceeds from exercise of stock options

33,838

10,568

3,626

Payments on capital lease obligations

(7,798)

(6,086)

(3,377)

Deferred payments on acquisition of business

—

Payments on facility financing obligation

(649)

(5,883)

Payments relating to public offering

—

Net cash provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
$

3,439

2,575

1,155

(6,791)

133,850

(89,652)

80

315,442

—

—

181,592

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

—

—

(4,052)
195,664
(3,951)
201,585

271,244
$

181,592

69,659
$

271,244
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Etsy, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)
Year Ended
December 31,
2017

2016

2015

Supplemental cash flow disclosures:
Cash paid for interest

$

7,555

$

2,000

$

1,346

Cash paid for income taxes

$

1,003

$

10,559

$

7,604

Equipment acquired under capital lease obligations

$

5,586

$

5,030

$

11,657

Stock-based compensation capitalized in development of capitalized software

$

807

$

792

$

463

Additions to development of internal-use software and property and equipment included in accounts payable and accrued expenses

$

956

$

2,239

$

12,721

Non-cash addition to construction in progress related to build-to-suit lease and facility financing obligation

$

—

$

—

$

1,484

Non-cash addition to capitalized public offering costs

$

—

$

—

$

13

Fair value of common stock issued in acquisition

$

—

$

6,966

$

—

Supplemental non-cash disclosures:

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Etsy, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Note 1—Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Description of Business
Etsy, Inc. (the “Company” or “Etsy”) was incorporated in Delaware in February 2006. Etsy is the global marketplace for unique and creative goods. The Company generates revenue primarily from transaction
and listing fees, Etsy Payments fees (formerly referred to as Direct Checkout fees), Promoted Listing fees, Shipping Label sales and Pattern by Etsy fees.
Initial Public Offering
On April 21, 2015, the Company completed an initial public offering (the “IPO”) in which it issued and sold 13,333,333 shares of common stock at a public offering price of $16.00 per share. The Company
received net proceeds of $194.4 million after deducting underwriting discounts of $13.9 million and other offering expenses of approximately $5.1 million . These expenses were recorded against the proceeds
received from the IPO.
Certain selling stockholders sold an additional 5,833,332 shares of common stock in the IPO. The Company did not receive any proceeds from the sale of shares sold by the selling stockholders.
Upon the closing of the IPO, all outstanding shares of convertible preferred stock of the Company converted into 53,448,243 shares of common stock. In addition, all outstanding warrants for convertible
preferred stock converted into warrants for an aggregate of 203,030 shares of common stock.
In connection with the IPO, the Company effected a 1-for-2 reverse split of its common stock on March 25, 2015. The reverse split combined each two shares of the Company’s issued and outstanding common
stock into one share of common stock and correspondingly adjusted the conversion prices of the Company's convertible preferred stock. No fractional shares were issued in connection with the reverse split, and
fractional shares resulting from the reverse split were rounded down to the nearest whole share. All share, per share and related information presented in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying
notes have been retroactively adjusted, where applicable, to reflect the reverse stock split.
Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Etsy and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
Reclassifications
Certain items in the prior years’ consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Specifically, the Company
reclassified $0.6 million previously included in marketing expenses to asset impairment charges on the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the quarter and year ended December 31, 2016 , to conform
to the current year presentation.
The Company also reclassified $2.2 million and $4.1 million previously included in changes in other liabilities to deferred income taxes on the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended
December 31, 2016 and 2015 to conform to the current year presentation.
Additionally, the Company reclassified $3.2 million and $3.9 million from cash provided by financing activities to cash provided by operating activities on the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the
years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 , respectively, to conform to the current year presentation upon adoption of Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2016-09, Stock Compensation: Improvements to
Employee Share-based Payment Accounting .
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Use of Estimates
The preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) requires management to make
estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The accounting estimates that require management’s most difficult and subjective judgments include revenue recognition, income taxes, website development
costs and internal-use software, purchase price allocations for business combinations, valuation of goodwill and intangible assets, leases, stock-based compensation and restructuring and other exit costs. The
Company evaluates its estimates and judgments on an ongoing basis and revises them when necessary. Actual results may differ from the original or revised estimates.
Revenue Recognition
The Company's revenue is diversified, generated from a mix of marketplace activities and the services and tools provided to Etsy sellers to help them start, manage, and scale their business. The Company
recognizes revenue when all of the following conditions are satisfied: (1) there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement; (2) the service has been provided to the Etsy seller; (3) the collection of fees is
reasonably assured; and (4) the amount of fees to be paid by the Etsy seller is fixed or determinable. The Company evaluates whether it is appropriate to recognize revenue on a gross or net basis based upon its
evaluation of whether it is the primary obligor in a transaction, has inventory risk and has latitude in establishing pricing and selecting suppliers, among other factors.
Marketplace revenue . Marketplace revenue is primarily comprised of the 3.5% transaction fee that an Etsy seller pays for each completed transaction, exclusive of shipping fees charged, and the listing fee of
$0.20 she pays for each item she lists on Etsy.com. Transaction fees are recognized when the corresponding transaction is made. Listing fees are recognized ratably over a four -month listing period, unless the
item is sold or the seller relists it, at which time any remaining listing fee is recognized.
Seller Services revenue . Seller Services revenue consists of fees an Etsy seller pays for the Company's four paid services: Etsy Payments (formerly called Direct Checkout), Promoted Listings, Shipping Labels
and Pattern.
•

Revenue from Etsy Payments consists of fees an Etsy seller pays the Company to process credit, debit and Etsy Gift Card payments. Etsy Payments fees vary between 3 - 4% of the item’s total sale price
plus a flat fee per order, depending on the country in which her bank account is located. Etsy Payments fees are based on the item’s total sale price, including shipping. Revenue from Etsy Payments is
recognized when the corresponding transaction is consummated.

•

Revenue from Promoted Listings consists of cost-per-click fees an Etsy seller pays for prominent placement of her listings in search results generated by Etsy buyers in the Company's marketplace.
Revenue is recognized when the Promoted Listing is clicked.

•

Revenue from Shipping Labels consists of fees an Etsy seller pays the Company when she purchases shipping labels through its platform, net of the cost the Company incurs in purchasing those shipping
labels. The Company provides its sellers shipping labels from the United States Postal Service, FedEx and Canada Post at discounted pricing due to the volume of purchases through its platform. The
Company recognizes Shipping Label revenue when an Etsy seller purchases a shipping label. The Company recognizes Shipping Label revenue on a net basis as it is not the primary obligor in the delivery
of these services.

•

Revenue from Pattern consists of monthly subscription and annual domain registration fees an Etsy seller pays to use the Company's custom website services. The Company recognizes revenue from
Pattern ratably over the term of the subscription.

Other revenue . Other revenue includes the fees the Company receives from commercial partnerships, which are recognized as earned in accordance with the Company's revenue recognition policy.
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The following table summarizes revenue by type of service (in thousands):
Year Ended
December 31,
2017
Marketplace

$

Seller Services

$

$

2015

158,204

258,453

200,857

3,286

5,906

Other
Revenue

2016

179,492

441,231

$

364,967

$

132,648
136,608
4,243

$

273,499

Cost of Revenue
Cost of revenue primarily consists of the cost of interchange and other fees for credit card processing services, credit card verification service fees and credit card chargebacks to support Etsy Payments revenue
and costs of refunds made to Etsy buyers that the Company is not able to collect from Etsy sellers. Cost of revenue also includes expenses associated with the operation and maintenance of the Company’s
platform and data centers, including depreciation and amortization, employee-related costs and hosting and bandwidth costs.
Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
The Company’s trade accounts receivable are recorded at amounts billed to Etsy sellers and are presented on the Consolidated Balance Sheet net of the allowance for doubtful accounts. The allowance is
determined by a number of factors, including age of the receivable, current economic conditions, historical losses and management’s assessment of the financial condition of Etsy sellers. Receivables are written
off once they are deemed uncollectible, which may arise when Etsy sellers file for bankruptcy or are otherwise deemed unable to repay the amounts owed to the Company. Estimates of uncollectible accounts
receivable are recorded to general and administrative expense.
The following table summarizes the allowance activity during the periods indicated (in thousands):
Year Ended
December 31,
2017
Balance as of the beginning of period

$

Bad debt expense
Write-offs, net of recoveries and other adjustments
Balance as of the end of period

$

2016
1,999

$

2015
2,071

$

1,841

2,497

1,770

1,780

(1,809)

(1,842)

(1,550)

2,687

$

1,999

$

2,071

Funds Receivable and Seller Accounts and Funds Payable and Amounts due to Sellers
The Company records funds receivable and seller accounts and funds payable and amounts due to sellers as current assets and liabilities, respectively, on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Funds receivable and
seller accounts represent amounts received or expected to be received from Etsy buyers via third-party credit card processors, which flow through an Etsy bank account for payment to Etsy sellers. This cash
and related receivable represent the total amount due to sellers, and as such a liability for the same amount is recorded to funds payable and amounts due to Etsy sellers.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment, consisting principally of building, computer equipment and leasehold improvements, are recorded at cost. The Company capitalizes construction in progress for build-to-suit lease
agreements where we are the owner, for accounting purposes only, during the construction period. Depreciation and amortization begin at the time the asset is placed into service and are recognized using the
straight-line method in amounts sufficient to relate the cost of depreciable and amortizable assets to operations over their estimated useful lives. Repairs and maintenance are charged to operations as incurred.
Upon sale or retirement of assets, the cost and related accumulated depreciation or amortization are removed from the balance sheet and the resulting gain or loss is reflected in operations.
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When events or changes in circumstances require, the Company assesses the likelihood of recovering the cost of tangible long-lived assets based on its expectations of future profitability, undiscounted cash
flows and management’s plans with respect to operations to determine if the asset is impaired and subject to write-off. Measurement of any impairment loss is based on the excess of the carrying value of the
asset over the fair value.
Website Development and Internal-use Software Costs
Costs incurred to develop the Company's website and software for internal-use are capitalized and amortized over the estimated useful life of the software, generally three years. In accordance with authoritative
accounting guidance, capitalization of costs to develop software begin when preliminary development efforts are successfully completed, management has authorized and committed project funding and it is
probable that the project will be completed and the software will be used as intended. The Company also capitalizes costs related to upgrades and enhancements when it is probable the expenditures will result
in additional functionality or will extend the useful life of existing functionality. Costs related to the design or maintenance of website development and internal-use software are expensed as incurred. The
Company periodically reviews website development and internal-use software costs to determine whether the projects will be completed, placed in service, removed from service or replaced by other internally
developed or third-party software. If the asset is not expected to provide any future use, the asset is retired and any unamortized cost is expensed.
If an asset will continue to be used, but the net book value is not expected to be fully recoverable, the asset is impaired to its fair value. When events or changes in circumstances require, the Company assesses
the likelihood of recovering the cost of website development and internal-use software costs based on its expectations of future profitability, undiscounted cash flows and our plans with respect to operations to
determine if the asset is impaired and subject to write-off. Measurement of any impairment loss is based on the excess of the carrying value of the asset over the fair value.
If a cloud computing arrangement includes a software license, then the Company accounts for the software license element of the arrangement consistent with the acquisition of other software licenses. If a
cloud computing arrangement does not include a software license, the Company accounts for the arrangement as a service contract.
Capitalized website development and internal-use software costs are included in property and equipment within the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
Leases
The Company leases office space and certain computer equipment in multiple locations under non-cancelable lease agreements. The leases are reviewed for classification as operating, capital or build-to-suit
leases. For operating leases, rent is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease period. For capital leases, the Company records the leased asset with a corresponding liability. Payments are recorded as
reductions to the liability with an appropriate interest charge recorded based on the then-outstanding remaining liability.
The Company considers the nature of the renovations and the Company’s involvement during the construction period of newly leased office space to determine if it is considered, for accounting purposes only,
to be the owner of the construction project during the construction period. If the Company determines that it is the owner of the construction project, it is required to capitalize the fair value of the building as
well as the construction costs incurred on its Consolidated Balance Sheet along with a corresponding financing liability (“build-to-suit accounting”). Upon occupancy for build-to-suit leases, the Company
assesses whether the circumstances qualify for sales recognition under the sale-leaseback accounting guidance. If the lease meets the sale-leaseback criteria, the Company will remove the asset and related
financial obligation from the balance sheet and treat the building lease as an operating lease. If upon completion of construction, the project does not meet the sale-leaseback criteria, the leased property will be
treated as a capital lease for financial reporting purposes.
In May 2016, the Company took possession of its corporate headquarters in Brooklyn, New York upon substantial completion of the construction phase of the build-out. Upon completion of the project, the
Company performed a sale-leaseback analysis pursuant to Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 840 —Leases , to determine the appropriateness of removing the previously capitalized assets from the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company concluded that components of “continuing involvement” were evident as a result of this review, precluding the derecognition of the related assets from the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. In conjunction with the initiation of the lease in May 2014, the Company also recorded a facility financing
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obligation equal to the fair market value of the assets received from the landlord. As of December 31, 2017 , the facility financing obligation outstanding was $60.0 million . At the end of the lease term,
including exercise of any renewal options, the remaining value of the net facility financing obligation over the net carrying value of the fixed asset will be recognized as a non-cash gain on sale of the property.
The Company does not report rent expense for the lease. Rather, rental payments under the lease are recognized as a reduction of the financing obligation and interest expense, and the associated asset
capitalized throughout the construction project is depreciated over its estimated useful life.
Income Taxes
The income tax benefit (provision) is based on income (loss) before income taxes and is accounted for under the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized
for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected
to settle. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized as income or expense in the period that includes the enactment date. Management assesses the need for a valuation
allowance on a quarterly basis to reduce deferred tax assets to the amounts expected to be realized.
The Company accounts for uncertainty in income taxes using a recognition threshold and a measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of tax positions taken or expected to
be taken in a tax return. For benefits to be recognized, a tax position must be more likely than not to be sustained upon examination by the taxing authorities. The amount recognized is measured as the largest
amount of benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate audit settlement.
The Company recognizes interest and penalties, if any, associated with income tax matters as part of the income tax provision and includes accrued interest and penalties with the related income tax liability in
the Consolidated Balance Sheet.
Business Combinations
The Company has completed a number of acquisitions of other businesses in the past and may acquire additional businesses or technologies in the future. The results of businesses acquired in a business
combination are included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition. The Company allocates the purchase price, which is the sum of the consideration provided and may
consist of cash, equity or a combination of the two, in a business combination to the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquired business at their acquisition date fair values. The excess of the purchase
price over the amount allocated to the identifiable assets and liabilities, if any, is recorded as goodwill. Determining the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed requires management to use
significant judgment and estimates, including the selection of valuation methodologies, estimates of future revenue and cash flows, discount rates and selection of comparable companies.
When the Company issues stock-based or cash awards to an acquired company’s stockholders, the Company evaluates whether the awards are contingent consideration or compensation for post-combination
services. The evaluation includes, among other things, whether the vesting of the awards is contingent on the continued employment of the acquired company’s stockholder beyond the acquisition date. If
continued employment is required for vesting, the awards are treated as compensation for post-combination services and recognized as expense over the requisite service period.
The Company initially recognizes intangible assets at fair value, and amortizes them on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. When circumstances indicate that the carrying value of these assets
may not be recoverable, the Company reviews its identifiable amortizable intangible assets for impairment.
To date, the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the Company’s business combinations have primarily consisted of goodwill and finite-lived intangible assets, consisting primarily of developed
technologies, customer relationships and trademarks. The estimated fair values and useful lives of identifiable intangible assets are based on many factors, including estimates and assumptions of future
operating performance and cash flows of the acquired business, the nature of the business acquired and the specific characteristics of the identified intangible assets. The estimates and assumptions used to
determine the fair values and useful lives of identified intangible assets could change due to numerous factors, including market conditions, technological developments, economic conditions and competition.
In connection with determination of fair values, the
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Company may engage independent appraisal firms to assist with the valuation of intangible and certain tangible assets acquired and certain assumed obligations.
Acquisition-related transaction costs incurred by the Company are not included as a component of consideration transferred, but are accounted for as an expense in the period in which the costs are incurred.
Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the aggregate fair value of the consideration transferred in a business combination over the fair value of the assets acquired, net of liabilities assumed. Goodwill is not
amortized, but is subject to an annual impairment test. Management has determined that the Company has a single reporting unit and performs its annual goodwill impairment test during the fourth quarter or
more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the goodwill may be impaired.
Events or changes in circumstances which could trigger an impairment review include significant changes in the manner of the Company’s use of the acquired assets or the strategy for the Company’s overall
business, significant negative industry or economic trends, significant underperformance relative to historical or projected future results of operations, a significant adverse change in the business climate, cost
factors that have a negative effect on earnings and cash flows, an adverse action or assessment by a regulator, a sustained decrease in share price, unanticipated competition or a loss of key personnel.
The Company has the option to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether the existence of events or circumstances leads to a determination that it is more likely than not that the fair value of the
reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If, after assessing the totality of events or circumstances, the Company determines it is not more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than
its carrying amount, then additional impairment testing is not required. However, if the Company concludes otherwise, then it is required to perform a quantitative assessment for impairment.
The quantitative assessment involves comparing the estimated fair value of the reporting unit with its respective book value, including goodwill. If the estimated fair value exceeds book value, goodwill is
considered not to be impaired and no additional steps are necessary. If, however, the book value of the reporting unit exceeds the fair value, an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to the excess,
not to exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit.
The Company completed a qualitative analysis during the fourth quarter of 2017 . No impairment of goodwill was recorded during the three years ended December 31, 2017 .
Intangible Assets
Intangible assets are amortized over the estimated useful life of the acquired technology, customer relationships and trademarks, generally three years. When events or changes in circumstances require, the
Company assesses the likelihood of recovering the cost of intangible assets based on its expectations of future profitability, undiscounted cash flows and management’s plans with respect to operations to
determine if the asset is impaired and subject to write-off. Measurement of any impairment loss is based on the excess of the carrying value of the asset over the fair value.
Stock-Based Compensation
The Company accounts for its stock-based compensation awards in accordance with ASC Topic 718, Compensation—Stock Compensation (“ASC 718”). Stock options and restricted stock units (“RSUs”) are
awarded to employees and members of our Board of Directors and are measured at fair value at each grant date. The Company calculates the fair value of stock options on the date of grant using the BlackScholes option-pricing model and the expense is recognized over the requisite service period for awards expected to vest. Prior to the IPO, the Company utilized equity valuations based on comparable publiclytraded companies, discounted free cash flows, an analysis of the Company's enterprise value and other factors deemed relevant in estimating the fair value of its common stock. Subsequent to the IPO, the
Company has used the closing price of its common stock on Nasdaq as the fair value of its common stock. The risk-free rate for periods within the contractual life of the option is based on the U.S. Treasury
yield curve in effect at the time of grant. Expected volatilities are based on implied volatilities from market comparisons of certain publicly traded companies and other factors. The expected term of stock
options granted has been determined using the simplified method, which uses the midpoint between the vesting date and the contractual term. The
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fair value of RSUs is determined based on the closing price of the Company's common stock on Nasdaq on the grant date. The requisite service period for stock options and RSUs is generally four years from
the date of grant.
In the first quarter of 2017, the Company made an accounting policy election to recognize forfeitures as they occur upon adoption of guidance in ASU 2016-09, Compensation—Stock Compensation: Scope of
Modification Accounting . In reporting periods prior to 2017, the Company estimated forfeitures at the time of grant and revised in subsequent periods as necessary if actual forfeitures differed from estimates.
The Company accounts for stock-based compensation arrangements related to the ALM acquisition in restricted shares subject to a put option that allows the holder of the shares to put the shares back to the
Company for cash as liability-classified stock awards. These awards are re-measured at fair value each reporting period, with changes in fair value being charged to the statement of operations. Compensation
expense is recognized using a graded vesting methodology for each separately vesting tranche as though the award were, in substance, multiple awards. Unless the put option is exercised, the restricted shares
will be reclassified from a liability to an equity classified award upon the termination of the put option at the vesting of each separate tranche. In 2017, all outstanding restricted shares subject to a put option
became fully vested and the Company will no longer be required to remeasure these awards at fair value going forward.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all investments with an original maturity of three months or less at time of purchase to be cash equivalents. Cash restricted by third parties is not considered cash and cash equivalents.
Short-term Investments
Short-term investments, consisting primarily of corporate bonds, U.S. Government and agency securities and commercial paper with original maturities of greater than three months but less than one year when
purchased, are classified as available-for-sale and are reported at fair value using the specific identification method. Unrealized gains and losses are excluded from earnings and reported as a component of other
comprehensive income (loss), net of related estimated income tax provisions or benefits.
Concentration of Credit Risk
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments and funds receivable and seller accounts. The Company
reduces credit risk by placing its cash and cash equivalents with major financial institutions with high credit ratings. At times, such amounts may exceed federally insured limits. In addition, funds receivable are
generated primarily with credit card and payment processing companies which management believes are of high credit quality.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Management believes that the fair value of financial instruments, consisting of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, accounts receivable, funds receivable and seller accounts, accounts payable
and funds payable and seller accounts, approximates carrying value due to the immediate or short-term maturity associated with these instruments.
Marketing
Marketing expenses largely consist of direct marketing and indirect employee-related expenses to support our marketing initiatives. Direct marketing includes digital marketing, brand marketing, seller lifecycle
and growth activities, public relations and communications and marketing partnerships. Digital marketing primarily consists of targeted promotional campaigns through electronic channels, such as product
listing ads, search engine marketing, affiliate programs and display advertising which are focused on buyer acquisition and brand marketing. Advertising expenses, which are expensed as incurred, related to
direct marketing, included in marketing expenses on the Consolidated Statements of Operations, were $78.4 million , $55.5 million and $46.9 million in the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015,
respectively.
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Product development
Product development expenses consist primarily of employee-related expenses for engineering, product management, product design and product research activities. Additional expenses include consulting
costs related to the development, quality assurance and testing of new technology and enhancement of our existing technology.
Net Income (Loss) Per Share
The Company follows the two-class method when computing net income (loss) per share as the Company has issued restricted shares that meet the definition of participating securities in connection with the
acquisition of Blackbird Technologies, Inc (“Blackbird”) in 2016. The two-class method determines net income (loss) per share for each class of common stock and participating securities according to
dividends declared or accumulated and participation rights in undistributed earnings. The two-class method requires income available to common stockholders for the period to be allocated between common
stock and participating securities based upon their respective rights to receive dividends as if all income for the period had been distributed. The Company will continue to implement the two-class method when
computing net income (loss) per share through the end of the three year vesting term for these restricted shares.
Basic net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders is computed by dividing the net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding for the period. Diluted net income (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) for the period by the weighted average number of shares of common stock and potentially dilutive
common stock outstanding during the period. The dilutive effect of outstanding options and stock-based compensation awards is reflected in diluted net income (loss) per share by application of the treasury
stock method. The calculation of diluted net income (loss) per share excludes all anti-dilutive common shares. For periods in which the Company has reported net losses, diluted net loss per share attributable to
common stockholders is the same as basic net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, because dilutive common shares are not assumed to have been issued if their effect is anti-dilutive.
Contingencies
The Company accrues for loss contingencies when losses become probable and are reasonably estimable. If the reasonable estimate of the loss is a range and no amount within the range is a better estimate, the
minimum amount of the range is recorded as a liability. The Company does not accrue for contingent losses that, in its judgment, are considered to be reasonably possible, but not probable; however, it discloses
the range of such reasonably possible losses.
Segment Data
The Company identifies operating segments as components of an entity for which discrete financial information is available and is regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker, or decision-making
group, in making decisions regarding resource allocation and performance assessment. The Company defines the term “chief operating decision maker” to be its chief executive officer. The Company has
determined it operates in one operating segment and one reportable segment, as its chief operating decision maker reviews financial information presented on only a consolidated basis for purposes of allocating
resources and evaluating financial performance.
Foreign Currency
The Company has determined that the functional currency for each of its foreign operations is the currency of the primary cash flow of the operations, which is generally the local currency in which the
operation is located. All assets and liabilities are translated into U.S. dollars using exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date. Revenue and expenses are translated using average exchange rates during the
period. Foreign currency translation adjustments are reflected in stockholders’ equity as a component of other comprehensive income (loss). Transaction gains and losses including intercompany balances
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the entity involved are included in foreign exchange gain (loss) within other income (expense) in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.
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Excess Tax Benefits from Exercise of Stock Options
As of the first quarter of 2017, the Company adopted ASU 2016-09, Stock Compensation: Improvements to Employee Share-based Payment Accounting , for share-based payment transactions that require a
reporting entity to recognize excess tax benefits and deficiencies as income tax expense or benefit in the income statement. Prior to this adoption, including years ended December 31, 2015 and December 31,
2016, the Company used the “with and without” approach in determining the order in which tax attributes were utilized. As a result, the Company recognized a tax benefit from stock-based awards (“windfall”)
in additional paid-in capital only if an incremental tax benefit was realized after all other tax attributes available to the Company had been utilized. When tax deductions from stock-based awards were less than
the cumulative book compensation expense, the tax effect of the resulting difference (“shortfall”) was charged first to additional paid-in capital, to the extent of the Company’s pool of windfall tax benefits, with
any remainder recognized in income tax expense.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers , and additional changes, modifications, clarifications or interpretations related
to this guidance thereafter, which replaces existing revenue recognition guidance. The new guidance is effective for the annual and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2017. Among other things, the
updated guidance requires companies to recognize revenue in a way that depicts the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to
be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. ASU 2014-09 provides companies with two implementation methods. Companies can choose to apply the standard retrospectively to each prior reporting
period presented (full retrospective application) or retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying the standard as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings of the annual
reporting period that includes the date of initial application (modified retrospective application). The Company will adopt this new standard effective January 1, 2018 using the full retrospective approach. The
Company has performed an assessment of its revenue streams and does not expect the adoption of this standard to result in changes to the Company's revenue recognition and therefore the impact will be
limited to additional disclosures as required by the new guidance. The Company is currently performing an assessment over data availability and the presentation that will be necessary to meet additional
disclosure requirements.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases , which requires a reporting entity to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet for operating leases to increase transparency
and comparability. The new guidance is effective for annual and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2018, and early adoption is permitted. Upon adoption of this standard, the Company expects to
recognize, on a discounted basis, its minimum commitments under noncancelable operating leases on the Consolidated Balance Sheets resulting in the recording of right of use assets and lease obligations. The
Company is currently evaluating whether there are any additional impacts this guidance will have on its consolidated financial statements.
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments , which requires credit losses on financial assets measured at amortized cost basis to be presented at the
net amount expected to be collected, not based on incurred losses. Further, credit losses on available-for-sale debt securities should be recorded through an allowance for credit losses limited to the amount by
which fair value is below amortized cost. The new standard is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2019. Early adoption for fiscal years, and
interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2018 is permitted. We are evaluating the impact of adopting this new accounting guidance on our consolidated financial statements.
In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows: Restricted Cash , which requires that a statement of cash flows explain the change during the period in the total of cash, cash
equivalents and amounts generally described as restricted cash or restricted cash equivalents. The new guidance is effective for the annual and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2017 and early
adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the effect this guidance will have on its consolidated financial statements, but does not expect it to have a significant impact on its consolidated
financial statements because its balance of restricted cash does not change significantly from period to period.
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Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-09, Stock Compensation: Improvements to Employee Share-based Payment Accounting , that requires a reporting entity to recognize excess tax benefits and
deficiencies as income tax expense or benefit in the income statement, and simplifies other aspects of accounting and presentation requirements for share-based payment transactions. The new guidance is
effective for annual and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2016, and early adoption is permitted for financial statements as of the beginning of an interim or annual reporting period. The Company
adopted this standard in the first quarter of 2017. As a result of this updated guidance, the Company recorded $12.8 million of excess tax benefits, rather than additional paid-in capital, for the year ended
December 31, 2017. On a prospective basis after adoption, the Company has updated its calculation of diluted earnings per share to exclude excess tax benefits previously included in the calculation of assumed
proceeds under the treasury stock method. The Company has elected to apply the updated guidance on cash flow classification of excess tax benefits as operating activities using a retrospective approach for
consistent year-over-year comparability. The Company has elected to recognize forfeitures as they occur on a modified retrospective basis and to adopt the amendments on statutory withholding requirements
on a prospective basis, both of which have no material impact to the consolidated financial statements.
In October 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-16, Income Taxes: Intra-entity Transfers of Assets other than Inventory , which eliminated the exception that previously existed for the income tax consequences
of intra-entity asset transfers other than inventory. The new guidance is effective for annual and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2017. Early adoption is permitted in annual reporting periods for
which interim or annual financial statements have not been issued. The Company adopted this standard in the first quarter of 2017. The amendments in this update have been applied on a modified retrospective
basis through a cumulative effect adjustment recorded to accumulated deficit as of January 1, 2017 of $51.4 million , which represents the unamortized amount of the deferred tax charge asset on the balance
sheet at December 31, 2016. Consequently, the adoption of this standard eliminates the recognition in the tax provision of $17.1 million in each year through 2019, the year through which the deferred tax
charge was previously amortizable. Additionally, a deferred tax asset of $21.7 million was recognized which previously qualified for an exception that has been eliminated. A full valuation allowance for that
deferred tax asset was also recognized resulting in no impact to the consolidated financial statements.
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-01, Business Combinations: Clarifying the Definition of a Business , to clarify the definition of a business and provide guidance for evaluating whether transactions
should be accounted for as acquisitions (or disposals) of assets or businesses. The new guidance is to be applied on a prospective basis and is effective for the annual and interim periods beginning after
December 15, 2017. The Company adopted this standard in the fourth quarter of 2017 noting no material impact to the consolidated financial statements.
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other: Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairmen t, to simplify the measurement of goodwill impairment by eliminating step two
from the goodwill impairment test. The new guidance requires goodwill impairment to be measured as the amount by which a reporting unit’s carrying value exceeds its fair value, not to exceed the total
amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. The new guidance is effective for the annual and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2019 and early adoption is permitted. The Company adopted
this standard in the fourth quarter of 2017 noting no material impact to the consolidated financial statements.
In May 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-09, Compensation—Stock Compensation: Scope of Modification Accounting , to increase comparability and provide clarity on whether changes in the terms or
conditions in a share-based payment award require a reporting entity to apply modification guidance per FASB Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718. The new guidance is to be applied on a
prospective basis, is effective for the annual and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2017 and early adoption is permitted. The Company adopted this standard in the fourth quarter of 2017 noting no
material impact to the consolidated financial statements.
Note 2—Business Combinations
On September 19, 2016 , the Company acquired all of the outstanding common stock of Blackbird, a machine learning company, for $32.5 million . The Company completed this acquisition to improve the
quality and relevance of search on Etsy.com. Total consideration for the acquisition was approximately $15.0 million , consisting of $8.1 million in cash and 513,304 shares of the Company’s common stock
with a fair value of $6.9 million on the acquisition date. Additionally, the Company issued 184,230 shares of common stock and restricted stock units (“RSUs”) on the acquisition date with a fair value
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of $2.5 million which are tied to continuous service with the Company as an employee and are being accounted for as post-combination stock-based compensation expense over a three -year vesting period. The
Company agreed to pay up to an additional $8.8 million in cash and issue an aggregate of 460,575 shares of RSUs post-close with a fair value of $6.2 million , both of which are also tied to continuous service
with the Company as an employee and are being accounted for as post-combination stock-based and other compensation expense over a three -year vesting period. A portion of the consideration and postcombination compensation is subject to indemnification provisions.
The below table summarizes the components of the Blackbird purchase price and allocation of the purchase price at fair value (in thousands):
Cash paid
Common shares
Total purchase consideration

$

8,050
6,966

$

15,016

Net working capital

$

Developed technology
Customer relationships
Goodwill
Deferred tax liability
Net assets acquired

81
7,200
1,250
8,660
(2,175)

$

15,016

Included in working capital is approximately $0.2 million of cash acquired.
The amounts allocated to developed technology and customer relationships (the acquired intangible assets) total $8.5 million . The acquired identifiable intangible assets are being amortized on a straight-line
basis approximating the pattern in which the assets are utilized. Acquired technology intangible assets will amortize over three years and acquired customer relationships were amortized over six months from
the acquisition date. The fair value assigned to developed technology was determined primarily by using the cost approach, which estimates the cost to reproduce the asset, adjusted for loss due to functional
and economic obsolescence. The fair value of the Company’s customer relationships was determined primarily by using the income approach, which discounts expected future cash flows to present value using
estimates and assumptions determined by management. Goodwill recorded in connection with the Blackbird acquisition is primarily attributed to the value of the acquired workforce and their future
contribution to Etsy. None of the resulting goodwill is deductible for tax purposes.
The Company incurred approximately $0.6 million in acquisition-related costs in the Blackbird acquisition in the year ended December 31, 2016 , included in general and administrative expenses. This
acquisition decreased the Company’s consolidated net income in the year ended December 31, 2017 by $9.2 million and contributed $2.4 million to the Company’s consolidated net loss in the year ended
December 31, 2016 . The impact to net income in the year ended December 31, 2017 was primarily due to stock-based and other compensation expenses associated with the acquisition of $5.8 million and
amortization of intangibles of $3.0 million , included in product development and marketing expenses.
The following unaudited pro forma financial information presents the combined operating results of the Company and Blackbird as if the acquisition had occurred on January 1, 2015 . The unaudited pro forma
financial information includes the accounting effects of the business combination, including adjustments to the amortization of intangible assets, stock-based and other compensation expenses and professional
fees associated with the acquisition. The unaudited pro forma information does not necessarily reflect the actual results that would have been achieved, nor is it necessarily indicative of our future consolidated
results.
The unaudited pro forma financial information is presented in the table below for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 (in thousands except per share amounts):
Year Ended December 31,
2016
Revenue

$

Net loss
Basic and diluted net loss per share

92

2015
365,786

$

273,616

(35,401)

(65,106)

(0.31)

(0.71)
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Note 3—Restructuring and Other Exit Costs
On April 30, 2017, the Board of Directors approved a plan to increase efficiency and streamline the Company's cost structure through headcount reductions and a reduction in internal program expenses (the
“May Actions”). On June 16, 2017, the Board of Directors approved additional initiatives that were designed to improve focus on key strategic growth opportunities (together with the May Actions, the
“Actions”). The Actions included total headcount reductions of 245 positions or 23% of the total workforce as of December 31, 2016, closing A Little Market (“ALM”), a marketplace in France, and closing or
consolidating certain international offices.
In connection with the Actions, the Company incurred $13.9 million of restructuring and other exit costs for the year ended December 31, 2017 , including $10.2 million of severance charges, $2.7 million of
stock modification charges and $1.0 million of other exit costs. The Company expects to incur up to an additional $0.8 million of potential costs, which are expected to be recognized through the first half of
2018. The remaining range of expected costs relates primarily to uncertainty in the amount of exit costs that will be recognized in connection with the ultimate disposition of one of the Company's international
offices.
The following table displays restructuring and other exit costs recorded related to the Actions and a rollforward of the charges to the accrued balance as of December 31, 2017 (in thousands):
Severance Charge
Balance, December 31, 2016

$

Total restructuring and other exit costs

Stock-Based Compensation
—

$

—

8,972

Costs charged against equity/assets

Other Exit Costs
$

1,668

—

Total
—

$

—

620

(1,668)

11,260

—

(1,668)

Cash payments

(2,110)

—

(278)

(2,388)

Balance, June 30, 2017

6,862

—

342

7,204

871

965

(70)

1,766

(965)

—

Total restructuring and other exit costs
Costs charged against equity/assets

—

Cash payments

(4,385)

Balance, September 30, 2017
Total restructuring and other exit costs

3,440

—

92

68

442

871

(68)

(286)

(354)

(2,401)
$

(4,565)

361
—

Cash payments

(965)

(180)

3,348

Costs charged against equity/assets

Balance, December 31, 2017

—

1,308

—
$

—

(214)
$

34

(2,615)
$

1,342

The Company expects remaining accrued balances related to restructuring and other exit costs as of December 31, 2017 to be paid in the first half of 2018.
Total restructuring and other exit costs included in the Consolidated Statements of Operations are as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended
December 31,
2017
Cost of revenue

$

2016
738

$

2015
—

$

—

Marketing

2,950

—

—

Product development

3,232

—

—

General and administrative

6,977

—

$

Total restructuring and other exit costs

93

13,897

$

—

—
$

—
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Note 4—Fair Value Measurements
The Company has characterized its investments in marketable securities, based on the priority of the inputs used to value the investments, into a three-level fair value hierarchy. The fair value hierarchy gives
the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1), and lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3). If the inputs used to measure the investments fall within
different levels of the hierarchy, the categorization is based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement of the investment. Investments recorded in the accompanying Consolidated
Balance Sheet are categorized based on the inputs to valuation techniques as follows:
Level 1—These are investments where values are based on unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets in an active market that the Company has the ability to access.
Level 2—These are investments where values are based on quoted market prices in markets that are not active or model derived valuations in which all significant inputs are observable in active markets.
Level 3—These are liabilities where values are derived from techniques in which one or more significant inputs are unobservable.
The following are the major categories of assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of the dates indicated (in thousands):
As of December 31, 2017
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

Asset
Cash equivalents:
Commercial paper

$

Money market funds

—

$

204,867

U.S. Government and agency securities

11,290

$

—

$

11,290

—

—

204,867

24,989

—

—

24,989

229,856

11,290

—

241,146

Short-term investments:
Commercial paper

—

2,998

—

2,998

Corporate bonds

—

12,748

—

12,748

9,362

—

—

9,362

9,362

15,746

—

25,108

14,144

—

—

14,144

14,144

—

—

U.S. Government and agency securities

Funds receivable and seller accounts:
Money market funds

$

94

253,362

$

27,036

$

—

14,144
$

280,398
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As of December 31, 2016
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

Asset
Cash equivalents:
Commercial paper

$

Money market funds

—

$

2,997

98,161

U.S. Government and agency securities

$

—

—

—

$

2,997
98,161

1,950

—

—

1,950

100,111

2,997

—

103,108

Commercial paper

—

17,146

—

17,146

Corporate bonds

—

33,303

—

33,303

50,045

—

—

50,045

50,045

50,449

—

100,494

Short-term investments:

U.S. Government and agency securities

$

150,156

$

53,446

$

—

$

203,602

$

—

$

—

$

2,067

$

2,067

$

—

$

—

$

2,067

$

2,067

Liability
Post-combination compensation classified as liability

Level 1 instruments include money market funds and AA-rated U.S. Government and agency securities, which are valued based on inputs including quotes from broker-dealers or recently executed transactions
in the same or similar securities.
Level 2 instruments include fixed-income funds consisting of investments in commercial paper and corporate bonds, which are valued based on quoted market prices in markets that are not active or model
derived valuations in which all significant inputs are observable in active markets.
Level 3 instruments include post-combination compensation classified as a liability in connection with the acquisition of A Little Market (“ALM”). The post-combination compensation was classified as a
liability due to its affiliation with a related put option, which expired upon vesting of the underlying consideration in the second quarter of 2017, and its fair value was previously determined based on the fair
value of the Company's common stock at the period-end reporting date, with adjustments included in general and administrative expenses.
The table below provides a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances for the liabilities measured at fair value using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) (in thousands):
Year Ended
December 31,
2017
Balance at beginning of period

$

Changes to liability-classified stock awards

2016
2,067

$

771

Conversion of liability-classified instruments to equity

1,652

(2,838)

Balance at end of period

$

95

—

2,357

(1,942)
$

2,067
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Note 5—Marketable Securities
Short-term investments and certain cash equivalents consist of marketable securities that are available-for-sale. The cost and fair value of available-for-sale securities were as follows as of the dates indicated (in
thousands):
Gross
Unrealized
Holding Loss

Cost

Gross
Unrealized
Holding Gain

Fair Value

December 31, 2017
Cash equivalents:
Commercial paper

$

U.S. Government and agency securities

11,290

$

—

$

—

$

11,290

24,990

(1)

—

24,989

36,280

(1)

—

36,279

Short-term investments:
Commercial paper
Corporate bonds
U.S. Government and agency securities

2,998

—

—

2,998

12,754

(6)

—

12,748

9,352

(1)

11

9,362

25,104

(7)

11

25,108

$

61,384

$

(8)

$

11

$

61,387

$

2,997

$

—

$

—

$

2,997

December 31, 2016
Cash equivalents:
Commercial paper

2,997

—

—

2,997

Short-term investments:
Commercial paper

17,146

—

—

17,146

Corporate bonds

33,318

(16)

1

33,303

U.S. Government and agency securities

50,059

(15)

1

50,045

100,523

(31)

2

100,494

$

103,520

$

(31)

$

2

$

103,491

The Company’s investments in marketable securities consist primarily of investments in AA-rated U.S. Government and agency securities and fixed-income funds. When evaluating investments for other-thantemporary impairment, the Company reviews factors such as length of time and extent to which fair value has been below cost basis, the financial condition of the issuer and the Company’s ability and intent to
hold the investment for a period of time, which may be sufficient for anticipated recovery in market value. The Company evaluates fair values for each individual security in the investment portfolio.
Note 6—Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consisted of the following as of the dates indicated (in thousands):
As of
December 31,
Estimated useful lives

2017

2016

Computer equipment

3 years

Furniture and equipment

2 - 4 years

6,194

Software

1 - 3 years

908

856

Leasehold improvements

Shorter of life of asset or lease term

10,929

10,155

Building

25 years

81,892

81,957

Website development

3 years

48,333

43,294

183,843

172,560

$

Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization

35,587

$

5,920

66,226
$

96

117,617

30,378

46,153
$

126,407
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Depreciation and amortization expense on property and equipment was $23.8 million , $19.2 million and $16.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 , respectively, which includes
amortization expense for equipment acquired under capital leases of $7.7 million , $6.3 million and $3.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 , respectively. The gross balance of
leased equipment as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 was $27.7 million and $22.3 million , respectively. The related accumulated amortization of equipment under capital leases was $18.6 million and $10.9
million at December 31, 2017 and 2016 , respectively.
The following table summarizes capitalized website development and internal-use software activities during the periods indicated (in thousands):
Year Ended
December 31,
2017
Balance as of the beginning of the period

$

2016
43,294

Additions to website development, excluding stock-based compensation

$

33,469

10,028

Additions to website development—stock-based compensation
Less: Retirements
Less: Impairments

11,769

807

792

625

2,736

5,171

—

48,333

43,294

24,155

19,676

8,209

6,333

Less: Retirements

364

1,854

Less: Impairments

2,009

—

29,991

24,155

Less:
Accumulated amortization balance as of the beginning of the period
Amortization Expense

Accumulated amortization balance as of the end of the period
$

18,342

$

19,139

For the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 , the Company recorded amortization expense relating to capitalized website development and internal-use software of $8.2 million , $6.3 million and
$7.3 million , respectively. The loss on write-off for capitalized website development and internal-use software assets that were retired during the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 was $0.3
million , $0.9 million and $1.3 million , respectively.
The Company recognized a $3.2 million impairment loss related to capitalized website development and internal-use software during the year ended December 31, 2017 , included in asset impairment charges.
During the fourth quarter of 2017, the Company made the decision to discontinue certain product offerings, including Etsy Studio and Etsy Manufacturing, which was an indicator that the carrying amount of
certain capitalized website development and internal-use software assets may not be recoverable. The Company prepared an undiscounted cash flow analysis and determined that the values for these assets
exceeded the expected future cash flows and impaired the remaining book values based on a negative present value of projected undiscounted cash flows.
Note 7—Goodwill and Intangible Assets
The following table summarizes the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the periods indicated (in thousands):
Year Ended
December 31,
2017
Balance as of the beginning of the period

$

Acquisitions(1)

$

—

Foreign currency translation adjustments
$

Includes goodwill as a result of the Blackbird Technologies acquisition. See “ Note 2—Business Combinations ” for more information.

97

38,541

27,752
8,660

2,884

Balance as of the end of the period
(1)

2016
35,657

(755)
$

35,657
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The Company did not recognize any goodwill impairments during the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 .
At December 31, 2017 and 2016 , the gross book value and accumulated amortization of intangible assets were as follows (in thousands):
As of December 31, 2017
Gross book
value (1)

Technology

$

Customer relationships
Intangible assets, net
(1)

7,200

$

—
$

As of December 31, 2016

Accumulated
amortization (1)

7,200

Net book
value

(3,100)

$

—
$

(3,100)

Gross book
value (1)

4,100

$

—
$

4,100

Accumulated
amortization (1)

10,466

$

(3,536)

1,250
$

11,716

Net book
value

$

6,930

$

7,507

(673)
$

(4,209)

577

Excludes the gross book value and accumulated amortization of fully amortized intangibles.

The Company acquired intangible assets valued at $8.5 million in the Blackbird acquisition on September 19, 2016 . The Company acquired intangible assets valued at $4.1 million and $2.8 million in the ALM
and Jarvis Labs, Inc. (“Grand St.”) acquisitions in June and April 2014.
Amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 was $3.4 million , $3.3 million and $2.2 million , respectively.
The Company did not recognize any intangible asset impairment losses in the year ended December 31, 2017 . The Company recognized a $0.6 million intangible asset impairment loss during the year ended
December 31, 2016 , included in asset impairment charges. During the fourth quarter of 2016, the Company determined that there were indicators present that the carrying amount of intangible assets acquired
in the ALM and Grand St. acquisitions may not be recoverable. The Company prepared an undiscounted cash flow analysis and determined that intangible assets for customer relationships and trademarks
acquired in the ALM and Grand St. acquisitions were not recoverable. The Company used the income approach to determine the fair value of intangible assets and concluded that these assets were fully
impaired.
Based on amounts recorded at December 31, 2017 , the Company estimates intangible asset amortization expense in each of the years ending December 31 as follows (in thousands):
2018
2019
Thereafter
Total amortization expense

$

2,400
1,700
—

$

4,100

Note 8—Debt
Credit Agreement
The Company terminated the senior secured revolving credit facility pursuant to a Revolving Credit and Guaranty Agreement with several lenders (the “Credit Agreement”) effective as of November 21, 2017.
As of the date of termination, there were no borrowings outstanding under the Credit Agreement and we incurred no additional fees as a result of early termination. In May 2014 , the Company entered into a
$35.0 million Credit Agreement. In March 2015, the Company amended the Credit Agreement to increase the credit facility to $50.0 million. In December 2015, the Company amended the Credit Agreement to
clarify certain provisions relating to permitted investments and to make other immaterial updates. The amended Credit Agreement included a letter of credit sublimit of $10.0 million and a swingline loan
sublimit of $15.0 million. The Credit Agreement, as amended, would have expired in May 2019.
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Note 9—Warrants
As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company did not have any outstanding warrants.
In May 2016, the Company issued 80,011 shares of common stock upon the net exercise of warrants to purchase 97,931 shares of common stock with a weighted-average exercise price of $1.62 per share and a
weighted-average fair market value of common stock at the date of exercise of $8.88 . The warrant holders exercised this warrant in a cashless transaction and 17,920 shares were forfeited to the Company as
payment of the exercise price.
During 2015 upon the closing of the IPO, all outstanding warrants for preferred stock were converted into warrants for 203,030 shares of common stock. The warrants were revalued at the opening stock price
of $24.97 on April 21, 2015, the closing date of the IPO, and $5.1 million was reclassified from liabilities to equity on that date.
In October 2015, the Company issued 96,869 shares of common stock upon the net exercise of warrants to purchase 105,099 shares of common stock with a weighted-average exercise price of $1.03 per share
and a weighted-average fair market value of common stock at the date of exercise of $12.90 . The warrant holders exercised this warrant in a cashless transaction and 8,230 shares were forfeited to the
Company as payment of the exercise price.
The Company did not record any unrealized gains or losses from the remeasurement of the warrants to fair value in the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 . During the year ended December 31, 2015 ,
the Company recorded an unrealized loss of $3.1 million from the remeasurement of the warrants to fair value.
Note 10—Stockholders’ Equity
At December 31, 2017 and 2016 , the authorized capital stock of the Company included 1,400,000,000 shares of common stock. At December 31, 2017 and 2016 there were 25,000,000 shares of preferred stock
authorized.
Common Stock
At December 31, 2017 and 2016 there were 121,769,238 and 115,973,039 shares of common stock issued and outstanding, respectively. Holders of common stock are entitled to one vote per share. Holders of
common stock are not entitled to receive dividends unless declared by the Board of Directors. No dividends have been declared through December 31, 2017 . The common stock has a $0.001 par value.
Convertible Preferred Stock
Upon the closing of the IPO on April 21, 2015, all outstanding shares of convertible preferred stock were converted into 53,448,243 shares of common stock. As of December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, there
was no convertible preferred stock outstanding.
Common Stock Issuances
In the year ended December 31, 2016 , the Company issued a total of 685,749 shares of common stock in connection with the acquisition of Blackbird, of which 513,304 shares with an aggregate fair value of
$6.9 million on the applicable acquisition date is included in the purchase price and 172,445 shares with an aggregate fair value of $2.3 million on the applicable acquisition date is tied to continued
employment with the Company and is being accounted for as post-combination compensation expense.
Share Repurchase Program
In November 2017, the Board of Directors approved a stock repurchase program that enables the Company to repurchase up to $100 million of its common stock. The program does not have a time limit and
may be modified, suspended or terminated at any time by the Board of Directors. The number of shares repurchased and the timing of repurchases will depend on a number of factors, including, but not limited
to, stock price, trading volume and general market conditions, along with Etsy’s working capital requirements, general business conditions and other factors.
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Under the stock repurchase program, the Company may purchase shares of its common stock through various means, including open market transactions, privately negotiated transactions, tender offers or any
combination thereof. In addition, open market repurchases of common stock may be made pursuant to trading plans established pursuant to Rule 10b5-1 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
which would permit common stock to be repurchased at a time that the Company might otherwise be precluded from doing so under insider trading laws or self-imposed trading restrictions.
The following table summarizes the Company's share repurchase activity, excluding shares withheld to satisfy tax withholding obligations in connection with the vesting of employee restricted stock units (in
thousands except share and per share amounts):
Average Price Paid per
Share (1)

Shares Repurchased
Balance as of November 17, 2017

—

$

—

Value of Shares
Repurchased
$

Remaining Amount
Authorized
—

$

100,000

Repurchases of common stock for the three months ended:
December 31, 2017

586,231
586,231

Balance as of December 31, 2017

17.57
$

17.57

10,301
$

10,301

(10,301)
$

89,699

(1) Average price paid per share excludes broker commissions.
All repurchases were made using cash resources.
Note 11—Stock-based Compensation
The Company's 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2015 Plan”) was adopted by its Board of Directors and approved by stockholders in March 2015. The 2015 Plan became effective immediately upon adoption
although no awards were made under it until the effective date of the IPO. The 2015 Plan replaced the 2006 Stock Plan, and no further grants were made under the 2006 Stock Plan as of the effective date of the
IPO.
Under the 2006 Stock Plan, incentive and nonqualified stock options or rights to purchase common stock were granted to eligible participants. Options were generally granted for a term of 10 years and
generally vested 25% after the first year of service and ratably each month over the remaining 36 -month period contingent on continued employment with the Company on each vesting date.
The 2015 Plan provides for the grant of incentive stock options, non-statutory stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units (“RSUs”) and performance cash awards to
employees, directors and consultants. Beginning in 2016, the number of shares available for issuance under the 2015 Plan may be increased annually by an amount equal to the lesser of 7,050,000 shares of
common stock, 5% of the outstanding shares of common stock as of the last day of the immediately preceding fiscal year, or such other amount as determined by the Company's Board of Directors. The Board
of Directors approved an increase of 6,088,461 , 5,798,651 and 2,814,083 shares available for issuance under the 2015 Plan as of January 2, 2018, January 3, 2017 and January 4, 2016 , respectively. Any
awards issued under the 2015 Plan that are forfeited by the participant will become available for future grant under the 2015 Plan. The number of shares of the Company’s common stock initially reserved for
issuance under the 2015 Plan equaled the sum of 14,100,000 shares plus up to 12,653,075 shares reserved for issuance or subject to outstanding awards under the 2006 Stock Plan. At December 31, 2017 ,
23,347,913 shares were authorized under the 2015 Plan and 14,355,379 shares were available for future grant.
In the first quarter of 2017, the Company made an accounting policy election to recognize forfeitures as they occur upon adoption of guidance in ASU 2016-09, Stock Compensation: Improvements to Employee
Share-based Payment Accounting . In reporting periods prior to 2017, the Company estimated forfeitures at the time of grant and revised in subsequent periods as necessary if actual forfeitures differed from
estimates.
In the year ended December 31, 2017 , the Company granted nonqualified stock options and RSUs to eligible participants. Options were generally granted for a term of 10 years . For both options and RSUs,
vesting is typically over a four -year period and is contingent upon continued employment with the Company on each vesting date. In general, for newly-hired employees, options vest 25% after the first year
of service and ratably each month over the remaining 36 -month period. In general, for current employees who receive an additional grant, options vest ratably each month over a 48 -month period. In general,
for
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newly-hired employees, RSUs vest 25% after the first year following the vesting commencement date, which is the first day of the fiscal quarter closest to the date of grant, and then vest ratably each quarter
over the remaining 12 -quarter period. In general, for current employees who receive an additional grant, RSUs vest ratably each quarter over a 16 -quarter period following the vesting commencement date,
which is the first day of the fiscal quarter closest to the date of grant .
The fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model using the inputs below. Prior to the IPO, the Company utilized equity valuations based on
comparable publicly-traded companies, discounted free cash flows, an analysis of the Company's enterprise value and other factors deemed relevant in estimating the fair value of its common stock. Subsequent
to the IPO, the Company has used the closing price of its common stock on Nasdaq as the fair value of its common stock. The risk-free rate for periods within the contractual life of the option is based on the
U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant for time periods that approximate the expected life of the option awards. Expected volatilities are based on implied volatilities from market comparisons
of certain publicly traded companies and other factors. The expected term of stock options granted has been determined using the simplified method, which uses the midpoint between the vesting date and the
contractual term. The requisite service period is generally four years from the date of grant. The fair value of RSUs is determined based on the closing price of the Company's common stock on Nasdaq on the
grant date.
The fair value of options granted in each year using the Black-Scholes pricing model has been based on the following assumptions:
Year Ended
December 31,
Volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Expected term (in years)

2017

2016

2015

41.7% - 44.2%

38.6% - 44.6%

40.4% - 45.0%

1.9% - 2.2%

1.1% - 2.1%

1.3% - 1.9%

5.5 - 6.3

5.5 - 6.3

5.5 - 6.1

—%

—%

—%

Dividend rate

The following table summarizes the activity for the Company’s options (in thousands except share and per share amounts):

Outstanding at December 31, 2014
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited/Canceled
Outstanding at December 31, 2015
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited/Canceled
Outstanding at December 31, 2016
Granted

Weighted-Average
Remaining Contract
Term (in years)

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price

Shares

11,525,279

$

5.34

1,660,170

16.19

(1,315,735)

2.76

(800,855)

9.94

11,068,859

6.94

1,700,234

9.35

(2,535,620)

4.17

(893,906)

9.51

9,339,567

7.89

5,887,183

11.04

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value

7.57

$

134,386

7.01

31,932

6.64

43,613

Exercised

(5,760,263)

5.87

Forfeited/Canceled

(1,518,548)

11.36

Outstanding at December 31, 2017

7,947,939

11.02

7.93

74,996

Total exercisable at December 31, 2017

2,294,818

10.48

4.81

22,912
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The following table summarizes the weighted average grant date fair value of options granted, intrinsic value of options exercised and fair value of awards vested in periods indicated (in thousands except per
share amounts):
Year Ended December 31,
2017
Weighted average grant date fair value of options granted

2016

$

4.85

$

2015
4.03

$

6.89

Intrinsic value of options exercised

52,693

19,130

15,148

Fair value of awards vested

19,826

9,533

8,337

The total unrecognized compensation expense at December 31, 2017 was $23.7 million , which will be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.21 years .
The following table summarizes the activity for the Company’s unvested RSUs:
Weighted-Average
Fair Value

Shares
Unvested at December 31, 2014

—

Granted

$

—

407,368

Vested

13.78

—

Forfeited/Canceled
Unvested at December 31, 2015
Granted

—

(11,522)

16.76

395,846

13.70

3,200,297

10.29

Vested

(255,868)

10.64

Forfeited/Canceled

(205,094)

10.15

Unvested at December 31, 2016

3,135,181

10.70

Granted

2,360,315

12.17

Vested

(1,072,321)

10.44

Forfeited/Canceled

(1,348,928)

10.56

3,074,247

11.98

Unvested at December 31, 2017

The total unrecognized compensation at December 31, 2017 was $30.1 million , which will be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.71 years .
Total stock-based compensation expense included in the Consolidated Statements of Operations is as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended
December 31,
2017
Cost of revenue

$

2016
1,739

$

2015
1,057

$

871

Marketing

1,933

971

560

Product development

8,274

5,079

2,860

General and administrative

14,613

Total stock-based compensation expense

$

26,559

8,794
$

15,901

6,550
$

10,841

The total stock-based compensation expense in the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 includes $3.9 million , $2.7 million and $1.9 million , in acquisition-related stock-based compensation
expense, respectively.
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Note 12—Income Taxes
The following are the domestic and foreign components of the Company’s income (loss) before income taxes (in thousands):
Year Ended
December 31,
2017
Domestic

$

2016

(16,583)

Foreign

$

48,848

Income (loss) before income taxes

$

32,265

2015
25,910

$

(28,786)
$

(2,876)

25,627
(53,621)

$

(27,994)

The income tax (benefit) provision is comprised of the following (in thousands):
Year Ended
December 31,
2017

2016

2015

Current:
Federal

$

State
Foreign
Total current

(6,397)

$

22,084

$

24,524

79

2,623

476

580

3,843
579

(5,842)

25,287

28,946

(34,948)

2,008

(2,863)

Deferred:
Federal
State

(8,778)

Foreign

33

Total deferred

(43,693)

Total income tax (benefit) provision

$

(49,535)

(247)

108

(23)

(122)

1,738
$

27,025

(2,877)
$

26,069

The current tax expense listed above does not reflect income tax benefits of $3.2 million and $3.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 , respectively, related to excess tax deductions on
share-based compensation because these benefits were recorded directly to additional paid-in capital. Beginning in the first quarter of 2017, the Company adopted ASU 2016-09, Stock Compensation:
Improvements to Employee Share-based Payment Accounting, and subsequently recorded excess tax deductions on share-based compensation as income tax benefit in its income statement. Please refer to “
Note 1—Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies ” for additional detail regarding the adoption of this accounting standard and its impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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A reconciliation of the income tax (benefit) provision at the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate of 35% to the Company’s total income tax (benefit) provision is as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended
December 31,
2017
Income tax benefit at federal statutory rate

$

State and local taxes net of federal benefit

2016
11,308

$

2015
(1,007)

$

(9,798)

(691)

1,545

2,575

Foreign income tax rate differential

(11,878)

5,849

11,584

Stock-based compensation

(12,584)

1,412

1,571

—

—

1,097

Non-deductible items

168

267

1,314

Uncertain tax positions

789

4,033

5,523

Return to provision adjustment

167

Net unrealized loss on warrant and other liabilities

Non-deductible acquisition costs

(498)

—

Change in valuation allowance

(4,673)

Research and development credit
Deferred charge on restructuring

(1,098)
—

U.S. tax reform

(31,063)

Other
$

(49,535)

10

4,911

7,957

(2,170)

(7,684)

12,168

12,168

—

20

Total income tax (benefit) provision

(25)

199

—

316
$

27,025

(223)
$

26,069

The primary driver of the income tax benefit for the year ended December 31, 2017 was the impact on deferred taxes from the reduction in the U.S. federal corporate tax rate beginning in 2018. On December
22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (the “Act”) was signed into law, which, among other items, reduced the corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21%. As a result, our deferred taxes and certain
unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2017 have been revalued at the reduced 21% rate. The revaluation resulted in a benefit for income taxes of approximately $31.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2017 .
The secondary driver of the income tax benefit for the year ended December 31, 2017 was the recognition of excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation as a result of the adoption of ASU 2016-09,
Stock Compensation: Improvements to Employee Share-based Payment Accounting in the first quarter of 2017. As a result of this updated guidance, we recorded $12.8 million of excess tax benefits, rather than
additional paid-in capital, for the year ended December 31, 2017 .
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Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes.
Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets (liabilities) are as follows (in thousands):
As of December 31,
2017

2016

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards

$

17,431

$

13,084

Research and development credit carryforwards

3,597

898

Stock-based compensation expense

3,776

5,692

Accrued VAT liability

42

68

Alternative minimum tax credit

274

274

Allowance for doubtful accounts

384

611

Deferred rent

573

644

Accrued vacation

623

1,035

Unrealized loss on foreign currency
Other, net
Total deferred tax assets
Less valuation allowance
Total net deferred tax asset

527

—

1,691

1,418

28,918

23,724

11,021

13,839

17,897

9,885

Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation
Global corporate restructuring liability
Unrealized gain on foreign currency

(6,850)

(6,618)

(33,783)

(64,460)

—

Other liabilities
Total deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred tax liabilities

$

(1,059)

(891)

(2,816)

(41,524)

(74,953)

(23,627)

$

(65,068)

The Company anticipates generating federal and state income tax NOL carryforwards as a result of its 2017 activity. The NOL deferred tax asset balance additionally includes losses in certain foreign
jurisdictions that are currently subject to a valuation allowance.
As of December 31, 2017 and 2016 , the Company had approximately $0.3 million and $0.3 million , respectively, of federal alternative minimum tax credits, which may be carried forward indefinitely. As of
December 31, 2017 and 2016 , the Company had $3.6 million and $0.9 million , respectively, of federal research and development tax credit carryforwards which will begin to expire in 2035 if unused.
The Company has not completed its accounting for the income tax effects of certain elements of the Act. The Act creates a new requirement that certain income such as Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income
(“GILTI”) earned by a controlled foreign corporation (“CFC”) must be included in the gross income of its U.S. parent. Because of the complexity of the new GILTI and Base Erosion and Anti-abuse Tax
(“BEAT”) rules, the Company is continuing to evaluate these provisions of the Act and whether taxes due on future U.S. inclusions related to GILTI and BEAT should be recorded as a current-period expense
when incurred, or factored into the Company's measurement of its deferred taxes. As a result, an estimate of the tax expense or benefit related to these items for the period ending December 31, 2017 has not
been included.
The Company assesses the likelihood of its ability to realize the benefit of its deferred tax assets in each jurisdiction by evaluating all relevant positive and negative evidence. To the extent the Company
determines that some or all of its deferred tax assets are not more likely than not to be realized, it establishes a valuation allowance. For the year ended December 31, 2017 , the Company determined that the
existence of a three -year cumulative loss incurred in certain foreign jurisdictions, inclusive of 2017 , constituted sufficiently strong negative evidence to warrant the maintenance of a valuation allowance. As a
result, a valuation allowance of $11.0 million as of December 31, 2017 has been recorded against certain of the Company’s deferred tax assets. The amount of the deferred tax assets considered realizable is
$17.9 million .
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The following table summarizes the valuation allowance activity for the periods indicated (in thousands):
Year Ended
December 31,
2017
Balance as of the beginning of period

$

2016

Additions charged to expense

13,839
—

Deletions credited to expense

(4,691)

Currency translation

$

$

11,021

$

1,892

4,886

7,983

—

1,873

Balance as of the end of period

2015
9,540

—

(587)
$

13,839

(335)
$

9,540

The Company has not recorded deferred income taxes and withholding taxes with respect to undistributed earnings from its non-U.S. subsidiaries as such earnings are intended to be reinvested indefinitely. The
amount of undistributed earnings of non-U.S. subsidiaries at December 31, 2017 , as well as the related deferred income tax, if any, is not material.
The following table summarizes the unrecognized tax benefit activity for the periods indicated (in thousands):
As of December 31,
2017
Balance as of the beginning of period

$

Additions based on tax positions related to the current year
Additions for tax positions of prior years
Reductions for tax provisions of prior years

2016
23,574

$

$

$

398

732

1,071

21,797

118

274

34

(7,411)

Balance as of the end of period

2015
22,229

17,013

—
$

23,574

—
$

22,229

The amount of unrecognized tax benefits included within other liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 are $17.0 million , $23.6 million and $22.2 million ,
respectively. The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would favorably affect the effective tax rate is $17.0 million at December 31, 2017 .
In January 2015, the Company implemented an updated global corporate structure to more closely align with its global operations and future expansion plans outside of the United States. The new structure
changed how the Company uses its intellectual property and implemented certain intercompany arrangements. The Company believes this may eventually result in a reduction in its overall effective tax rate and
other operational efficiencies. The revised structure resulted in the setup of a deferred tax liability in the amount of $66.0 million on the taxable gain created in the transaction. Concurrently, the Company
recorded an asset of $66.0 million for the deferred tax charge representing the future income tax on the gain, which would have been amortized into income tax expense through 2019. During the first quarter of
2017, the Company adopted ASU 2016-16, Income Taxes: Intra-entity Transfers of Assets other than Inventory, resulting in a cumulative adjustment to retained earnings for the unamortized balance of the
deferred tax charge at December 31, 2016. Please refer to “ Note 1—Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies ” for additional detail regarding the adoption of this accounting
standard and its impact on the consolidated financial statements.
The Company is subject to taxation in the United States, New York, and various other states and foreign jurisdictions. As of December 31, 2017 , tax year 2014 and later remain open to examination.
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Note 13— Net Income (Loss) Per Share
The following table presents the calculation of basic and diluted net income (loss) per share for periods presented (in thousands except share and per share amounts):
Year Ended
December 31,
2017

2016

2015

Numerator:
Net income (loss)

$

81,800

Net income (loss) allocated to participating securities under the two-class method

$

(29,901)

(80)

Net income (loss) applicable to common stockholders—basic

81,720

Dilutive effect of net income allocated to participating securities under the two-class method
Change in fair value of liability classified restricted stock
Net income (loss) applicable to common stockholders—diluted

$

(54,063)
—

(29,901)

80

—

771

—

82,571

$

—

$

(29,901)

(54,063)
—
—
$

(54,063)

Denominator:
Weighted average common shares outstanding—basic (1)

118,538,687

113,562,738

91,122,291

Common equivalent shares from options to purchase common stock and restricted stock units

2,498,448

—

—

Dilutive effect of assumed conversion of restricted stock units

1,177,799

—

—

52,739

—

—

122,267,673

113,562,738

91,122,291

Diluted effective of assumed conversion of restricted stock from acquisition
Weighted average common shares outstanding—diluted

Net income (loss) per share applicable to common stockholders—basic

$

0.69

$

(0.26)

$

(0.59)

Net income (loss) per share applicable to common stockholders—diluted

$

0.68

$

(0.26)

$

(0.59)

(1) 114,963 shares of unvested stock are considered participating securities and are excluded from basic shares outstanding for the year ended December 31, 2017 .
The following potential common shares were excluded from the calculation of diluted net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders because their effect would have been anti-dilutive for the
periods presented:
Year Ended
December 31,
2017
Stock options

2016

2015

4,902,664

10,041,403

11,806,620

435,358

2,043,544

128,200

Warrants

—

33,447

182,031

Convertible preferred stock

—

—

16,254,123

Total anti-dilutive securities

5,338,022

12,118,394

28,370,974

Restricted stock units
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Note 14—Segment and Geographic Information
The Company has determined it operates as one operating and reportable segment for purposes of allocating resources and evaluating financial performance.
Revenue by country is based on the billing address of the seller. The following table summarizes revenue, income (loss) before income taxes and net income (loss) by geographic area (in thousands):
Year Ended
December 31,
2017
United States

$

International

2016

317,755

$

123,476

Revenue

United States

441,231

$

$

(44,931)

$

77,196

Income (loss) before income taxes

$

United States

$

International
$

213,389

364,967

$

273,499

7,926

$

60,110

(10,802)

11,973
(39,967)

32,265

$

(2,876)

$

(27,994)

5,113

$

(18,542)

$

(13,639)

76,687

Net income (loss)

$

88,430

$

International

2015

276,537

81,800

(11,359)
$

(29,901)

(40,424)
$

(54,063)

No individual international country’s revenue exceeded 10% of total revenue. All significant long-lived assets are located in the United States.
Note 15—Commitments and Contingencies
Lease Commitments
Capital Leases
The Company entered into a credit agreement with Dell Financial Services, LLC. (“DFS”) on February 17, 2016, which provided the Company with a credit line of up to $6.0 million for hosting equipment
leases (the “DFS Line”), which was increased to $9.0 million during 2017. The DFS Line allows the Company to lease hosting equipment from DFS. The leases have a 36 -month term, zero interest and are
payable in equal monthly installments with a buy-out option of $1 at the end of the lease term. As of December 31, 2017 , the Company has lease obligations of approximately $4.8 million related to leased
hosting equipment using the DFS Line.
The Company entered into a credit agreement with ePlus Group, Inc. (“ePlus”) on January 3, 2014, which provided the Company with a credit line of up to $8.0 million for computer equipment leases (the
“ePlus Line”), which was increased to $18.0 million during 2015. The ePlus Line allows the Company to order equipment from any approved vendor. ePlus purchases the equipment on behalf of the Company
and leases it back to the Company. The leases have a 36 -month term, interest rate of 3.50 - 6.93% and are payable in equal monthly installments at fair market value or a $1 buy-out option at the end of the
lease term depending on the equipment. As of December 31, 2017 , the Company has lease obligations of approximately $5.1 million related to leased computer equipment using the ePlus Line.
The Company had a credit agreement with TriplePoint Capital, LLC (“TriplePoint”), which provided the Company with a credit line of up to $20.0 million for computer equipment leases (the “TriplePoint
Line”). The TriplePoint Line allowed the Company to order equipment from any vendor. TriplePoint purchased the equipment on behalf of the Company and leased it back to the Company. The leases had a 36
-month term, interest rate of 8.25% and were payable in equal monthly installments. The Company stopped leasing equipment under the TriplePoint Line in June 2012 and paid off the remaining lease
obligations during 2015 in accordance with the terms of the credit agreement. At December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, the Company no longer had any lease obligations related to leased computer equipment
under the TriplePoint Line.
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For the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 , the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Operations includes charges of approximately $1.6 million , $1.6 million and $1.2 million for interest
expense, respectively, related to the equipment leased using the DFS, ePlus and TriplePoint Lines.
Operating Leases
In 2015, the Company entered into a new lease for office space in London, U.K. expiring in 2025, and entered into lease extensions for existing office space in San Francisco, California and Hudson, New York
expiring in 2020 and 2021, respectively. The Company did not enter into any material operating leases or extensions in 2016 or 2017. Rent expense for these operating leases is recognized over the term of each
respective lease on a straight-line basis. In addition, the Company leases other office facilities under shorter terms and cancelable leases.
Total rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 was $4.1 million , $6.0 million and $5.1 million , respectively.
Build-to-Suit Lease
In May 2014, the Company entered into a 10 -year lease agreement for approximately 199,000 rentable square feet of office space in Brooklyn, New York for the Company’s new headquarters, which
commenced in 2015 . Of the total new office space, approximately 172,000 rentable square feet is being accounted for as a build-to-suit lease and approximately 27,000 rentable square feet located in an
adjacent building is being accounted for as an operating lease. In connection with the lease agreement, the Company established a $5.3 million collateral account, reflected in the restricted cash balance on the
Consolidated Balance Sheet.
Purchase Obligations
The Company also has $77.3 million of non-cancelable contractual commitments as of December 31, 2017 , primarily related the initiative to migrate its data centers to the cloud, as well as other support
services. These commitments are primarily due within five years.
The following table represents the Company’s commitments under its current capital, operating and build-to-suit lease agreements and purchase obligations as of December 31, 2017 (in thousands):
Capital Lease
Obligations

Operating
Leases

Build-to-Suit
Lease

Purchase Obligations

Periods ending
2018

$

6,697

$

3,907

$

9,381

$

14,320

2019

3,556

3,912

9,451

13,332

2020

918

3,566

9,522

16,677

2021

—

2,819

10,354

16,000

2022

—

2,608

10,520

17,000

Thereafter

—

8,168

38,314

Total minimum payments required

$

Amounts representing interest

$

24,980

$

87,542

—
$

77,329

1,258

Present value of net minimum payments

9,913

Current maturities
Long-term payment obligations

11,171

5,798
$

4,115

Non-Income Tax Contingencies
The Company had reserves of $0.4 million and $0.3 million at December 31, 2017 and 2016 , respectively, for certain non-income tax obligations, representing management’s best estimate of its potential
liability. The Company could also be subject to
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examination in various jurisdictions related to income tax and non-income tax matters. The resolution of these types of matters, if in excess of the recorded reserve, could have an adverse impact on the
Company’s business.
Legal Proceedings
On May 13, 2015, a purported securities class action complaint ( Altayyar v. Etsy, Inc., et al. , Docket No. 1:15-cv-02785) was filed in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of New York
against the Company and certain officers. The complaint was brought on behalf of a purported class consisting of all persons or entities who purchased or otherwise acquired shares of the Company's common
stock from April 16, 2015 through and including May 10, 2015. It asserted violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 based on allegedly false or misleading statements and
omissions with respect to, among other things, merchandise for sale on the Company's website that may be counterfeit or constitute trademark or copyright infringement and actions taken by third-party brands
against Etsy sellers for trademark or copyright infringement.
On October 22, 2015, the court appointed a lead plaintiff and lead plaintiff’s counsel. On January 21, 2016, the lead plaintiff filed an amended class action complaint alleging false or misleading statements or
omissions with respect to substantially the same topics as the original complaint. The amended complaint adds certain outside directors and underwriters as defendants, expands the purported class period to be
April 16, 2015 to August 4, 2015, inclusive, and asserts violations of Sections 11, 12(a)(2), and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933, as well as Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The
amended complaint seeks certification as a class action and unspecified compensatory damages plus interest and attorneys' fees. On April 5, 2016, defendants moved to dismiss the amended complaint. On
March 24, 2017, the court entered a judgment dismissing the amended complaint in its entirety, with prejudice, based on an opinion filed March 16, 2017. On August 2, 2017, Plaintiffs appealed to the United
States Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit.
The Company and the named officers and directors intend to defend themselves vigorously against this action. In light of, among other things, the early stage of the litigation, the Company is unable to predict
the outcome of this matter and is unable to make a meaningful estimate of the amount or range of loss, if any, that could result from an unfavorable outcome.
On July 21, 2015, a purported securities class action complaint ( Cervantes v. Dickerson, et.al ., Case No. CIV 534768) was filed in the Superior Court of State of California, County of San Mateo against the
Company, certain officers, directors and underwriters. The complaint asserts violations of Sections 11 and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933. As in the Altayyar litigation, the complaint alleges
misrepresentations in the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 and Prospectus with respect to, among other things, merchandise for sale on the Company's website that may be counterfeit or
constitute trademark or copyright infringement. The complaint seeks certification as a class action and unspecified compensatory damages plus interest and attorneys' fees. On December 7, 2015, the Company
and the underwriter defendants moved to stay the Cervantes action on the grounds of forum non conveniens.
On November 5, 2015, another purported securities class action complaint ( Weiss v. Etsy et al. , No. CIV 536123) was filed in the Superior Court of State of California, County of San Mateo. The Weiss
complaint names as defendants the Company and the same officers, directors and underwriters named in the Cervantes complaint, and also asserts violations of Sections 11 and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933
based on allegedly false or misleading statements or omissions with respect to, among other things, merchandise for sale on the Company's website that may be counterfeit or constitute trademark or copyright
infringement. On December 24, 2015, the court consolidated the Cervantes and Weiss actions. The Company and the named officers and directors intend to defend themselves vigorously against these
consolidated actions. In light of, among other things, the early stage of the litigation, the Company is unable to predict the outcome of these consolidated actions and is unable to make a meaningful estimate of
the amount or range of loss, if any, that could result from an unfavorable outcome. On February 3, 2016, the court granted the Company’s motion to stay the consolidated actions.
In addition, from time to time in the normal course of business, various other claims and litigation have been asserted or commenced against the Company. Due to uncertainties inherent in litigation and other
claims, the Company can give no assurance that it will prevail in any such matters, which could subject the Company to significant liability for damages. Any claims or litigation, regardless of their success,
could have an adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated results of operations or cash flows in the period the claims or litigation are resolved. Although the results of litigation and claims cannot be
predicted with certainty, we currently believe that the final outcome of these ordinary course matters will not have a material adverse effect on our business.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2017 .
“Disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it
files or submits under the Exchange Act is (i) recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms and (ii) accumulated
and communicated to the company's management, including its principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Based on the
evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2017 at
the reasonable assurance level.
Management’s Report on Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Our management
conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017 based on the criteria set forth in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on the assessment, our management has concluded that its internal control over financial reporting was effective as of
December 31, 2017 to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP.
Our independent registered public accounting firm, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, has issued an audit report with respect to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2017 , which appears in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified during the fourth quarter ended December, 31, 2017 that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting.
Limitations on Controls
Our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting are designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. Our management recognizes that
any control system, no matter how well designed and operated, is based upon certain judgments and assumptions and cannot provide absolute assurance that its objectives will be met. Similarly, an evaluation
of controls cannot provide absolute assurance that misstatements due to error or fraud will not occur or that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected.
Item 9B. Other Information.
None.
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Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement for the 2018 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (“Proxy Statement”) to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2017 .
Our Board of Directors has adopted a Code of Conduct applicable to all officers, directors and employees, which is available on
our website (investors.etsy.com) under “Leadership & Governance — Governance Documents.” We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirement under Item 5.05 of Form 8-K regarding amendments and
waivers of our Code of Conduct by posting information on the website address specified above.
Item 11. Executive Compensation.
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement.
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement.
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PART IV.
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.
(a) The following documents are filed as part of this report:
(1) Financial Statements.
Our Consolidated Financial Statements are listed in the “Index to Consolidated Financial Statements” under Part II, Item 8
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
(2) Financial Statement Schedules.
All schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or because the required information is shown in the consolidated financial statements and notes.
(3) Exhibits.
Exhibit Index

Exhibit
Number

Filed
Herewith

Incorporated by Reference
Form

File No.

Exhibit

Filing Date

3.1

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Etsy, Inc.

Exhibit Description

8-K

001-36911

3.1

4/21/2015

3.2

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Etsy, Inc.

8-K

001-36911

3.2

4/21/2015

10.1

Form of Indemnification Agreement between Etsy, Inc. and each
of its directors and executive officers

S-1/A

333-202497

10.1

3/31/2015

S-1

333-202497

10.2.1

3/4/2015

10.2.1*

2006 Stock Plan, as amended, and forms of agreements
thereunder

10.2.2*

Form of Stock Option Agreement under 2006 Stock Plan with
Chad Dickerson

S-1

333-202497

10.2.2

3/4/2015

10.3*

2015 Equity Incentive Plan and forms of agreements thereunder

S-1/A

333-202497

10.3

4/14/2015

10.4*

2015 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

S-1/A

333-202497

10.4

3/31/2015

10.5

Agreement of Lease, dated May 12, 2014, among Etsy, Inc., 117
Adams Owner LLC and 55 Prospect Owner LLC

S-1

333-202497

10.6

3/4/2015

10.6.1*

Employment offer letter between Etsy, Inc. and Chad Dickerson,
dated March 24, 2015

S-1/A

333-202497

10.8

3/31/2015

10.6.2*

Separation letter agreement between Etsy, Inc. and Chad
Dickerson, dated May 2, 2017

10-Q

001-36911

10.3

8/7/2017

10.7.1*

Employment offer letter between Etsy, Inc. and Kristina Salen,
dated January 12, 2013, as amended

S-1/A

333-202497

10.9.1

3/31/2015

10.7.2*

Relocation letter agreement between Etsy, Inc. and Kristina Salen,
dated June 18, 2013

S-1/A

333-202497

10.9.2

3/31/2015

10.7.3*

Retention letter agreement between Etsy Inc., and Kristina Salen,
dated October 28, 2016

8-K

001-36911

10.1

11/1/2016
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Employment offer letter between Etsy, Inc. and Linda Kozlowski
dated April 5, 2016

10-K

001-36911

10.15

2/28/2017

10.9*

Letter Agreement between Etsy, Inc. and Josh Silverman, dated
May 2, 2017

10-Q

001-36911

10.1

8/7/2017

10.10.1*

Letter Agreement between Etsy, Inc. and Rachel Glaser, dated
April 2, 2017

8-K

001-38911

10.2.1

4/3/2017

10.10.2*

Amendment to Letter Agreement between Etsy, Inc. and Rachel
Glaser, dated May 4, 2017

8-K

001-38911

10.2.2

4/3/2017

10.11*

Employment offer letter between Etsy, Inc. and Michael Fisher,
dated July 27, 2017

X

10.12*

Employment offer letter between Etsy, Inc. and Jill Simeone,
dated January 6, 2017

X

10.13*

Transition and separation letter agreement between Etsy, Inc. and
Karen Mullane, dated June 21, 2017

X

10.14*

Separation letter agreement between Etsy, Inc. and John Allspaw,
dated May 3, 2017

10-Q

001-36911

10.4

8/7/2017

10.15*

Severance Plan and form of Participation Notice thereunder.

S-1/A

333-202497

10.12

4/14/2015

10.16*

Change in Control Severance Plan and form of Participation
Notice thereunder

S-1

333-202497

10.13

3/4/2015

10.17*

Executive Severance Plan
S-1

333-202497

10.14

3/4/2015

10.8*

X

10.18.1*

Management Cash Incentive Plan

10.18.2*

Amendment No. 1 to the Etsy, Inc. Management Cash Incentive
Plan

10-Q

001-36911

10.1

8/4/2016

10.19.1*

Amended and Restated Compensation Program for NonEmployee Directors, effective November 15, 2016

10-Q

001-36911

10.14.2

2/28/2017

10.19.2*

Amended and Restated Compensation Program for NonEmployee Directors, effective August 15, 2017

10-Q

001-36911

10.1

11/8/2017

10.19.3*

Amended and Restated Compensation Program for NonEmployee Directors, effective January 1, 2018

X

21.1

List of Subsidiaries of Etsy, Inc.

X

23.1

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm

X

24.1

Power of Attorney (contained in the signature page to this Annual
Report on Form 10-K)

X

31.1

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Required Under Rule
13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended

X

31.2

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Required Under Rule
13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended

X
114

Table of Contents

*
†

32.1†

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Required Under Rule
13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
and 18 U.S.C. §1350

X

32.2†

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Required Under Rule 13a14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and
18 U.S.C. §1350

X

101.INS

XBRL Instance Document

X

101.SCH

XBRL Taxonomy Schema Linkbase Document

X

101.CAL

XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase Document

X

101.DEF

XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase Document

X

101.LAB

XBRL Taxonomy Labels Linkbase Document

X

101.PRE

XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase Document '

X

Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan.
These certifications are not deemed to be filed with the SEC and are not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Etsy, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
115

Table of Contents

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary
None.
Signatures
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
ETSY, INC.
Date: February 28, 2018

/s/ Rachel Glaser
Rachel Glaser
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
Power of Attorney

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below hereby constitutes and appoints Josh Silverman and Rachel Glaser, and each of them, as his or her true and
lawful attorney-in-fact and agent with full power of substitution, for him or her in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and to file the same, with all
exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorney-in-fact and agent full power and authority to do and perform each and
every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully for all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said
attorney-in-fact and agent, or his or her substitute, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Signature

Title

Date

/s/ Josh Silverman
Josh Silverman

President, Chief Executive Officer, and Director (Principal Executive Officer)

February 28, 2018

/s/ Rachel Glaser
Rachel Glaser

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

February 28, 2018

/s/ Fred Wilson
Fred Wilson

Chair

February 28, 2018

/s/ M. Michele Burns
M. Michele Burns

Director

February 28, 2018

/s/ Jonathan D. Klein
Jonathan D. Klein

Director

February 28, 2018

/s/ Melissa Reiff
Melissa Reiff

Director

February 28, 2018

/s/ Margaret M. Smyth
Margaret M. Smyth

Director

February 28, 2018
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EXHIBIT 10.11

July 27, 2017
Michael Fisher
[Delivered electronically]
Dear Mike,
Congratulations! We are thrilled to offer you a full-time position at Etsy (technically, at Etsy, Inc.). This letter details the terms of the offer. Please read it carefully and, if
you accept, sign and date this letter and the attached Confidentiality and Prior Inventions Agreement (which we refer to in this offer letter as the CPIA). This offer is
contingent on successful completion of a background check and formal approval of Etsy’s Compensation Committee.
Your employment will begin on a date mutually agreed upon between you and Etsy (“Start Date”). Your title will be Chief Technology Officer. You will report to Josh
Silverman, working from our Brooklyn office. If you ever wish to change your work location, you will need prior written approval from Etsy. Your salary will be
$325,000 per year and you will also be eligible for the great benefits that Etsy provides to regular, full-time employees. To the extent the terms of this offer letter conflict
with any of the company’s standardized plans referenced herein, the terms of this offer letter control.
You will receive a signing bonus of $200,000 on the first administratively feasible payroll after your Start Date. You agree that if you resign your position with Etsy for
any reason before you have worked for Etsy for two full years, you will repay a prorated portion of the bonus to Etsy (for example, you will repay 50% of your signing
bonus if you resign after one year). This signing bonus is intended to help offset travel expenses between Brooklyn and Ohio, which will not otherwise be eligible for
reimbursement under Etsy’s Travel & Entertainment Policy.
You will be eligible to participate in the Management Cash Incentive Plan, with an annual target of 50% of your base salary earned during the performance period, which
currently follows a calendar year (Jan 1 to Dec 31) cycle. Your bonus award will be determined based upon company financial performance and your individual
performance. Your participation is subject to the terms and conditions of the Management Cash Incentive Plan and the applicable participation notice. Generally, awards
(if any) are paid within two and a half months after the end of a calendar year. For the 2017 performance period, you will receive not less than 100% of your prorated
target.

You will participate in the Etsy, Inc. Change in Control Severance Plan, which provides, subject to the terms and conditions of the plan document, twelve (12) months of
severance in a single lump sum payment within 30 days of the date of termination, any unpaid annual bonus for the fiscal year in which the termination occurs, up to
twelve (12) months of company-paid COBRA coverage, and a 100% acceleration factor for all outstanding equity awards issued to you. You will also participate in the
Etsy, Inc. Severance Plan, which provides, subject to the terms and conditions of the plan document, six (6) months of severance any unpaid annual bonus for the fiscal
year in which the termination occurs and up to twelve (12) months of company-paid COBRA coverage.
Etsy will propose that you receive an equity award in the form of Stock Options (an option to purchase shares of the Etsy’s common stock) for 250,000 shares with an
exercise price per share equal to the fair market value of Etsy’s common stock on the grant date. 25% of your Stock Options will vest (or become exercisable) if you
remain continuously employed at Etsy for 12 months after the grant date. The balance of your Stock Options will vest in equal monthly installments over the next three
years of continuous employment with Etsy.
Etsy will also propose that you receive an equity award in the form of 112,500 Restricted Stock Units (“RSUs”). The RSUs will “vest” (or convert into shares of Etsy’s
common stock) over the course of your employment with Etsy. 25% of your RSUs will vest if you remain continuously employed at Etsy for 12 months after the first
RSU vesting date following your Start Date. The balance of your RSUs will vest in equal quarterly installments over the next three years of continuous employment with
Etsy.
Your equity awards will be subject to the terms and conditions of Etsy’s 2015 Equity Incentive Plan and your award agreements, which will also specify your vesting
dates. You will not be eligible for the grant of future awards for the next four (4) years. After four years, any future equity awards will be made at the discretion of Etsy’s
Board of Directors and/or its Compensation Committee,
To accept our offer, you will also need to sign the attached CPIA. It contains important information about your employment with Etsy, so please read it carefully. Here are
a few highlights:
•
•
•

You confirm that you have no legal obligations that would prohibit you from working for Etsy. For example, you have not signed a non-compete agreement with
your current or former employer that would prevent you from working for Etsy.
You agree not to use, rely upon, or share any confidential information of your former employer (i.e., AKF Consulting dba AKF Partners or any of their clients)
while working for Etsy.
You agree that during your employment with Etsy (and otherwise as described in your CPIA), you will not engage in any other employment, consulting, or
business activity that would create a conflict with your position with Etsy.

You acknowledge that during your employment with Etsy you will not have any operating or other active role at AKF Consulting dba AKF Partners and that your sole
interest or involvement shall be a passive one-third ownership interest.
Before starting work, you will be required to provide proof of your identity and your legal authorization to work in the United States.
This letter (including the attached CPIA) is the entire agreement between you and Etsy. Any discussions you may have had previously with Etsy are superseded by the
terms of this letter and the CPIA. The terms of this offer may only be changed by a written agreement signed by you and a duly authorized Etsy officer.
Although we are hiring you for the position listed above, your job duties, title, compensation, and benefits may change in the future. You understand that you will be an
at-will employee of Etsy with the right to terminate your employment at any time and for any reason, and that Etsy will have a similar right. You also agree to comply
with Etsy’s workplace policies, which will be made available to you and may change from time to time.
We hope and expect that working at Etsy will be beneficial and rewarding for both you and us, but we do have to let you know that this letter and the resolution of any
disputes relating to this letter or your employment with Etsy will be governed by the laws of New York State (excluding laws relating to conflicts or choice of law). Also,
because Etsy is based in Brooklyn, you and Etsy agree to submit to the personal jurisdiction of a state court located in Kings County, New York or the United States
District Court for the Eastern District of New York located in Brooklyn to resolve any dispute or claim between you and Etsy or any of its directors, officers, managers, or
employees.
We can’t wait for you to join our team!
Very truly yours,
/s/ Carrissa

Menendez
Carrissa Menendez
Vice President, People and Workplace
..................................................................

I have read and accept this employment offer:
Name:

Michael Fisher /NHName1/

Signature:
Date:
Email:

/s/ Michael Fisher /

7/28/2017

/NHDate1/

XXXXXXXXX

/NHEmail1/

Exhibit A
CONFIDENTIALITY AND PRIOR INVENTIONS AGREEMENT
This Confidentiality and Prior Inventions Agreement (or the “Agreement,” for short) is an important part of the employment offer that Etsy, Inc. has made to you. Please read
it carefully and sign at the bottom if you understand and agree to all of its terms. If you sign this Agreement, it will take effect on the first day of your employment with Etsy. If you
have any questions about this Agreement, please speak with your contact on the Etsy Recruiting team before signing below.
In return for offering you the position described in your offer letter and for providing you with access to new and additional training and Confidential Information belonging
to Etsy (and described below), Etsy needs you to make certain commitments. These commitments relate to:
(a) your ability to work for Etsy and perform your job duties without violating any commitments you may have agreed to in the past or that you are otherwise subject to,
(b) Etsy’s ownership of any ideas you come up with or technologies you develop while working for Etsy,
(c) the need to keep confidential and protect certain information about Etsy and its members and employees both while working for Etsy and after you leave the company,

and
(d) your willingness not to compete with Etsy or take certain actions that could hurt Etsy’s legitimate interests while you are working for Etsy and for a short period of time

afterward.
Each of these commitments is described in more detail below in Section 1 of this Agreement. Section 1 also contains information about your employment status with Etsy, which will
be as an at-will employee.
In Section 2, you will find information on the rights you and Etsy have under this Agreement and how you and Etsy can enforce those rights. Section 2 also contains
important information about how disputes relating to your employment will be resolved.
Section 1 - Your Commitments to Etsy
There are no conflicts that would prevent you from working for Etsy or performing your job . As much as we want you to join our company, we need you to confirm that the
terms of your employment with your current employer (and any former employers) do not restrict your ability to work for Etsy. By signing this Agreement, you agree that you have
not entered into an agreement (and will not in the future) that is in conflict with this Agreement or the terms of your employment with Etsy. You also agree that you have shared with
Etsy a copy of any agreement (such as a non-compete or non-solicitation agreement) that could impact your ability to work for Etsy.
Example : You currently work for eBay and signed an offer letter or employment agreement that says you will not work for another online marketplace for one year
after you leave eBay. You have a conflict that could prevent you from working for Etsy and must share that document with Etsy before you sign this Agreement.
You will not use any property or confidential information of a current or former employer without their permission ( i.e., AKF Consulting dba AKF Partners or any of their
clients). We want to respect the rights of your current and former employers, and quite frankly, we don’t want them claiming any rights to the work you do here at Etsy. By signing
this Agreement, you agree that you will not bring to Etsy, and will not use or disclose at Etsy, the confidential information of any current or former employer or any other party,
unless you have their written permission to do so (and our Legal team would like to see that written permission, thank you). You also agree that you will not use at Etsy any
documents or other property (including documents or property that you created yourself) from your current or former employer without the employer’s written permission.
Example : You have confidential agreements or customer lists from your previous job that you think might be helpful in the work you will do for Etsy. You cannot use

those materials while working for Etsy or share those materials with Etsy employees without getting written permission from your previous employer.
Etsy will own anything you create while working for Etsy that relates to the work you do for Etsy. While working for Etsy, you will hopefully develop or contribute to one or more
products, services, or programs. In this Agreement, we refer to all ideas, products, services, processes, and designs you develop or contribute to while working for Etsy and that relate
to Etsy’s business as “Covered Inventions.” In addition to your salary and benefits, Etsy will also provide you with the resources, materials, and support you need to do your job,
including the development of Covered Inventions. In return, you agree that Etsy will own all rights in all Covered Inventions (including all patents, copyrights and other intellectual
property rights), whether or not the work is performed in Etsy’s offices, uses Etsy resources, or takes place during business hours.
By signing this Agreement, you are assigning to Etsy all of your rights in the U.S. and internationally in all Covered Inventions and all intellectual property rights related to those
Covered Inventions. Any copyrights in the Covered Inventions, including in any computer programs, programming documentation, and other works of authorship, are “works made
for hire” for purposes of Etsy’s rights under copyright laws. By signing this Agreement, you are also assigning to Etsy any rights you currently have or may acquire at any time in the
future in any Covered Inventions. Lastly, you agree to disclose all Covered Inventions to Etsy and to waive any claims you have or may have in the future for infringement of any
Covered Inventions.
Example : As a software developer for Etsy, you write a piece of code that is included in a new Etsy product. Etsy will own all rights in the code you wrote and in any
products or services that rely on that code.
Etsy has no interest in owning things you created or developed in the past, but Etsy needs a license from you if you incorporate that prior work into the work you do at Etsy. If you
previously created something that relates to Etsy’s business, and you do not want that creation to be considered a Covered Invention for purposes of this Agreement, please list it in
Appendix A. We refer to any items listed in Appendix A as “Prior Inventions.” We will follow an internal review process to be sure that we understand and agree about what you are
claiming as a Prior Invention. While Etsy does not claim to own your Prior Inventions, you agree that if you incorporate Prior Inventions into the work you do for Etsy, Etsy will
have the right to use those Prior Inventions to operate its business. Here is the legalese version of the previous sentence: If any of the work you do for Etsy incorporates or uses a
Prior Invention, you give Etsy a perpetual, irrevocable, worldwide, royalty-free, non-exclusive, sublicensable right and license to incorporate or use such Prior Invention and any
related intellectual property rights.
Example : You are a graphic designer and want to retain ownership of some designs you did in the past. You list those designs in Appendix A and retain ownership of
those designs, which are considered Prior Inventions. Later on, you incorporate one of the designs into a design you create for Etsy’s website. Etsy then has a license
to use your original design, because the original design is now part of the website design that you created for, and that is owned by, Etsy.
Etsy permits its employees to perform outside work and to take on side projects if certain conditions are met. We recognize that you may want to take on some outside work or side
projects while working for Etsy. We have an approval process for activities like those; you will receive more information about the process after your start date. Etsy will not have or
claim rights in anything you develop or create through an authorized side project as long as (a) the work is done entirely on your own time and will not interfere with your ability to
perform the work you do for Etsy, (b) you did not incorporate any Etsy materials or resources, and (c) the development or creation does not relate to an Etsy product or service or
Etsy intellectual property.
Example : If you are part of the Etsy PR team and want to do some work as a freelance calligrapher in your spare time, that would likely be an approved side
project.

Example : If you are a software developer for Etsy and you want to serve on the board of advisors for a new gaming startup that doesn’t conflict with your work at
Etsy, that would likely be approved outside work.
You will keep confidential any Confidential Information you receive or learn about while working for Etsy. In order to perform your job at Etsy, you may create or be given access
to Confidential Information about Etsy, or about its employees, contractors, customers, suppliers, and other parties. When we refer to “Confidential Information” in this Agreement,
we mean information and physical materials not generally known or available outside of Etsy. Confidential Information could be technical data, product ideas, product roadmaps,
business deals that we haven’t announced to the public, software code and designs, personal information about other Etsy employees, or lists of suppliers. Confidential Information
includes both information and materials that belong or relate to Etsy, as well as information and materials that a third party has disclosed to Etsy on a confidential basis.
By signing this Agreement, you agree that you will hold Confidential Information in strict confidence and that you will not use or disclose any Confidential Information, except as
required to do your job. The restriction on your use or disclosure of Confidential Information will continue if you leave Etsy and will remain in effect until the Confidential
Information becomes publicly available through no fault of your own.
Example : While working for Etsy, you have access to a supplier’s pricing lists. The price lists are considered Confidential Information and you are required to
maintain the confidentiality of the pricing information both while working for Etsy and after your employment ends.
If your employment with Etsy ends, you agree to return to Etsy all copies of any matierals you have that contain Confidential Information. You may keep your compensation records
and a copy of this Agreement.
You will maintain the privacy of Etsy members and employees. As part of your work for Etsy, you may have access to private information about Etsy members and employees. Both
groups place a high value on their privacy and it is critical that you treat private member and employee information with the highest degree of care. By signing this Agreement, you
agree that you will only access and use Etsy member and employee information when it is necessary to do your job. You also agree that you will not share Etsy member and
employee personal information outside of Etsy, or even with other Etsy employees, without proper authorization and even then only when required as part of your job. If you are ever
in doubt about whether member or employee information may be shared within or outside of Etsy, you should ask the Etsy Legal team.
______________________________________________________________________________
Please note that when we refer to a Competing Business in the next three paragraphs, we mean (a) any of the following companies, and any of their subsidiaries or parent companies
that operate an online marketplace: Amazon, eBay, and Alibaba; (b) any business that develops or operates an online marketplace selling the types of products sold on Etsy.com or
its related websites (for example, crafts, art, handmade goods, vintage goods, or craft supplies), and (c) any business that develops or operates a platform or tools for building or
operating e-commerce websites. For purposes of illustration only, examples of category (b) include Craftsy and Michaels.com; and examples of category (c) include Shopify and
WordPress.
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------You will not compete against Etsy while you are employed by Etsy. It probably goes without saying, but Etsy is hiring you to help build its business and not to compete with it.
Competition could take several different forms, including starting or working for a Competing Business, doing consulting work for another company that conflicts with your work
for Etsy, or diverting business opportunities from Etsy. By signing this Agreement, you agree that while working for Etsy you will not start, invest in, or do work for a Competing
Business, or divert business opportunities with vendors, suppliers, or other business partners that otherwise might have been available to Etsy.
Example : It is not okay to (a) consult for the marketplace startup your friend founded, or (b) try to convince an Etsy partner to end its relationship with Etsy.

Example : It i s okay to buy paper towels from Amazon or sneakers from eBay.
You will not compete against Etsy for a short period after your employment with Etsy ends. While working for Etsy you may be given access to plans, processes, contacts,
customers, or other information that could put Etsy at an unfair competitive disadvantage if they were shared with or used for the benefit of a Competing Business. To protect Etsy’s
legitimate interests, we require that you agree to certain limits on actions that would be competitive with Etsy for a short period after your employment with Etsy ends. By signing
this Agreement, you agree that for six months after your employment with Etsy ends for any reason, you will not, without Etsy’s written permission, start, invest in, or do work for a
Competing Business in a capacity that is similar in form or function to that which you performed in the last year of your employment with Etsy, and that you will not divert business
opportunities that otherwise might have been available to Etsy.
Example : It is not okay to leave Etsy and immediately take a similar position with Amazon Handmade.
Example : It is okay to leave Etsy to launch a laundry delivery startup or to join a company like Google or Facebook.
You will not poach or solicit Etsy employees, members, or business partners while you are employed by Etsy or for a short period of time after your employment with Etsy ends.
In addition to working for a Competing Business or diverting business opportunities from Etsy, you could also unfairly compete against Etsy by poaching or soliciting Etsy
employees, members, vendors, suppliers, or other business partners. By signing this Agreement, you agree that both during your employment with Etsy and for one year after your
employment with Etsy ends for any reason, you will not directly or indirectly cause anyone to leave their position with Etsy, or solicit any Etsy members, vendors, suppliers, or other
business partners with whom you worked or acquired Confidential Information from in the last two years of your employment with Etsy.
Example : It is not okay to (a) persuade an Etsy seller to close her shop and instead sell on a competing platform that you own stock in, or (b) convince an Etsy
developer to leave Etsy to work for your sister’s startup.
Example : It i s okay to encourage a colleague to leave Etsy to follow her dream of running her Etsy Shop full-time.
You will be an at-will employee of Etsy. You will be an at-will employee of Etsy, which means that you are free to resign at any time and that Etsy may terminate your employment
at any time and for any or no reason. By signing this Agreement, you acknowledge that you will be an at-will employee of Etsy and that you are not entering into an employment
contract with Etsy for a set period of time.
Section 2 - Enforcement of Rights and Other Legal Information
New York law will be used to resolve disputes. If there is a dispute concerning this Agreement or your employment with Etsy, the dispute will be resolved using the laws of
New York State (excluding laws relating to conflicts or choice of law). Also, because Etsy is based in Brooklyn, you and Etsy agree to submit to the personal jurisdiction of a state
court located in Kings County, New York or the United States District Court for the Eastern District of New York located in Brooklyn.
Nothing in this Agreement prohibits you from reporting violations of the law or Etsy’s policies, and no retaliatory action will be taken against you for doing so. Nothing in this
Agreement, including the section on Confidential Information, prohibits you from reporting possible violations of the law. This includes making reports to a governmental agency,
such as the Department of Justice or the Securities and Exchange Commission. Similarly, nothing in this Agreement prohibits you from reporting possible violations of the law or
Etsy’s Code of Conduct or other policies to your manager, Etsy’s General Counsel, or Etsy’s SVP of Human Resources, or through Etsy’s

whistleblower hotline. You do not need authorization from Etsy to report violations of the law or Etsy’s policies and you do not have to notify Etsy that you have done so. Etsy takes
its non-retaliatory culture very seriously and will not allow anyone to take adverse action, threaten, intimidate, or retaliate against you if you report a violation or a suspected
violation in good faith, or cooperate with an investigation.
You may have additional rights not described in this Agreement. You may have additional rights that are not described in this Agreement. If you have any questions about your
rights under this Agreement or otherwise, you should speak with a lawyer before signing this Agreement.
What you and Etsy must do to waive rights created by this Agreement. For you or Etsy to waive a right granted by this Agreement, you and an authorized representative of Etsy
must explicitly agree to waive that right in writing. If either you or Etsy do not enforce a right granted by this Agreement for some period of time, that right will not be considered to
have been waived. Similarly, if you or Etsy exercise one right granted by this Agreement, that will not be considered a waiver of any other right you or Etsy may have under this
Agreement.
Example : You develop a piece of code for Etsy and then use that code in a website you develop for a friend. You tell your manager what you are doing and she tells
you verbally that it’s okay. Six months later, your VP finds out that you’re using Etsy code for a non-Etsy project and asks you to stop. Neither your conversation
with your manager nor the fact that six months elapsed before Etsy asked you to stop would be considered a waiver of Etsy’s rights under this Agreement to control
the use of the code you developed.
Etsy may assign this Agreement to certain third parties. Etsy may assign this Agreement to an affiliate, or to a third party in the case of a merger or acquisition. In the case of a
merger or acquisition, as an at-will employee, you would still be free to resign at any time.
Etsy will be entitled to an injunction if you violate or threaten to violate this Agreement. Etsy could suffer serious harm if you violate this Agreement. By signing this Agreement,
you agree that Etsy will be entitled to an injunction (and will not be required to post a bond) to protect itself if you breach or threaten to breach this Agreement. Note that a court has
the discretion to strike or modify any part of this Agreement that it determines is too broad or unenforceable under the specific circumstances related to your departure.
Section 1 of this Agreement will remain in effect after you stop working for Etsy. Whether you resign from Etsy or Etsy terminates your employment, the obligations you agreed to
in Section 1 of this Agreement, including those concerning Confidential Information, ownership of your work, and non-competition, will remain in effect indefinitely.

ETSY, INC.

EMPLOYEE

By: /s/ Carrissa Menendez

Name : Michael Fisher /NHName2/

Name: Carrissa Menendez
Title: VP, People and Workplace

Signature: /s/ Michael Fisher /NH/NHSig2/
Date: 7/28/2017
Email: XXXXXXXXX

Appendix A
PRIOR INVENTIONS

EXHIBIT 10.12

January 6, 2017
Jill Simeone
Dear Jill,
Congratulations! We are thrilled to offer you a full-time position at Etsy (technically, at Etsy, Inc.). This letter details the terms of the offer. Please read it carefully and, if
you accept, sign and date this letter and the attached Confidentiality and Prior Inventions Agreement (which we refer to in this offer letter as the CPIA). This offer is
contingent on successful completion of a background check and formal approval of Etsy’s Compensation Committee.
Your employment will begin on January 30, 2017 or on a date mutually agreed upon between you and Etsy (“Start Date”). Your title will be General Counsel, and we
expect that Etsy’s Board of Directors will appoint you as a “Section 16” officer and as Etsy’s Corporate Secretary. You will report to Chad Dickerson, working from our
Brooklyn office. If you ever wish to change your work location, you will need prior written approval from Etsy. Your salary will be $325,000 per year and you will also
be eligible for the great benefits that Etsy provides to regular, full-time employees.
You will also receive a signing bonus of $25,000 on the first administratively feasible payroll after your Start Date. You agree that if you resign your position with Etsy
for any reason before you have worked for Etsy for one full year, you will repay a prorated portion of the bonus to Etsy (for example, you will repay 50% of your signing
bonus if you resign after six months).
You will be eligible to participate in the Management Cash Incentive Plan, with an annual target of 50% of your base salary earned during the performance period, which
currently follows a calendar year (Jan 1 to Dec 31) cycle. The performance period will be prorated to your Start Date. Your bonus award will be determined based upon
company financial performance and your individual performance against goals established between you and your manager. Your participation is subject to the terms and
conditions of the Management Cash Incentive Plan and the applicable participation notice. Generally, awards (if any) are paid within two and a half months after the end
of a calendar year.
You will also participate in the Etsy, Inc. Change in Control Severance Plan, which provides, subject to the terms and conditions of the plan document, twelve (12)
months of severance, up to twelve (12) months of company-paid COBRA coverage, and a 100% acceleration factor for all outstanding equity awards issued to you. You
will also participate in the Etsy, Inc. Severance Plan, which provides, subject to the terms and conditions of the plan document, six (6) months of severance and up to six
(6) months of company-paid COBRA coverage.
Etsy will also propose that you receive an equity award with a fair value at the time of the grant equal to $750,000. The equity award and related terms below are subject
to the approval of Etsy’s Compensation Committee.

Fifty percent (50%) of the equity award will be in the form of Restricted Stock Units (which we refer to as RSUs). The RSUs will “vest” (or convert into shares of Etsy’s
common stock) over the course of your employment with Etsy. 25% of your RSUs will vest if you remain continuously employed at Etsy for 12 months after the first
RSU vesting date following your Start Date. The balance of your RSUs will vest in equal quarterly installments over the next three years of continuous employment with
Etsy.
Fifty percent (50%) of the equity award will be in the form of Stock Options (an option to purchase shares of the Etsy’s common stock) with an exercise price per share
equal to the fair market value of Etsy’s common stock on the grant date. 25% of your Stock Options will vest (or become exercisable) if you remain continuously
employed at Etsy for 12 months after the grant date. The balance of your Stock Options will vest in equal monthly installments over the next three years of continuous
employment with Etsy.
Your equity awards will be subject to the terms and conditions of Etsy’s 2015 Equity Incentive Plan and your award agreements, which will also specify your vesting
dates. You will be eligible for the grant of future equity awards at the discretion of Etsy’s Board of Directors and/or its Compensation Committee.
To accept our offer, you will also need to sign the attached CPIA. Two of Etsy’s core values are transparency and “keeping it real,” so we’ve tried to keep our CPIA free
of legalese and easy to understand. It contains important information about your employment with Etsy, so please read it carefully. Here are a few highlights:
•
•
•

You confirm that you have no legal obligations that would prohibit you from working for Etsy. For example, you have not signed a non-compete agreement with
your current or former employer that would prevent you from working for Etsy.
You agree not to use, rely upon, or share any confidential information of your former employer while working for Etsy.
You agree that during your employment with Etsy (and otherwise as described in your CPIA), you will not engage in any other employment, consulting, or
business activity that would create a conflict with your position with Etsy.

Our lawyers also insisted we tell you that, before starting work, you will be required to provide proof of your identity and your legal authorization to work in the United
States.
This letter (including the attached CPIA) is the entire agreement between you and Etsy. Any discussions you may have had previously with Etsy are superseded by the
terms of this letter and the CPIA. In other words, if a recruiter told you that Etsy will provide you with a unicorn for your commute to and from the office, if it’s not in this
offer letter, you’ll have to bike, drive, or take the subway like the rest of us. The terms of this offer may only be changed by a written agreement signed by you and a duly
authorized Etsy officer.
Although we are hiring you for the position listed above, your job duties, title, compensation, and benefits may change in the future (yes, that was our lawyers again). You
understand that you

will be an at-will employee of Etsy with the right to terminate your employment at any time and for any reason, and that Etsy will have a similar right. You also agree to
comply with Etsy’s workplace policies, which will be made available to you and may change from time to time.
We hope and expect that working at Etsy will be beneficial and rewarding for both you and us, but we do have to let you know that this letter and the resolution of any
disputes relating to this letter or your employment with Etsy will be governed by the laws of New York State (excluding laws relating to conflicts or choice of law). Also,
because Etsy is based in Brooklyn, you and Etsy agree to submit to the personal jurisdiction of a state court located in Kings County, New York or the United States
District Court for the Eastern District of New York located in Brooklyn to resolve any dispute or claim between you and Etsy or any of its directors, officers, managers, or
employees.
Congrats again on receiving the offer. We can’t wait for you to join our team!
Very truly yours,
/s/ Chad Dickerson
Chad Dickerson
Chief Executive Officer, Etsy, Inc.
..................................................................

I have read and accept this employment offer:
Name:

Jill Simeone /NHName1/

Signature: /s/ Jill Simeone /NHSig1/
Date:

January 7, 2017

Email: XXXXXXXXXXX

/NHDate1/

Exhibit A
CONFIDENTIALITY AND PRIOR INVENTIONS AGREEMENT
This Confidentiality and Prior Inventions Agreement (or the “Agreement,” for short) is an important part of the employment offer that Etsy, Inc. has made to you. Please read
it carefully and sign at the bottom if you understand and agree to all of its terms. If you sign this Agreement, it will take effect on January 7, 2017. If you have any questions about
this Agreement, please speak with your contact on the Etsy Recruiting team before signing below.
In return for offering you the position described in your offer letter and for providing you with access to new and additional training and Confidential Information belonging
to Etsy (and described below), Etsy needs you to make certain commitments. These commitments relate to:
(a) your ability to work for Etsy and perform your job duties without violating any commitments you may have agreed to in the past or that you are otherwise subject to,
(b) Etsy’s ownership of any ideas you come up with or technologies you develop while working for Etsy,
(c) the need to keep confidential and protect certain information about Etsy and its members and employees both while working for Etsy and after you leave the company,

and
(d) your willingness not to compete with Etsy or take certain actions that could hurt Etsy’s legitimate interests while you are working for Etsy and for a short period of time

afterward.
Each of these commitments is described in more detail below in Section 1 of this Agreement. Section 1 also contains information about your employment status with Etsy, which will
be as an at-will employee.
In Section 2, you will find information on the rights you and Etsy have under this Agreement and how you and Etsy can enforce those rights. Section 2 also contains
important information about how disputes relating to your employment will be resolved.
Section 1 - Your Commitments to Etsy
There are no conflicts that would prevent you from working for Etsy or performing your job . As much as we want you to join our company, we need you to confirm that the
terms of your employment with your current employer (and any former employers) do not restrict your ability to work for Etsy. By signing this Agreement, you agree that you have
not entered into an agreement (and will not in the future) that is in conflict with this Agreement or the terms of your employment with Etsy. You also agree that you have shared with
Etsy a copy of any agreement (such as a non-compete or non-solicitation agreement) that could impact your ability to work for Etsy.
Example : You currently work for eBay and signed an offer letter or employment agreement that says you will not work for another online marketplace for one year
after you leave eBay. You have a conflict that could prevent you from working for Etsy and must share that document with Etsy before you sign this Agreement.
You will not use any property or confidential information of a current or former employer without their permission. We want to respect the rights of your current and former
employers, and quite frankly, we don’t want them claiming any rights to the work you do here at Etsy. By signing this Agreement, you agree that you will not bring to Etsy, and will
not use or disclose at Etsy, the confidential information of any current or former employer or any other party, unless you have their written permission to do so (and

our Legal team would like to see that written permission, thank you). You also agree that you will not use at Etsy any documents or other property (including documents or property
that you created yourself) from your current or former employer without the employer’s written permission.
Example : You have confidential agreements or customer lists from your previous job that you think might be helpful in the work you will do for Etsy. You cannot use
those materials while working for Etsy or share those materials with Etsy employees without getting written permission from your previous employer.
Etsy will own anything you create while working for Etsy that relates to the work you do for Etsy. While working for Etsy, you will hopefully develop or contribute to one or more
products, services, or programs. In this Agreement, we refer to all ideas, products, services, processes, and designs you develop or contribute to while working for Etsy and that relate
to Etsy’s business as “Covered Inventions.” In addition to your salary and benefits, Etsy will also provide you with the resources, materials, and support you need to do your job,
including the development of Covered Inventions. In return, you agree that Etsy will own all rights in all Covered Inventions (including all patents, copyrights and other intellectual
property rights), whether or not the work is performed in Etsy’s offices, uses Etsy resources, or takes place during business hours.
By signing this Agreement, you are assigning to Etsy all of your rights in the U.S. and internationally in all Covered Inventions and all intellectual property rights related to those
Covered Inventions. Any copyrights in the Covered Inventions, including in any computer programs, programming documentation, and other works of authorship, are “works made
for hire” for purposes of Etsy’s rights under copyright laws. By signing this Agreement, you are also assigning to Etsy any rights you currently have or may acquire at any time in the
future in any Covered Inventions. Lastly, you agree to disclose all Covered Inventions to Etsy and to waive any claims you have or may have in the future for infringement of any
Covered Inventions.
Example : As a software developer for Etsy, you write a piece of code that is included in a new Etsy product. Etsy will own all rights in the code you wrote and in any
products or services that rely on that code.
Etsy has no interest in owning things you created or developed in the past, but Etsy needs a license from you if you incorporate that prior work into the work you do at Etsy. If you
previously created something that relates to Etsy’s business, and you do not want that creation to be considered a Covered Invention for purposes of this Agreement, please list it in
Appendix A. We refer to any items listed in Appendix A as “Prior Inventions.” We will follow an internal review process to be sure that we understand and agree about what you are
claiming as a Prior Invention. While Etsy does not claim to own your Prior Inventions, you agree that if you incorporate Prior Inventions into the work you do for Etsy, Etsy will
have the right to use those Prior Inventions to operate its business. Here is the legalese version of the previous sentence: If any of the work you do for Etsy incorporates or uses a
Prior Invention, you give Etsy a perpetual, irrevocable, worldwide, royalty-free, non-exclusive, sublicensable right and license to incorporate or use such Prior Invention and any
related intellectual property rights.
Example : You are a graphic designer and want to retain ownership of some designs you did in the past. You list those designs in Appendix A and retain ownership of
those designs, which are considered Prior Inventions. Later on, you incorporate one of the designs into a design you create for Etsy’s website. Etsy then has a license
to use your original

design, because the original design is now part of the website design that you created for, and that is owned by, Etsy.
Etsy permits its employees to perform outside work and to take on side projects if certain conditions are met. We recognize that you may want to take on some outside work or side
projects while working for Etsy. We have an approval process for activities like those; you will receive more information about the process after your start date. Etsy will not have or
claim rights in anything you develop or create through an authorized side project as long as (a) the work is done entirely on your own time and will not interfere with your ability to
perform the work you do for Etsy, (b) you did not incorporate any Etsy materials or resources, and (c) the development or creation does not relate to an Etsy product or service or
Etsy intellectual property.
Example : If you are part of the Etsy PR team and want to do some work as a freelance calligrapher in your spare time, that would likely be an approved side
project.
Example : If you are a software developer for Etsy and you want to serve on the board of advisors for a new gaming startup that doesn’t conflict with your work at
Etsy, that would likely be approved outside work.
You will keep confidential any Confidential Information you receive or learn about while working for Etsy. In order to perform your job at Etsy, you may create or be given access
to Confidential Information about Etsy, or about its employees, contractors, customers, suppliers, and other parties. When we refer to “Confidential Information” in this Agreement,
we mean information and physical materials not generally known or available outside of Etsy. Confidential Information could be technical data, product ideas, product roadmaps,
business deals that we haven’t announced to the public, software code and designs, personal information about other Etsy employees, or lists of suppliers. Confidential Information
includes both information and materials that belong or relate to Etsy, as well as information and materials that a third party has disclosed to Etsy on a confidential basis.
By signing this Agreement, you agree that you will hold Confidential Information in strict confidence and that you will not use or disclose any Confidential Information, except as
required to do your job. The restriction on your use or disclosure of Confidential Information will continue if you leave Etsy and will remain in effect until the Confidential
Information becomes publicly available through no fault of your own.
Example : While working for Etsy, you have access to a supplier’s pricing lists. The price lists are considered Confidential Information and you are required to
maintain the confidentiality of the pricing information both while working for Etsy and after your employment ends.

If your employment with Etsy ends, you agree to return to Etsy all copies of any matierals you have that contain Confidential Information. You may keep your compensation records
and a copy of this Agreement.
You will maintain the privacy of Etsy members and employees. As part of your work for Etsy, you may have access to private information about Etsy members and employees. Both
groups place a high value on their privacy and it is critical that you treat private member and employee information with the highest degree of care. By signing this Agreement, you
agree that you will only access and use Etsy member and employee information when it is necessary to do your job. You also agree that you will not share Etsy member and
employee personal information outside of Etsy, or even with other Etsy employees, without proper authorization and even then only when required as part of your job. If you are ever
in doubt about whether member or employee information may be shared within or outside of Etsy, you should ask the Etsy Legal team.
______________________________________________________________________________
Please note that when we refer to a Competing Business in the next three paragraphs, we mean (a) any of the following companies, and any of their subsidiaries or parent companies
that operate an online marketplace: Amazon, eBay, and Alibaba; (b) any business that develops or operates an online marketplace selling the types of products sold on Etsy.com or
its related websites (for example, crafts, art, handmade goods, vintage goods, or craft supplies), and (c) any business that develops or operates a platform or tools for building or
operating e-commerce websites. For purposes of illustration only, examples of category (b) include Craftsy and Michaels.com; and examples of category (c) include Shopify and
WordPress.
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------You will not compete against Etsy while you are employed by Etsy. It probably goes without saying, but Etsy is hiring you to help build its business and not to compete with it.
Competition could take several different forms, including starting or working for a Competing Business, doing consulting work for another company that conflicts with your work
for Etsy, or diverting business opportunities from Etsy. By signing this Agreement, you agree that while working for Etsy you will not start, invest in, or do work for a Competing
Business, or divert business opportunities with vendors, suppliers, or other business partners that otherwise might have been available to Etsy.
Example : It is not okay to (a) consult for the marketplace startup your friend founded, or (b) try to convince an Etsy partner to end its relationship with Etsy.
Example : It i s okay to buy paper towels from Amazon or sneakers from eBay.
You will not compete against Etsy for a short period after your employment with Etsy ends. While working for Etsy you may be given access to plans, processes, contacts,
customers, or other information that could put Etsy at an unfair competitive disadvantage if they were shared with or used for the benefit of a Competing Business. To protect Etsy’s
legitimate interests, we require that you agree to certain limits on actions that would be competitive with Etsy for a short period after your employment with Etsy ends. By signing
this Agreement, you agree that for six months after your employment with Etsy ends for any reason, you will not, without Etsy’s written permission, start, invest in, or do work for a
Competing Business in a capacity that is similar in form or function to that which you performed in the last year of your employment with Etsy, and that you will not divert business
opportunities that otherwise might have been available to Etsy.

Example : It is not okay to leave Etsy and immediately take a similar position with Amazon Handmade.
Example : It is okay to leave Etsy to launch a laundry delivery startup or to join a company like Google or Facebook.
You will not poach or solicit Etsy employees, members, or business partners while you are employed by Etsy or for a short period of time after your employment with Etsy ends.
In addition to working for a Competing Business or diverting business opportunities from Etsy, you could also unfairly compete against Etsy by poaching or soliciting Etsy
employees, members, vendors, suppliers, or other business partners. By signing this Agreement, you agree that both during your employment with Etsy and for one year after your
employment with Etsy ends for any reason, you will not directly or indirectly cause anyone to leave their position with Etsy, or solicit any Etsy members, vendors, suppliers, or other
business partners with whom you worked or acquired Confidential Information from in the last two years of your employment with Etsy.
Example : It is not okay to (a) persuade an Etsy seller to close her shop and instead sell on a competing platform that you own stock in, or (b) convince an Etsy
developer to leave Etsy to work for your sister’s startup.
Example : It i s okay to encourage a colleague to leave Etsy to follow her dream of running her Etsy Shop full-time.
You will be an at-will employee of Etsy. You will be an at-will employee of Etsy, which means that you are free to resign at any time and that Etsy may terminate your employment
at any time and for any or no reason. By signing this Agreement, you acknowledge that you will be an at-will employee of Etsy and that you are not entering into an employment
contract with Etsy for a set period of time.
Section 2 - Enforcement of Rights and Other Legal Information
New York law will be used to resolve disputes. If there is a dispute concerning this Agreement or your employment with Etsy, the dispute will be resolved using the laws of
New York State (excluding laws relating to conflicts or choice of law). Also, because Etsy is based in Brooklyn, you and Etsy agree to submit to the personal jurisdiction of a state
court located in Kings County, New York or the United States District Court for the Eastern District of New York located in Brooklyn.
Nothing in this Agreement prohibits you from reporting violations of the law or Etsy’s policies, and no retaliatory action will be taken against you for doing so. Nothing in this
Agreement, including the section on Confidential Information, prohibits you from reporting possible violations of the law. This includes making reports to a governmental agency,
such as the Department of Justice or the Securities and Exchange Commission. Similarly, nothing in this Agreement prohibits you from reporting possible violations of the law or
Etsy’s Code of Conduct or other policies to your manager, Etsy’s General Counsel, or Etsy’s SVP of Human Resources, or through Etsy’s whistleblower hotline. You do not need
authorization from Etsy to report violations of the law or Etsy’s policies and you do not have to notify Etsy that you have done so. Etsy takes its non-retaliatory culture very seriously
and will not allow anyone to take adverse action, threaten, intimidate, or retaliate against you if you report a violation or a suspected violation in good faith, or cooperate with an
investigation.

You may have additional rights not described in this Agreement. You may have additional rights that are not described in this Agreement. If you have any questions about your
rights under this Agreement or otherwise, you should speak with a lawyer before signing this Agreement.
What you and Etsy must do to waive rights created by this Agreement. For you or Etsy to waive a right granted by this Agreement, you and an authorized representative of Etsy
must explicitly agree to waive that right in writing. If either you or Etsy do not enforce a right granted by this Agreement for some period of time, that right will not be considered to
have been waived. Similarly, if you or Etsy exercise one right granted by this Agreement, that will not be considered a waiver of any other right you or Etsy may have under this
Agreement.
Example : You develop a piece of code for Etsy and then use that code in a website you develop for a friend. You tell your manager what you are doing and she tells
you verbally that it’s okay. Six months later, your VP finds out that you’re using Etsy code for a non-Etsy project and asks you to stop. Neither your conversation
with your manager nor the fact that six months elapsed before Etsy asked you to stop would be considered a waiver of Etsy’s rights under this Agreement to control
the use of the code you developed.
Etsy may assign this Agreement to certain third parties. Etsy may assign this Agreement to an affiliate, or to a third party in the case of a merger or acquisition. In the case of a
merger or acquisition, as an at-will employee, you would still be free to resign at any time.
Etsy will be entitled to an injunction if you violate or threaten to violate this Agreement. Etsy could suffer serious harm if you violate this Agreement. By signing this Agreement,
you agree that Etsy will be entitled to an injunction (and will not be required to post a bond) to protect itself if you breach or threaten to breach this Agreement. Note that a court has
the discretion to strike or modify any part of this Agreement that it determines is too broad or unenforceable under the specific circumstances related to your departure.
Section 1 of this Agreement will remain in effect after you stop working for Etsy. Whether you resign from Etsy or Etsy terminates your employment, the obligations you agreed to
in Section 1 of this Agreement, including those concerning Confidential Information, ownership of your work, and non-competition, will remain in effect indefinitely.

ETSY, INC.
By: /s/ Brian Christman
Name: Brian Christman

EMPLOYEE
Name : Jill Simeone /NHName2/
Signature: /s/ Jill Simeone /NHName2 /NHSig2/
Date: January 7, 2017

Title: SVP of Human Resources

Email: XXXXXXXXX /NHEmail2/

Appendix A
PRIOR INVENTIONS

N/A

Exhibit 10.13

June 21, 2017
Dear Karen Mullane:
This letter (the “Agreement”) confirms the agreement between you and Etsy, Inc. (the “Company”) regarding the transition of your duties and
responsibilities and separation from Etsy.
Last Day of Employment . Your last day of employment with the Company will be November 15, 2017 (the “Separation Date”).

1.

2.
Effective Date and Revocation . You have up to 45 days after you first receive this Agreement to review it. You are advised to consult an
attorney of your own choosing (at your own expense) before signing this Agreement. You have seven days after you sign this Agreement to revoke it. If you wish to
revoke this Agreement after signing it, you may do so by delivering a letter of revocation to me within that seven-day period. If you do not revoke this Agreement within
that time period, this Agreement will become effective on the eighth day after the date you sign it (the “Effective Date”). Because of the seven-day revocation period, no
part of this Agreement will become effective or enforceable until the Effective Date.
3.
Salary and Vacation Pay . You will continue to receive your regular pay through the Separation Date. Following your Separation Date, the
Company will pay you all of your accrued but unused vacation time or PTO. You acknowledge that the only payments and benefits that you are entitled to receive from
the Company in the future are those specified in this Agreement, and that you will not be entitled to any additional compensation from the Company, including any salary,
bonus or incentive compensation; any severance or separation payments or benefits of any kind; or other remuneration or benefits of any kind, except as specifically set
forth in this Agreement and, if applicable, the Etsy, Inc. Change in Control Severance Plan.
4.
Separation Benefits . In exchange for your execution of this Agreement and in exchange for your signing (no earlier than the Effective Date) and
not revoking your acceptance of the Supplemental Release, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit A to this Agreement, for your continued compliance with your
obligations under the Etsy, Inc. Severance Plan, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit B to this agreement (the “Severance Plan”), and for your continued compliance
with your obligations under Sections 5, 6, 10, 11, 12, and 13, below, and for no other reason, the Company will provide you with the following benefits:
a.

A payment in accordance with the Severance Plan Participation Notice you signed on July 17, 2015 equal to $65,000, payable in equal installments
on the Company’s regular payroll dates over the course of three (3) months. Such payments shall commence within 60 days of the

Separation Date and the first such payment shall include any unpaid amounts accrued from the Separation Date;
b.

An additional one-time lump sum payment to you of $96,500 1 payable within 60 days of the Separation Date;

c.

Reimbursement of your COBRA premiums for the Cobra Payment Period of 5 months, commencing within 60 days following the Separation Date,
provided that

the initial payment will include a catch-up payment to cover the period between the Separation Date and the date of such first payment; and
d.

Outplacement services for a period of four (4) months after the Separation Date;

e.

The ability to continue to work for the Company during the Transition Period described in Section 5, below;

f.

Payment of your salary during the Transition Period;

g.

Continuation of your benefits during the Transition Period;

h.

Continued vesting of your outstanding equity awards through the Separation Date; and

i.

Acceleration of fifty percent (50%) of the stock options and RSUs awarded to you on March 1, 2016, such that such RSUs and stock options will be
vested and exercisable and all such RSUs will be vested on and as of the Separation Date and settled as soon as practicable thereafter.

j.

The Company will reimburse up to $1,000 in legal fees that you incur in connection with this Agreement.

5.
Transition Period . From now until the Separation Date (the “Transition Period”), you will continue to receive your current salary; you will be
expected to be physically present in the Company’s offices unless specifically requested by the Company, and subject to your use of vacation days or PTO as approved by
the Company; you will make yourself available to answer questions and to perform such tasks as the Company (and specifically, as the Chief Financial Officer requests);
and you will cooperate in the effort to effect an orderly, smooth, and efficient transition of your duties and responsibilities to such individual(s) as the Company may
direct. You agree to perform the above-listed duties with substantially the same degree of diligence and care consistent with past practice and to continue to use your
reasonable best efforts to adhere to all applicable written Company policies. You agree that you will work exclusively for the Company during the Transition Period. If
you begin working for another
______________
1 Pro-rata bonus assuming 100% plus 5 weeks salary

Company (or if you become self-employed) during the Transition Period, beginning on the date you commence such employment, you will not be entitled to any
additional salary, compensation, or benefits from the Company, but all remaining portions of this Agreement, including your release of claims under Section 8, below,
will remain in full force and effect.
6.
Cooperation : During and after your employment with the Company, you shall assist the Company in connection with any litigation,
investigation, or other legal or regulatory matter involving the Company. Any needed cooperation would be applied reasonably after the Separation Date so as not to
interfere with future work. You agree that such assistance may include, but is not limited to, meeting with the Company’s legal counselor, other representatives and
voluntarily providing testimony in legal proceedings if so requested by the Company. The Company will reimburse you for reasonable out-of pocket expenses incurred in
rendering such assistance to the Company (not including attorney’s fees).
7.
Equity Awards . Your equity awards (i.e., stock options and/or restricted stock units) will vest through the Separation Date in accordance with
the terms and conditions of the applicable equity plan(s) and award agreement(s) pursuant to which they were granted. Any equity that is unvested as of the
Separation Date (except as noted in Section 4) will be forfeited in accordance with those plan(s) and agreement(s). Any vested options as of the Separation Date will
remain exercisable until three months from the Separation Date.

The award agreement(s) between you and the Company evidencing your equity awards will remain in full force and effect and you agree to remain bound by them. You
also acknowledge and agree that you will comply with the Company’s Insider Trading Policy, which states that you will remain subject to the insider trading restrictions
until the next open trading window following the Separation Date or until you no longer possess material non-public information, whichever is later.
8.
Release of All Claims . In consideration for the benefits offered to you in this Agreement, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, you
hereby waive and release any and all claims or causes of action, whether or not now known, against the Company or its predecessors, successors or past or present
subsidiaries, stockholders, directors, officers, employees, consultants, attorneys, agents, assigns and employee benefit plans with respect to any matter, including (without
limitation) any matter, including (without limitation) any matter related to your employment with the Company or the termination of that employment; claims for
attorneys’ fees or costs; claims of wrongful discharge, constructive discharge, emotional distress, defamation, invasion of privacy, fraud, breach of contract or breach of
the covenant of good faith and fair dealing; claims for any compensation or benefits not specifically referenced in this Agreement, including claims under any offer letter
or employment agreement between you and the Company, the Severance Plan, the Etsy, Inc. Change in Control Severance Plan or any other Company incentive plan,
bonus plan, or severance plan; claims under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, the Americans with
Disabilities Act, the Employee Retirement Income Security Act, the New York State Human Rights Law, the New York Labor Law, and the New York City Human
Rights Law, all as amended; and claims under any and all other international, federal, state, and local statutes, regulations, codes, rules, ordinances, and laws of any type.
However, this release covers only those claims that arose prior to the execution of this Agreement. Execution of this Agreement

does not bar any claim that arises hereafter, including (without limitation) a claim for breach of this Agreement.
9.
No Admission . Nothing contained in this Agreement will constitute or be treated as an admission by you or the Company of liability, any
wrongdoing or any violation of law.
10.
Other Agreements . At all times in the future, you will remain bound by your Proprietary Information and Inventions Agreement or
Confidentiality & Proprietary Inventions Agreement with the Company, as applicable, which you signed on November 5, 2013, and a copy of which is attached as
Exhibit C. Except as expressly provided in this Agreement, this Agreement renders null and void all prior agreements between you and the Company and constitutes the
entire agreement between you and the Company regarding the subject matter of this Agreement. This Agreement may be modified only in a written document signed by
you and a duly authorized officer of the Company.
11.
Company Property . You agree to return to the Company, on or before your Separation Date, all property that belongs to the Company,
including (without limitation) copies of documents that belong to the Company and files stored on your personal or home computer(s) or device(s) that contain
information belonging to the Company. If you have Company property or information at your home, or in any location other than the Company’s offices, you agree to
return such property to Company promptly, and in no event later than three business days following your Separation Date.
12.
Confidentiality of Agreement . You agree that you will not disclose to others the existence or terms of this Agreement, except that you may
disclose such information to your spouse, attorney or tax adviser if such individuals agree that they will not disclose to others the existence or terms of this Agreement and
to government agencies or officials in accordance with Section 14, below.
13.
No Disparagement . You agree that you will never make any negative or disparaging statements (orally or in writing) about the Company or its
directors, officers, employees, products, services or business practices. This Section 13 is not intended and should not be read to prevent you from testifying in good faith
under oath pursuant to a subpoena, from cooperating in a governmental investigation or inquiry or providing information to any governmental agency or official, or from
acting as required by governing law. The Company will instruct current members of the Etsy Executive Team and the Board to refrain from making any disparaging
statements about you.
14.
Preservation of Rights . Nothing in Sections 6, 8, 12 or 13, above, or otherwise in this Agreement, shall be construed to prevent you from (a)
reporting violations of United States or other law or regulations to or (b) participating in an investigation conducted by, or providing truthful information to any
government, regulatory, or self-regulatory agency in accordance with law, including but not limited to the Department of Justice, the Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”), the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”), the Congress, and any agency Inspector General, or from making other
disclosures that are protected under the whistleblower or other provisions of any applicable United States or

other law or regulation. You do not need the prior authorization of the Company to make any such reports or disclosures and you are not required to notify the Company
that you have made such reports or disclosures. Nevertheless, you acknowledge that you cannot recover any monetary benefit, damages, or equitable relief with respect to
any of the claims released and waived in this Agreement through or from any charge filed by you with a fair employment practices agency such as the EEOC or any
action commenced by a third party. However, nothing in this Agreement prevents you from obtaining a monetary award from the SEC.
15.
Severability . If any term of this Agreement is held to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement will remain in full
force and effect and will in no way be affected, and the parties will use their best efforts to find an alternate way to achieve the same result.
16.

Choice of Law . This Agreement will be construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of New York.

17.
Execution . This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which will be considered an original, but all of which together will
constitute one agreement. Execution of a facsimile copy will have the same force and effect as execution of an original, and a facsimile signature will be deemed an
original and valid signature.
18.
Tax Withholding . The Company will withhold taxes from the payments described in this Agreement and report amounts to tax authorities as it
determines it is required to do.
19.

this Agreement.

Notice to Employee. I have received the Notice to Employee Under the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act, which is attached as Exhibit D to

(i)

Acknowledgments . By signing this Agreement, I acknowledge and agree that:
I have carefully read, and understand, this Agreement;

(ii)

I have voluntarily chosen to enter into this Agreement and have not been forced or pressured in any way to sign it; and

(iii)

In deciding to sign this Agreement, I am not relying on any promises or representations that are not set forth in this Agreement.

20.

Please indicate your agreement with the above terms by signing below.
This offer will expire at midnight on August 6, 2017 if you do not sign this Agreement and return it to me by that date.
Very truly yours,
/s/ Brian Christman
Brian Christman
SVP of Human Resources
Etsy, Inc.

I agree to the terms of this Agreement, and I am voluntarily signing it.

/s/ Karen Mullane
Signature of Karen Mullane
Dated: 7/19/17

EXHIBIT A

EXHIBIT A
SUPPLEMENTAL RELEASE
You and Etsy, Inc. (the “Company”) hereby enter into this Supplemental Release (the “Supplemental Release”), which will become effective on the date described in
Section 9, below.
1.

Last Date of Employment. Your employment with the Company ended on __________________ (“Effective Date”).

2.
Release of All Claims . In consideration for receiving the retention benefits described in Section 4 of the letter agreement between you and the
Company dated as of _______________ (the “Agreement”), and to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, you hereby waive, release and promise never to assert
any claims or causes of action, whether or not now known, against the Company or its predecessors, successors or past or present subsidiaries, stockholders, directors,
officers, employees, consultants, attorneys, agents, assigns and employee benefit plans with respect to any matter, including (without limitation) any matter related to your
employment with the Company or the termination of that employment, claims for attorneys’ fees or costs, claims of wrongful discharge, constructive discharge, emotional
distress, defamation, invasion of privacy, fraud, breach of contract or breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing; claims under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act
of 1964, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, the Americans with Disabilities Act, the New York State Human Rights Law, the New York Labor Law,
and the New York City Human Rights Law; claims under any and all other federal, state, and local statutes, regulations, and laws of any type; and claims for any
compensation or benefits not specifically referenced in the Agreement, including claims under any Company incentive plan, bonus plan, or severance plan). Execution of
this Supplemental Release does not bar (i) any claim that arises hereafter, including (without limitation) a claim for breach of this Supplemental Release, (ii) any rights
you may already have to be indemnified and/or advanced or reimbursed expenses pursuant to any corporate document of the Company or its affiliates or applicable law,
including the Indemnification Agreement dated April 15, 2015, or your right to be covered under any applicable directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policies, (iii)
any rights to the retention benefits set forth in the Agreement and which are owed or payable after the date of this Supplemental Release, and (iv) any rights to vested
equity awards and any rights under any benefit plans of the Company under which you have a vested benefit and for which amounts are payable after the Effective Date.
3.
No Admission . Nothing contained in this Supplemental Release will constitute or be treated as an admission by you or the Company of liability,
any wrongdoing or any violation of law.
4.
Other Agreements . Except as expressly provided in the Agreement and this Supplemental Release, the Agreement and this Supplemental
Release render null and void all prior agreements between you and the Company (except for the Indemnification Agreement, the Etsy, Inc. Change in Control Severance
Plan, and the PIIA, as defined in the Agreement) and constitute the entire agreement between you and the Company regarding the subject matter of the Agreement and
this Supplemental Release. This Supplemental Release may be modified only in a written document signed by you and a duly authorized officer of the Company.
5.
Disclosures . You hereby represent, acknowledge, and agree that you have, prior to signing this Supplemental Release, fully disclosed to the
CEO, CFO and/or Board all information that you possess with respect to any violations, or potential violations, of the securities laws or any other laws and regulations
with which the Company has an obligation to comply.

6.
Severability . If any term of this Supplemental Release is held to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remainder of this Supplemental Release
will remain in full force and effect and will in no way be affected, and the parties will use their best efforts to find an alternate way to achieve the same result.
7.

Choice of Law . This Supplemental Release will be construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of New York.

8.
Execution . This Supplemental Release may be executed in counterparts, each of which will be considered an original, but all of which together
will constitute one agreement. Execution of a facsimile copy will have the same force and effect as execution of an original, and a facsimile signature will be deemed an
original and valid signature.
9.
Effective Date and Revocation. You agree by your signature below that you had, and that the Company gave you, at least twenty-one (21) days
to review and consider this Supplemental Release before signing it, and that such period was sufficient for you to fully and completely consider all of its terms. The
Company hereby advises you to discuss this Supplemental Release with your own attorney (at your own expense) during this period if you wish to do so. You may accept
this Supplemental Release by delivering a copy of this Supplemental Release signed by you to me within twenty-one (21) days of the Effective Date. You may revoke
your acceptance of this Supplemental Release for a period of seven (7) days after signing the Supplemental Release by delivering written notification to me within that
seven-day period. If you do not revoke your acceptance of this Supplemental Release, it will be effective on the eighth (8 th ) day after you sign it. If you revoke your
acceptance of this Supplemental Release, you will not be entitled to the benefits listed in Section 4 of the Agreement. You agree that you have carefully read this
Supplemental Release, fully understand what it means, and are entering into it voluntarily.

Please indicate your agreement with the above terms by signing below.
Very truly yours,

______________________________
Josh Silverman
Chief Executive Officer
Etsy, Inc.

I agree to the terms of this Supplemental Release.

Signature

Karen Mullane
Print Name
Dated:

EXHIBIT B

SEVERANCE PLAN

EXHIBIT C
PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND INVENTIONS AGREEMENT OR CONFIDENTIALITY & PROPRIETARY INVENTIONS AGREEMENT

Exhibit A

PROPRIETARY INFORMATION AND INVENTIONS AGREEMENT
Effective as of October 30, 2013, the following confirms an agreement between Etsy, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the Company) and the individual identified on the
signature page to this Agreement. This Agreement is a material part of the consideration for my employment by the Company. In exchange for the foregoing, and for other good and
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:
1. NO CONFLICTS. I have not made and agree not to make any agreement, oral or written, that is in conflict with this Agreement or my employment with the Company. I will
not violate any agreement with or the rights of any third party. When acting within the scope of my employment (or otherwise on behalf of the Company), I will not use or disclose
my own or any third party's confidential information or intellectual property (collectively, Restricted Materials), except as expressly authorized by the Company in writing. Further, I
have not retained anything containing any confidential information of a prior employer or other third party, whether or not created by me.
2.

INVENTIONS .

a. Definitions. Intellectual Property Rights means any and all patent rights, copyright rights, mask work rights, trade secret rights, sui generis database rights and all other
intellectual and industrial property rights of any sort throughout the world (including any application therefore). Invention means any idea, concept, discovery, invention,
development, technology, work of authorship, trade secret, software, firmware, tool, process, technique, know-how, data, plan, device, apparatus, specification, design, circuit,
layout, mask work, algorithm, program, code, documentation or other material or information, tangible or intangible, whether or not it may be patented, copyrighted or otherwise
protected (including all versions, modifications, enhancements and derivative works thereof).
b. Assignment. To the fullest extent under applicable law, the Company shall own all right, title and interest in and to all Inventions (including all Intellectual Property Rights
therein or related thereto) that are made, conceived or reduced to practice, in whole or in part, by me during the term of my employment with the Company and which arise out of
research or other activity conducted by, for or under the direction of the Company (whether or not conducted at the Company's facilities, during working hours or using Company
assets), or which are useful with or relate directly or indirectly to any Company Interest (meaning any product, service, other Invention or Intellectual Property Right that is sold,
leased, used or under consideration or development by the Company). I will promptly disclose and provide all of the foregoing Inventions (the Assigned Inventions) to the Company.
I hereby make and agree to make all assignments to the Company necessary to accomplish the foregoing ownership. Assigned Inventions shall not include any Invention (i) that I
develop entirely on my own time, (ii) without use of any Company assets and (iii) which is not useful with and does not relate to any Company Interest.
c. Assurances. I will further assist the Company, at its expense, to evidence, record and perfect such assignments, and to perfect, obtain, maintain, enforce and defend any rights
specified to be so owned or assigned. I hereby irrevocably designate and appoint the Company as my agent and attorney-in-fact to act for and in my behalf to execute and file any
document and to do all other lawfully permitted acts to further the purposes of the foregoing with the same legal force and effect as if executed by me.
d. Other Inventions. If I wish to clarify that something created by me prior to my employment that relates to the Company's actual or proposed business is not within the scope
of this Agreement, I have listed it on Appendix A. If (i) I use or disclose any Restricted Materials when acting within the scope of my employment (or otherwise on behalf of the
Company), or (ii) any Assigned Invention cannot be fully made, used, reproduced or otherwise exploited without using or violating any Restricted Materials, I hereby grant and agree
to grant to the Company a perpetual, irrevocable, worldwide, royalty-free, non-exclusive, sublicensable right and license to exploit and

exercise all such Restricted Materials and Intellectual Property Rights therein. I will not use or disclose any Restricted Materials for which I am not fully authorized to grant the
foregoing license.
e. Moral Rights. To the extent allowed by applicable law, the terms of this Section 2 include all rights of paternity, integrity, disclosure and withdrawal and any other rights that
may be known as or referred to as moral rights, artist's rights, droit moral or the like (collectively, Moral Rights). To the extent I retain any such Moral Rights under applicable law, I
hereby ratify and consent to any action that may be taken with respect to such Moral Rights by or authorized by the Company and agree not to assert any Moral Rights with respect
thereto. I will confirm any such ratification, consent or agreement from time to time as requested by the Company.
3. PROPRIETARY INFORMATION. I agree that all Assigned Inventions and all other financial, business, legal and technical information, including the identity of and
information relating to the Company's employees, Affiliates and Business Partners (as such terms are defined below), which I develop, learn or obtain during my employment or that
are received by or for the Company in confidence, constitute Proprietary Information. I will hold in strict confidence and not disclose or, except within the scope of my employment,
use any Proprietary Information. Proprietary Information will not include information that I can document is or becomes readily publicly available without restriction through no
fault of mine. Upon termination of my employment, I will promptly return to the Company all items containing or embodying Proprietary Information (including all copies), except
that I may keep my personal copies of (a) my compensation records, (b) materials distributed to shareholders generally and (c) this Agreement. I also recognize and agree that I have
no expectation of privacy with respect to the Company's networks, telecommunications systems or information processing systems (including, without limitation, stored computer
files, electronic mail messages and voice messages), and that my activity and any files or messages on or using any of those systems may be monitored at any time without notice.
4. RESTRICTED ACTIVITIES. For the purposes of this Section 4, the term Company includes the Company and all other persons or entities that control, are controlled by or
are under common control with the Company (Affiliates).
a. Definitions. Any Capacity includes, without limitation, to (i) be an owner, founder, shareholder, partner, member, advisor, director, consultant, contractor, agent, employee,
affiliate or co-venturer, (ii) otherwise invest, engage or participate in, (iii) be compensated by or (iv) prepare to be or do any of the foregoing or assist any third party to do so;
provided, Any Capacity will not include being a holder of less than one percent (1%) of the outstanding equity of a public company. Business Partner means any past, present or
prospective customer, vendor, supplier, distributor or other business partner of the Company with which I have contact during my employment. Cause means to recruit, employ,
retain or otherwise solicit, induce or influence (or to attempt to do so). Solicit means to (i) service, take orders from or solicit the business or patronage of any Business Partner for
myself or any other person or entity, (ii) divert, entice or otherwise take away from the Company the business or patronage of any Business Partner, or to attempt to do so, or (iii) to
solicit, induce or encourage any Business Partner to terminate or reduce its relationship with the Company.
b. Acknowledgments. I acknowledge and agree that (i) the Company's business is highly competitive, secrecy of the Proprietary Information is of the utmost importance to the
Company and I will learn and use Proprietary Information in performing my work for the Company and (ii) my position may require me to establish goodwill with Business Partners
and employees on behalf of the Company and such goodwill is extremely important to the Company's success.
c. As an Employee. During my employment with the Company, I will not directly or indirectly: (i) Cause any person to leave their employment with the Company (other than
terminating subordinate employees in the course of my duties for the Company); (ii) Solicit any Business Partner; or (iii) act in Any Capacity in or with respect to any commercial
activity which competes or is reasonably likely to compete with any business that the Company conducts, or demonstrably anticipates conducting, at any time during my employment
(a Competing Business).
d. After Termination. For the period of one year immediately following termination of my employment with the Company (for any or no reason, whether voluntary or
involuntary), I will not directly or indirectly: (i) Cause any

person to leave their employment with the Company; or (ii) Solicit any Business Partner; or (iii) act in Any Capacity in or with respect to any Competing Business located within the
State of New York, the rest of the United States, or anywhere else in the world.
e. Enforcement. I understand that the restrictions set forth in this Section 4 are intended to protect the Company's interest in its Proprietary Information and established
relationships and goodwill with employees and Business Partners, and I agree that such restrictions are reasonable and appropriate for this purpose. If at any time any of the
provisions of this Section 4 are deemed invalid or unenforceable or are prohibited by the laws of the state or place where they are to be performed or enforced, by reason of being
vague or unreasonable as to duration or geographic scope or scope of activities restricted, or for any other reason, such provisions shall be considered divisible and shall become and
be immediately amended to include only such restrictions and to such extent as shall be deemed to be reasonable and enforceable by the court or other body having jurisdiction over
this Agreement. The Company and I agree that the provisions of this Section 4, as so amended, shall be valid and binding as though any invalid or unenforceable provision had not
been included.
5. EMPLOYMENT AT WILL. I agree that this Agreement is not an employment contract for any particular term. I have the right to resign and the Company has the right to
terminate my employment at will, at any time, for any or no reason, with or without cause. This Agreement does not purport to set forth all of the terms and conditions of my
employment, and as an employee of the Company, I have obligations to the Company which are not described in this Agreement. However, the terms of this Agreement govern over
any such terms that are inconsistent with this Agreement, and supersede the terms of any similar form that I may have previously signed. This Agreement can only be changed by a
subsequent written agreement signed by the President of the Company (or authorized designee).
6. SURVIVAL. I agree that my obligations under Sections 2, 3 and 4 of this Agreement shall continue in effect after termination of my employment, regardless of the reason, and
whether such termination is voluntary or involuntary, and that the Company is entitled to communicate my obligations under this Agreement to any of my potential or future
employers. My obligations under Sections 2, 3 and 4 also shall be binding upon my heirs, executors, assigns and administrators, and shall inure to the benefit of the Company, its
Affiliates, successors and assigns. This Agreement may be freely assigned by the Company to any third party.
7. GOVERNING LAW; REMEDIES. Any dispute in the meaning, effect or validity of this Agreement shall be resolved in accordance with the laws of the State of New York
without regard to the conflict of laws provisions thereof. The failure of either party to enforce its rights under this Agreement at any time for any period shall not be construed as a
waiver of such rights. Unless expressly provided otherwise, each right and remedy in this Agreement is in addition to any other right or remedy, at law or in equity, and the exercise
of one right or remedy will not be deemed a waiver of any other right or remedy. I further agree that if one or more provisions of this Agreement are held to be illegal or
unenforceable under applicable law, such illegal or unenforceable portion shall be limited or excluded from this Agreement to the minimum extent required so that this Agreement
shall otherwise remain in full force and effect and enforceable. I also understand that any breach or threatened breach of this Agreement will cause irreparable harm to the Company
for which damages would not be a adequate remedy, and, therefore, the Company will be entitled to injunctive relief with respect thereto (without the necessity of posting any bond)
in addition to any other remedies.
I HAVE READ THIS AGREEMENT CAREFULLY AND I UNDERSTAND AND ACCEPT THE OBLIGATIONS WHICH IT IMPOSES UPON ME WITHOUT
RESERVATION. NO

PROMISES OR REPRESENTATIONS HAVE BEEN MADE TO ME TO INDUCE ME TO SIGN THIS AGREEMENT. I SIGN THIS AGREEMENT VOLUNTARILY
AND FREELY, IN DUPLICATE, WITH THE UNDERSTANDING THAT ONE COUNTERPART WILL BE RETAINED BY THE COMPANY AND THE OTHER
COUNTERPART WILL BE RETAINED BY ME.
ETSY, INC.

EMPLOYEE

By: /s/ Brian Christman

Name: Karen Mullane

Name: Brian Christman

Signature: /s/ Karen Mullane

Title: VP of Human Resources

Address: XXXXXXXXXX

EXHIBIT D
NOTICE TO EMPLOYEE UNDER THE
OLDER WORKERS BENEFIT PROTECTION ACT

EXHIBIT 10.17

ETSY, INC.
EXECUTIVE SEVERANCE PLAN

(Effective as of February 14, 2018)
The Etsy, Inc. (the “ Company ”) Executive Severance Plan (the “ Plan ”) is designed to provide separation pay to eligible executives of the Company whose employment
terminates in a Qualifying Termination (as defined in the Plan). The Plan is an unfunded welfare plan maintained primarily for the purpose of providing severance
benefits to a select group of management and highly compensated employees.
This Plan is governed by the laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to conflicts of law principles that might otherwise point to the law of a different jurisdiction.
I.

ELIGIBILITY FOR BENEFITS

1. Participation. The Company’s Board of Directors (the “ Board ”) or its Compensation Committee (the “ Committee ”) will select the Company executives who are
eligible to participate in the Plan. The Plan Administrator (as defined below) will deliver a notice to each such executive, substantially in the form attached hereto as the “
Participation Notice ,” informing the executive that he or she is eligible to participate in the Plan. Each executive of the Company who receives a Participation Notice is a
“ Participant ” in the Plan.
2.

Conditions to Receive Benefits
A.

In order to receive benefits under the Plan, a Participant must:
(i)

Experience a Qualifying Termination;

(ii)

Execute, and not revoke, a general release of all claims (the “ Release ”) in the form provided by the Company;

(iii)

Return all Company Property to the Company; and

(iv) Comply with all agreements between the Company and the Participant relating to confidentiality, non-competition, non-solicitation and noninterference.
The Company shall deliver the Release to the Participant no later than five days after his or her Qualifying Termination. The Release will specify a deadline for
executing the Release, which date shall be no later than 50 days after the Participant’s Qualifying Termination. If the Release is not executed, effective, and
irrevocable by the 60th day after the Participant’s Qualifying Termination, the Participant will cease to be eligible for benefits under this Plan.

B. In addition to the conditions in Section I.2.A, a Participant shall not be entitled to benefits under the Plan unless and until such Participant has entered into
the Company’s standard form of Employee Proprietary Information and Inventions Agreement or any similar or successor document.
C. If a Participant has not substantially complied with the material terms of all material agreements between the Company and the Participant, or the Participant
has engaged in conduct that would give rise to a termination for Cause (whether such conduct occurred before or after the Participant’s Separation), the Plan
Administrator may deny and/or discontinue the payment of the Participant’s Plan benefits and may require the Participant to repay the gross amount (before
withholding) of any portion of the benefits already received under the Plan (including to forfeit equity and any gain realized on the vesting, exercise, settlement,
sale, transfer or other disposition of any equity-based awards, in each case to the extent attributable to accelerated vesting under the Plan); provided that the
Company shall first provide written notice of such noncompliance and repayment obligation to the Participant and allow 10 days after receipt of such notice for
the Participant to cure such noncompliance (if capable of being cured). If the Plan Administrator notifies a Participant that repayment is required, such amounts
shall be repaid in cash within 30 calendar days of the date the written notice is sent. Any remedy under this paragraph C shall be in addition to, and not in place of,
any other remedy, including injunctive relief, forfeiture of equity and other compensation rights and money damages, that the Company may have.
II.

Plan Benefits

If a Participant has a Qualifying Termination and satisfies the eligibility conditions set forth in Section I, above, the Company will provide the following severance
benefits, subject to the terms of the Plan:
1.
Salary Continuation. An amount equal to (x) the Participant’s Monthly Base Salary times (y) the number of months in the Severance Period. Subject to
subparagraphs (A) through (C), below, such amount shall be payable in equal installments on the Company’s regular payroll dates from the Qualifying Termination
through the number of months in the Severance Period.
A.
Subject to any delay required by Section 409A of the Code (as described in Section III.1, below), payment shall commence within 60 days after the
Qualifying Termination. The first payment shall include any unpaid installments accrued from the date of the Participant’s Qualifying Termination.
B.
If the Participant’s Separation occurs within 12 months after a Change in Control that qualifies as a payment event under Section 409A(a)(2)(A)(v) of the
Code, payment shall be made in a lump sum; provided that this provision shall not apply with respect to any amount that is (i) subject to Section 409A of the Code
and (ii) payable to a Participant who was selected for participation before February 14, 2018.
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C. If the period during which payments must commence spans two calendar years, then payment of any amounts that are subject to the requirements of Section
409A of the Code shall commence in the second calendar year.
2.
Health Benefits. If the Participant (x) was a participant in the Company’s group health insurance plans (major medical, dental and vision) on the date of such
Participant’s Qualifying Termination and (y) timely elects continued coverage under the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985 (together with any
state law of similar effect, “ COBRA ”), the Company will either provide (or arrange to be provided) such continued coverage at active employee rates through the end of
the COBRA Payment Period (as defined below) or pay to the Participant cash in lieu of continued coverage (as described in the paragraph below).
Cash in lieu of continued coverage shall consist of a payment, for each month during the COBRA Payment Period, equal to the excess of the cost of the elected level of
COBRA coverage for such month over the monthly cost charged to active employees for the same coverage. The COBRA Payment Period shall begin on the first day
after the Participant’s active employee health coverage ends due to Separation and end on the earliest to occur of (A) the end of the COBRA Period, (B) the expiration of
the Participant’s eligibility for the continuation coverage under COBRA, and (C) the first month for which the Participant is eligible for health insurance coverage in
connection with new employment or self-employment. Payment of cash in lieu of continued coverage shall be due on the first day of each month during the COBRA
Payment Period for which the Company does not provide continued coverage at active employee rates, except that payments shall commence (with any make-up
payments) on the date prescribed by subsection 1, above.
The amount payable under this subsection 2 will not include any amounts that the Participant has elected to contribute to a health care flexible spending account; such
amounts, if any, are the sole responsibility of the Participant.
3. Vesting of Equity. If the Participant’s Separation is a Qualifying CIC Termination, each of the Participant’s then-outstanding equity awards shall vest (if not already
fully vested) as to a percentage of unvested shares (if any, as of the effective date prescribed by the next following sentence) per equity award equal to the Acceleration
Factor. Such vesting shall be effective as of the later of the Participant’s Qualifying CIC Termination or the date of the Change in Control.
4.
Non-Duplication. No provision of this Plan shall be interpreted to duplicate any payment or other compensation or benefit that a Participant is entitled to receive
under another arrangement. By way of example, a provision for severance in an offer letter or similar agreement shall be offset against the Participant’s salary
continuation under this Plan.
III.
1.

Tax Provisions
Section 409A of the Code

The Plan shall be construed consistently with the intent that payments under the Plan be exempt from the requirements of Section 409A of the Code (and any state law of
similar effect) to the extent possible ( i.e. , applying the “short-term deferral” rule described in Treas. Reg. § 1.409A-1(b)(4), the “two-year, two-time” rule described in
Treas. Reg. § 1.409A-1(b)(9), or another exemption),
3

and to comply with the requirements of Section 409A (to avoid taxes thereunder) to the extent that Section 409A applies. For purposes of Section 409A, each installment
in a series of installments shall be treated as a separate payment.
No payment that is subject to Section 409A shall be made to a “specified employee” (determined by the Company as of the Participant’s Separation in accordance with
Treas. Reg. § 409A-1(i)) before the first day after the earlier of (A) the date that is six months after the Participant’s Separation or the (B) the Participant’s death. Any
payment that is delayed by reason of this six-month delay requirement shall be made, without interest, on the later of the first payment date after the expiration of the sixmonth delay period required by Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the Code or the otherwise scheduled payment date.
2.

Golden Parachute Tax Limitation (Section 280G)

The Internal Revenue Code imposes an excise tax on certain payments and other benefits received by certain officers and stockholders of a company in connection with
its change of control. Such payments include severance pay, loan forgiveness and acceleration of vesting.
A. Basic Rule . In the event that it is determined that any payment, benefit, vesting or distribution of any type (cash, equity or otherwise) to or for the benefit of
a Participant pursuant to the terms of this Plan or any other agreement, including a benefit plan, Participant’s equity award agreements and loan forgiveness (the “ Total
Payments ”), would be subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code or any interest or penalties with respect to such excise tax (such excise tax, together
with any such interest or penalties, are collectively referred to as the “ Excise Tax ”), then the Total Payments shall be made to the Participant either (i) in full or (ii) as to
such lesser amount as would result in no portion of the Total Payments being subject to Excise Tax (a “ Reduced Payment ”), whichever of the foregoing results in the
receipt by the Participant on an after-tax basis, of benefits of the greatest value, notwithstanding that all or some portion of the Total Payments may be subject to the
Excise Tax.
B.

Rules Applicable to Reduced Payments
(i) Determination by Accountant . The determination as to whether any of the Total Payments are “parachute payments” (within the meaning of
Section 280G of the Code) and whether to make a Reduced Payment shall be made by an independent accounting firm (the “ Accounting Firm ”)
selected by the Company (the “ Accounting Firm ”), which shall provide such determination (the “ Determination ”), together with detailed
supporting calculations both to the Company and to the Participant within seven business days of the Participant’s Qualifying CIC Termination, if
applicable, or such earlier time as is requested by the Company or by the Participant (if the Participant reasonably believes that any of the Total
Payments may be subject to the Excise Tax). In any event, as promptly as practicable following the Accounting Firm’s Determination, the
Company shall pay or transfer to or for the benefit of the Participant such amounts as are then due to him or her and shall promptly pay or transfer
to or for the benefit of the Participant in
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the future such amounts as become due to him or her. Any Determination by the Accounting Firm shall be binding upon the Company and the
Participant, absent manifest error.
(ii)
Reduction of Payments . For purposes of determining whether to make a Reduced Payment, if applicable, the Company shall cause to be
taken into account all federal, state and local income and employment taxes and excise taxes applicable to the Participant (including the Excise
Tax). If a Reduced Payment is made, the Company shall reduce or eliminate the Total Payments in the following order: (1) cancellation of
accelerated vesting of options with no intrinsic value ( i.e. , options for which the exercise price is greater than the fair market value of the
underlying shares), (2) reduction of cash payments, (3) cancellation of accelerated vesting of equity awards other than options, (4) cancellation of
accelerated vesting of options with intrinsic value and (5) reduction of other benefits paid to the Participant. In the event that acceleration of vesting
is reduced, such acceleration of vesting shall be canceled in the reverse order of the date of grant of the Participant’s equity awards. In the event that
cash payments or other benefits are reduced, such reduction shall occur in reverse order beginning with payments or benefits which are to be paid
farthest in time from the date of the Determination.
C.
Underpayments and Overpayments . As a result of uncertainty in the application of Sections 4999 and 280G of the Code at the time of the initial
Determination by the Accounting Firm hereunder, it is possible that payments will have been made by the Company which should not have been made (an “ Overpayment
”) or that additional payments which will not have been made by the Company could have been made (an “ Underpayment ”), consistent in each case with the calculation
of whether and to what extent a Reduced Payment shall be made hereunder. In either event, the Accounting Firm shall determine the amount of the Underpayment or
Overpayment that has occurred. In the event that the Accounting Firm determines that an Overpayment has occurred, such Overpayment shall be treated for all purposes
as a loan to the Participant that he or she shall repay to the Company, together with interest at the applicable federal rate prescribed by Section 1274(d) of the Code;
provided, however, that the Participant shall not be required to repay any amount to the extent that such repayment would not reduce the amount that is subject to taxation
under Section 4999 of the Code. In the event that the Accounting Firm determines that an Underpayment has occurred, such Underpayment shall promptly be paid or
transferred by the Company to or for the benefit of the Participant, together with interest at the applicable federal rate prescribed by Section 1274(d) of the Code.
If this Section III.2 is applicable with respect to a Participant’s receipt of a Reduced Payment, it shall supersede any contrary provision of any plan, arrangement or
agreement governing the Participant’s rights to the Total Payments.
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IV.

CLAIMS AND APPEALS

1. Application of Claims and Appeals Procedures. The provisions of this Section IV shall apply to any claim for a benefit under the Plan, regardless of the basis
asserted for the claim and regardless of when the act or omission upon which the claim is based occurred.
2.

Initial Claims.
A.

Any claim for benefits shall be in writing (which may be electronic if permitted by the Plan Administrator) and shall be delivered to the Plan Administrator.

B.
Each claim for benefits shall be decided by the Claims Administrator within a reasonable period of time, but not later than 90 days after such claim is
received by the Claims Administrator (without regard to whether the claim submission includes sufficient information to make a determination), unless the Claims
Administrator determines that special circumstances require an extension of time for processing the claim. If the Claims Administrator determines that an
extension of time for processing is required, the Claims Administrator shall notify the claimant in writing before the end of the initial 90-day period of the
circumstances requiring an extension of time and the date by which a decision is expected.
C. If a claim is denied in whole or in part, the Claims Administrator shall provide to the claimant a written decision, issued by the end of the period prescribed
by paragraph B, above, that includes the following information:
(i)

The specific reason or reasons for denial of the claim;

(ii)

References to the specific Plan provisions upon which such denial is based;

(iii)
A description of any additional material or information necessary to perfect the claim, and an explanation of why such material or
information is necessary;

3.

(iv)

An explanation of the appeal procedures Plan’s and the applicable time limits; and

(v)

A statement of the claimant’s right to bring a civil action under Section 502(a) of ERISA, if his claim is denied upon review.

Appeals.
A. If a claim for benefits is denied in whole or in part, the claimant may appeal the denial to the Plan Administrator. Such appeal shall be in writing (which may
be electronic, if permitted by the Plan Administrator), may include any written comments, documents, records, or other information relating to the claim for
benefits, and shall be delivered to the
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Plan Administrator within 60 days after the claimant receives written notice that his claim has been denied.
B.
The Plan Administrator shall decide each appeal within a reasonable period of time, but not later than 60 days after such claim is received by the Plan
Administrator, unless the Plan Administrator determines that special circumstances require an extension of time for processing the appeal.
(i) If the Plan Administrator determines that an extension of time for processing is required, the Plan Administrator shall notify the claimant in
writing before the end of the initial 60-day period of the circumstances requiring an extension of time and the date by which the claims
administrator expects to render a decision.
(ii)
If an extension of time pursuant to subparagraph (i), above, is due to a claimant’s failure to submit information necessary to decide the
appeal, the period for deciding the appeal shall be tolled from the date on which the notification of extension is sent to the claimant until the date on
which the claimant responds to the request for additional information.
C. In connection with any appeal, a claimant shall be provided, upon request and free of charge, reasonable access to, and copies of, all documents, records, and
other information relevant to his claim for benefits. A document, record, or other information shall be considered relevant to a claim for benefits if such document,
record, or other information:
(i)

Was relied upon in making the benefit determination;

(ii) Was submitted, considered, or generated in the course of making the benefit determination, without regard to whether such document, record,
or other information was relied upon in making the benefit determination; or
(iii)
Demonstrates compliance with processes and safeguards designed to ensure and to verify that the benefit determination was made in
accordance with the terms of the Plan and that such terms of the Plan have been applied consistently with respect to similarly situated claimants.
D.
The Plan Administrator’s review on appeal shall take into account all comments, documents, records and other information submitted by the claimant,
without regard to whether such information was considered in the initial benefit determination.
E. If an appeal is denied in whole or in part, the Plan Administrator shall provide to the claimant a written decision, issued by the end of the period prescribed
by paragraph B, above, that includes the following information:
(i)
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The specific reason or reasons for the decision;

(ii)

References to the specific Plan provisions upon which the decision is based;

(iii)
An explanation of the claimant’s right to receive, upon request and free of charge, reasonable access to, and copies of, all documents,
records, and other information relevant to his claim for benefits (as determined pursuant to paragraph C, above); and
(iv)

4.

A statement of the claimant’s right to bring a civil action under Section 502(a) of ERISA.

Other Rules and Rights Regarding Claims and Appeals.
A.
A claimant may authorize a representative to pursue any claim or appeal on his behalf. The Plan Administrator may establish reasonable procedures for
verifying that any representative has in fact been authorized to act on his behalf.
B. Notwithstanding the deadlines prescribed by this Section IV, the Plan Administrator and any claimant may agree to a longer period for deciding a claim or
appeal or for filing an appeal, provided that the Plan Administrator shall not extend any deadline for filing an appeal unless imposition of the otherwise-applicable
deadline would be unreasonable under the applicable circumstances.

5.

Interpretation.

The provisions of this Section IV are intended to comply with Section 503 of ERISA and shall be administered and interpreted in a manner consistent with such intent.
6.

Litigation and Forum Selection
A. No Applicable Claim for non-payment or underpayment of benefits allegedly owed under the Plan may be filed in court (I) before the claimant has exhausted
the claims review procedures set forth above or (II) more than one year after the earliest of:
(i)

The date the first benefit payment was actually made;

(ii)

The date the first benefit payment was allegedly due;

(iii)
The date the Plan, the Plan Administrator, and the Claims Administrator, or any representative of the Plan first repudiated its alleged
obligation to provide such benefits (regardless of whether such repudiation occurred before or during the claims review process described above);
provided that if a request for administrative review, timely made in accordance with Section IV, is pending before the Claims Administrator or Plan Administrator,
when the one year period described in this Section IV.6.A expires, the deadline for filing such claim or action
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in a court with proper jurisdiction shall be extended to the date that is 120 calendar days after the final denial (including a deemed denial) of the claim on
administrative review.
B.

For purposes of this Section IV.6, an “Applicable Claim” is:
(i)

A claim or action to recover benefits allegedly due under the provisions of the Plan or by reason of any law;

(ii)

A claim or action to clarify rights to future benefits under the terms of the Plan;

(iii)

A claim or action to enforce rights under the Plan; or

(iv)
Any other claim or action that (A) relates to the Plan, and (B) seeks a remedy, ruling, or judgment of any kind against the Plan, the
Company, the Claims Administrator or the Plan Administrator with respect to benefits under the Plan or otherwise with respect to the Plan.
C.
In the event of any Applicable Claim brought by or on behalf of two or more claimants, the requirements of this Section IV.6 shall apply separately with
respect to each claimant.
D.
To the fullest extent permitted by law, any lawsuit brought in whole or in part under ERISA section 502 (or any successor provision) by a claimant and
relating to the Plan, benefits under the Plan, the lawfulness of any Plan provision or the administration of the Plan shall be filed in one of the following courts: (a)
the United States District Court for the Eastern District of New York; or (b) the United States District Court for the district in which the plaintiff’s employment
was principally based. This provision does not relieve any claimant from any obligation existing under the Plan or by law to exhaust administrative remedies
before initiating litigation.
E. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Section IV.6 (statute of limitations and forum selection) shall not apply with respect to claims related to a Qualifying CIC
Termination.
V.

MISCELLANEOUS

1.
Plan Administration . The Plan Administrator has full discretionary authority to administer and interpret the Plan, including discretionary authority to determine
eligibility for benefits under the Plan and the amount of benefits (if any) payable per Participant. Any determination by the Plan Administrator will be final and conclusive
upon all persons. Notwithstanding the Plan Administrator’s discretion, however, the standard of review for a court reviewing any claim related to a Qualifying CIC
Termination shall be de novo .
2.
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Benefits. Benefits provided under the Plan are paid from the general assets of the Company and are not funded or assignable.

3. Treatment of Plan Benefits. Payments made under this Plan shall not be treated as eligible “compensation” for purposes of any 401(k) or other retirement, savings
or similar plan of the Company or a parent or subsidiary of the Company. A Participant will also receive his or her unpaid salary through his or her termination date and a
lump sum payment for all accrued and unused vacation (through the termination date) in a final paycheck provided on his or her last day of work.
4.
Indebtedness of Participants . If a Participant is indebted to the Company on the effective date of the Participant’s Separation, the Company reserves the right to
offset the payment of any benefits under the Plan by the amount of such indebtedness. Such offset will be made in accordance with all applicable laws. The Participant’s
execution of the Participation Notice constitutes knowing written consent to the foregoing.
5.
Plan Terms. This Plan supersedes the Etsy, Inc. Severance Plan and Etsy, Inc. Change In Control Severance Plan, each of which expired in accordance with its
terms, and any and all prior separation, severance and salary continuation arrangements, programs and plans that were previously offered by the Company, either orally or
in writing, for which a Participant was eligible. In no event shall a Participant receive severance benefits under both this Plan and another plan, program or arrangement.
6. Plan Amendment or Termination. The Company, acting through its Board or its Compensation Committee, reserves the right to terminate or amend the Plan at any
time and in any manner, subject to this Section V.6. Any termination or amendment of the Plan may be made effective immediately with respect to any benefits not yet
paid, whether or not prior notice of such amendment or termination has been given to affected employees; however, no termination or amendment that negatively impacts
the rights or potential benefits of a Participant shall (i) apply with respect to any Participant who experiences a Qualifying Termination before or within two months after
the effective date of such termination or amendment, or (ii) become effective within the three months before or 12 months after a Change in Control.
7.
Taxes. All payments and benefits under the Plan will be subject to all applicable deductions and withholdings, including obligations to withhold for federal, state,
provincial, foreign and local income and employment taxes. By becoming a Participant in the Plan, the Participant agrees to review with Participant’s own tax advisors
the federal, state, provincial, local, and foreign tax consequences of participation in the Plan. The Participant will rely solely on such advisors and not on any statements or
representations of the Company or any of its agents. The Participant understands that the Participant (and not the Company) will be responsible for the Participant’s own
tax liability that may arise as a result of becoming a Participant in the Plan, without regard to the amount withheld or reported to the Internal Revenue Service.
8.
No Right to Employment . This Plan does not provide any Participant or other individual a right to continue employment with the Company (or any parent or
subsidiary) or affect the Company’s right (or the right of any parent or subsidiary employing a Participant), which right is hereby expressly reserved, to terminate the
employment of any individual at any time for any reason with or without cause.
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VI.
1.

Definitions and Rules of Construction
Definitions

Acceleration Factor shall mean the Acceleration Factor set forth in a Participant’s Participation Notice.
Cause shall mean a Participant’s (i) unauthorized use or disclosure of the Company’s confidential information or trade secrets, (ii) breach of any material terms of any
material agreement between the Participant and the Company, (iii) material failure to comply with the Company’s written policies or rules, (iv) conviction of, or plea of
“guilty” or “no contest” to, a felony under the laws of the United States or any State, or any crime involving dishonesty, fraud or moral turpitude, (v) gross negligence or
willful misconduct in the scope of the Participant’s employment, (vi) continuing failure to perform assigned duties after receiving written notification of the failure from
the Company’s Board of Directors or (vii) failure to cooperate in good faith with a governmental or internal investigation of the Company or its directors, officers or
employees, if the Company has requested the Participant’s cooperation.
Change in Control shall mean:
(i) Any “person” (as such term is used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “ Exchange Act ”)
becomes the “beneficial owner” (as defined in Rule 13d-3 of the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing
more than fifty percent (50%) of the total voting power represented by the Company’s then-outstanding voting securities;
(ii)

The consummation of the sale or disposition by the Company of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets;

(iii)
The consummation of a merger or consolidation of the Company with or into any other entity, other than a merger or consolidation which
would result in the voting securities of the Company outstanding immediately prior thereto continuing to represent (either by remaining outstanding
or by being converted into voting securities of the surviving entity or its parent) more than fifty percent (50%) of the total voting power represented
by the voting securities of the Company or such surviving entity or its parent outstanding immediately after such merger or consolidation; or
(iv) Individuals who are members of the Board (the “ Incumbent Board ”) cease for any reason to constitute at least a majority of the members of
the Board over a period of 12 months; provided, however, that if the appointment or election (or nomination for election) of any new Board
member was approved or recommended by a majority vote of the members of the Incumbent Board then still in office, such new member shall, for
purposes of this Plan, be considered as a member of the Incumbent Board.
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A transaction shall not constitute a Change in Control if its sole purpose is to change the state of the Company’s incorporation or to create a holding company that will be
owned in substantially the same proportions by the persons who held the Company’s securities immediately before such transaction.
Claims Administrator shall mean an individual or committee designated by the Plan Administrator.
COBRA Period shall mean the COBRA Period set forth in a Participant’s Participation Notice.
Code shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
Company shall mean Etsy, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and any successor thereto.
Company Property shall mean all material paper and electronic Company documents (and all copies, reproductions or summaries thereof) created and/or received by the
Participant during the Participant’s period of employment with the Company and other material Company materials and property (including Company laptop computers
and mobile devices), that the Participant has in the Participant’s possession or control, including materials of any kind that contain or embody any proprietary or
confidential information of the Company (and all copies, reproductions or summaries thereof, in whole or in part). For the avoidance of doubt, Company Property does
not include the Participant’s personal copies of documents evidencing the Participant’s hire, termination, compensation, benefits and stock options and any other
documentation received as a stockholder of the Company.
ERISA means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.
Monthly Base Salary shall mean the Participant’s monthly base salary at the rate in effect immediately before the date of the Participant’s Qualifying Termination;
provided that, in the case of a Qualifying CIC Termination occurring after a Change in Control, the rate of Monthly Base Salary shall be no less than the rate in effect
immediately before the Change in Control. For the avoidance of doubt, Monthly Base Salary does not include other elements of compensation, such as bonuses, overtime
compensation, incentive pay, sales commissions or expense allowances.
Plan Administrator shall mean the individual(s) appointed by the Board (or Committee) to administer the terms of the Plan as set forth herein. If no individual is
appointed to serve as the Plan Administrator, the Plan Administrator shall be the senior-most human resources employee of the Company. Notwithstanding the preceding
sentence, in the event the Plan Administrator is entitled to benefits under the Plan (or makes a claim for benefits under the Plan), the Board or its delegate shall act as the
Plan Administrator for purposes of administering the terms of the Plan with respect to the Plan Administrator. The Plan Administrator may delegate all or any portion of
its authority under the Plan to any other person(s).
Qualifying Termination shall mean:
(i)
or
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A Separation on account of involuntary dismissal or discharge initiated by the Company (or parent or subsidiary employing the Participant),

(ii)
For a Participant who is a Senior Vice President of the Company or above, the Participant’s voluntary resignation following: (a) a material
diminution in the Participant’s authority, duties or responsibilities, (b) a material reduction in the Participant’s base compensation (other than as
part of a broad-based company reduction program prior to a Change in Control), (c) a material change in the geographic location at which the
Participant must perform services for the Company or (d) any other action or inaction that constitutes a material breach by the Company (or parent
or subsidiary employing the Participant) of a material term of the employment agreement or offer letter under which the Participant provides
services (if any). For a Participant to receive the benefits under this Plan as a result of a voluntary resignation under this paragraph (ii), all of the
following requirements must be satisfied: (1) the Participant must provide notice to the Company of his or her intent to assert a Qualifying
Termination under this paragraph (ii) within 90 days of the initial existence of one or more of the conditions set forth in this paragraph (ii); (2) the
Company (or parent or subsidiary employing the Participant) will have 30 days from the date of such notice to remedy the condition and, if it does
so, the Participant may withdraw his or her resignation or may resign with no Plan benefits; and (3) any termination of employment under this
paragraph (ii) must occur within 125 days after the initial existence of one or more of the condition(s). Should the Company (or parent or subsidiary
employing the Participant) remedy the condition as set forth in this paragraph (ii) and then one or more of the conditions arises again, the
Participant may assert this paragraph (ii) again, subject to all of the conditions set forth herein.
For the avoidance of doubt, a Separation on account of death or disability shall not be treated as an involuntary dismissal or discharge. In addition, Separation on account
of a sale of assets, merger, liquidation, reorganization, transfer of business to a third party, disposition, or similar transaction will not be a Qualifying Termination,
provided that the Participant is offered continued employment with a successor employer under terms that are materially comparable in the aggregate to the terms in effect
immediately before such transaction.
Qualifying CIC Termination shall mean a Qualifying Termination within three months before and 12 months after a Change in Control.
Separation shall mean a “separation from service” as defined in the regulations under Section 409A of the Code.
Severance Period shall mean the severance period set forth in a Participant’s Participation Notice.
2.

Rules of Construction
A.
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The use of the masculine gender shall also include within its meaning the feminine and vice versa.

B.

The use of the singular shall also include within its meaning the plural and vice versa.

C.

The word “include” shall mean to include, but not to be limited to.

D.
Any reference to a stature or section of a statute shall further be a reference to any successor or amended statute or section, and any regulations or other
guidance of general applicability issued thereunder.
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ETSY, INC.
EXECUTIVE SEVERANCE PLAN
PARTICIPATION NOTICE
To: _______________________
Date: _____________________
You have been designated as eligible to participate in the Etsy, Inc. Executive Severance Plan (the “ Plan ”). A copy of the Plan document is attached to this
Participation Notice. The terms and conditions of your participation in the Plan are as set forth in the Plan document and this Participation Notice.
Severance Period: _____ months if not a Qualifying CIC Termination
_____ months for Qualifying CIC Termination
COBRA Period:

_____ months

Acceleration Factor:

_____%

Please return to the Company a copy of this Participation Notice signed by you and retain a copy of this Participation Notice, along with the Plan document and
related materials, for your records.
I acknowledge and agree that the Severance Plan and benefits provided thereunder pursuant to this Participation Notice supersede any and all prior separation,
severance and salary continuation arrangements, programs and plans that were previously offered to me by the Company, either orally or in writing.

_______________________________

_______________________________

Signature

Date

_______________________________
Print Name

Exhibit 10.19.3

Etsy, Inc.
Amended and Restated Compensation Program for Non-Employee Directors
Effective as of January 1, 2018
This program has been established in order to attract and retain non-employee directors who have the knowledge, skills and experience to serve as a member of the Board
of Directors of Etsy, Inc.
All equity awards granted under this program shall be granted under the Company’s then-current equity incentive plan (or director equity incentive plan, if any).
Capitalized terms used but not defined will have the meaning set forth in the applicable equity incentive plan or equity award agreement.
A. Annual Retainers
Each non-employee director who will continue serving on the Board after the Company’s regular annual meeting of stockholders will receive the Annual Board
Retainer and any applicable Additional Retainers, as described below.
Annual Board Retainers
The Annual Board Retainer will be paid annually in the form of Options and/or Restricted Stock Units in the discretion of the Compensation Committee (in each
case, “ Equity ”) with a fair value equal to the Annual Board Retainer.
Each Annual Board Retainer Equity award will be granted on the date of the Company’s annual meeting of stockholders and will vest in full on the date of the
next annual meeting of stockholders, provided that the director has served continuously as a member of the Board during the vesting period. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, an Annual Board Retainer Equity award will vest in full in the event that the Company is subject to a Change in Control or in the event of the director’s
death.
Additional Retainers
Additional Retainer fees shall be paid in full in cash within 30 days of the Company’s annual meeting of stockholders, unless otherwise determined by the Board
or Compensation Committee.

___________________
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“Fair value” of all equity awards described in this Compensation Program will be calculated in accordance with the Company’s Equity Grant Policy.

In the event that a director’s committee service or role on a committee changes, he or she will be entitled to a pro-rated Additional Retainer, as applicable, in cash,
which shall be determined based on the number of whole months of service before the next annual meeting of stockholders.

B.

New Directors
Each new, non-employee director who joins the Board on or after the date of the Company’s initial public offering will be granted Equity with a fair value equal to
the New Director Fee on the first business day of the month following the month in which the his or her appointment to the Board became effective (or, if such
day is not a trading day, on the following trading day). Equity awards for new directors will vest in equal annual installments on the first three anniversaries of the
grant date, provided that the director has served continuously as a member of the Board through the applicable vesting date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Equity
awards for new directors will vest in full in the event that the Company is subject to a Change in Control or in the event of the director’s death.
A director who receives a New Director Fee will not receive an Annual Board Retainer in the same calendar year.
In addition, each new non-employee director shall be entitled to a pro-rated Additional Retainer, as applicable, in cash, which shall be determined based on the
number of whole months that the new director serves on the Board before the next annual meeting of stockholders.

C.

Schedule of Fees
1.

Annual Board Retainer : Equity with a total fair value of $185,000

2.

New Director Fee : Equity with fair value on the grant date equal to $262,500

3.

Board Chair Fee : Equity with fair value on the grant date equal to $100,000

4.

Additional Retainers : Cash equal to:

Chairman of the Audit Committee
Member of the Audit Committee
Chairman of the Compensation Committee
Member of the Compensation Committee
Chairman of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee
Member of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee
Member of any other Committee constituted by the Board from time to time

D.

$18,000
$9,000
$10,000
$5,000
$6,000
$3,000
$40,000 (unless otherwise determined by the
Board or Compensation Committee)

Expenses
The reasonable expenses incurred by non-employee directors in connection with attendance at Board or committee meetings or other Company-related activities
will be reimbursed upon submission of appropriate documentation.

E.

Administration
This Program shall be administered by the Compensation Committee, which shall have the power to interpret these provisions and approve changes from time to
time as it deems appropriate.

EXHIBIT 21.1
List of Significant Subsidiaries of Etsy, Inc.*
Name of Subsidiary

Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization

Etsy Ireland UC

Ireland

Etsy France SAS

France

* Pursuant to Item 601(b)(21)(ii) of Regulation S-K, the names of other subsidiaries of Etsy, Inc. are omitted because, considered in the aggregate, they would not constitute a significant subsidiary as of the end
of the year covered by this report.

EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (No. 333-203438, No. 333-209851 and No. 333-216371) of Etsy, Inc. of our report dated February 28, 2018
relating to the consolidated financial statements and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, which appears in this Form 10‑K.
/s/PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
New York, New York
February 28, 2018

EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, Josh Silverman, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Etsy, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures,
as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability
to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
/s/ Josh Silverman____________
Josh Silverman
President, Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
Date: February 28, 2018

EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION
I, Rachel Glaser, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Etsy, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures,
as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability
to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
/s/ Rachel Glaser________
Rachel Glaser
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
Date: February 28, 2018

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Josh Silverman, certify that the Annual Report of Etsy, Inc. on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2017 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 and that information contained in such Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Etsy, Inc.
/s/ Josh Silverman
Josh Silverman
President, Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
Date: February 28, 2018

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Rachel Glaser, certify that the Annual Report of Etsy, Inc. on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2017 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 and that information contained in such Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Etsy, Inc.
/s/ Rachel Glaser
Rachel Glaser
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
Date: February 28, 2018

